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CHAPTER I

15th February to 3rd April 1942

The silence was intense, almost frightening, The first official
timing for the surrender was 1830 hours, but this was subseguently put back
to 2030 hours, There had, however, been no actian after 1830, and now at
2031 hours, the silence was complets. No longer did the Zeros zoom over
A.I.F. Headquarters at Tanglin Barracks, machine-gunning and dropping their
Tire-Crackers; the Mitsuibishis with their bomb loads had gone from the
skies, and the enemy artillery was silent, So too, were the guns of the
Australian battery astrids the Tanglin Poad, Even the normally chattering
morse keys in the Signal office were guiet, the weary duty operators resting
their tired heads on stilled hands., Those not on duty were fast asleep,
exhausted after zeven days of ceaseless activity,

From the time the Japanese landed on Singapore Island at 2000
hours on Sunday night, 8th February, I'd not even had the opportunity to
change my socks, Wnen the Japs. landed, Divisional Headguarters (and
its Signals office) was established on the Jurong Road, near Bukit Timah,
Less than 24 hours later, at 1900 hours on Sth February, we retired to a
new Headguarters on Hellend Rosd and a new Signals office was established,
It didn't take the Nip bombers long to locate us there, and next morning
they dropped a packet on us while General Wavell was at our Headgquarters
conferring with General Percival and General Bennett, You had to hand it
to the Jap's fifth colum — it was really good. I wouldn't be surprised
if they knew Fred Stahl was the Sigmaster there! The aim of the Jap
borbers was very good but they were a bit unlucky, because one of their
500 pound bombs landed outside the room in which the Generals were con-
ferring, curved under the room, but obligingly didn't go off, I say
cbligingly because I was in the next room, and in the pressure of the
times I'd neglected to order either & halo or an ashestos suit, It was
from this maeting with the Force Commanders that General Wavell issued
his famous message that there must be no thought of surrender and that
officers must fight with and die with their men. Hawving issued this
inspiring messsge he then flew away. We were not impressed!

The bombing continued through the day and the enemy artillery
also lent & hand and tried to pick us off, During the night the Nip
infantry got clese enough to lob some mertar bombs on us, and at 0630
haurs on 11th February we tock off again — this time to Tanglin Barracks,
Here we set up our last Signals office, for we had finally run gut of land,
From here we just had nowhers to go.

Uespite General Wavell's mention of surrender no-one had really
given the possibility a thought and the first intimation, early in the



afternoon of 15th February, came literally like s bolt from the blue,

Initial disbelief was followed by slow acceptance as confirming messages

came in, It was incredible, but true, The British Force had surrendered
to the Imperial Japanese Army, The bastion had been breached and Singapore

was literally in ruins, Our cup of bitterness was complete - or so we
thought,

And now the silence, The all-pervading, engulfing silence,
As the day died, and Singapore died, it seemed that we too, were sinking
into everlasting oblivian,

However that didn't prove to be the case, although we did go
into the limbo for the next 3% years. In the story that follows I'11
try to set out the happenings of those 3% years as they affected me
Peraonally ,isiesisnins

Early next morning, after the first real sleep in over a week,
I received orders to close the Signel office and rejoin the main body of
the Unit in the Botanical Gardens, I was glad to see my friends Zen
Barnett and Jimmie Hardacre safe and sound, They had an interesting
story to tell, For the previous five days the major portion of the
Unit had been organised into a fighting battalicn - 'The Snake Gully Aifles!?,
the C.0, called them - and they had conducted themselves with considerable
credit on patrol end defensive work, There had been & good desl of sniper
fire in the Gardens - the thickly foliaged trees offered excellent cover -
and Ben and Jim were highly critical of the behaviowr of some of ficers,
including one quite senior, who took off their badges of rank because of
the propensity of the snipers for picking—off officers, The rank and
File of the Unit hadn't missed this either, and some pretty hard words
were spoken, I was interested to nete later on that, in the main, the
officers who had removed their rank badges gave a poor performance as
Prisoners—of-War also, As I shall explein later, the reverse wasn't
always the case,: Some offilcers who had been fearless in battle, and
who showed outstanding leadership at the time, were hopeless in dealing
with the Nips as P,D,W.

Shortly after returning to the Bardens I was talking to Reg
Bridgland, our much respected 2 i/c, when the sound of rifle shots came
from over a slight rise a hundred yards or so away. - Reg took off at a
gallop, and I trailed along beside him, As we breasted the rise we saw
not what I think we both feared - some of our boys in strife with the Japs -
but & small ammunition dump which had been set on Fire, There were boxeas

of small arms ammunition and also hand grenades, What we had taken for
shote were the sounds of ,303 rifle ammunition explaoding. FReg.and I set
r A




to work to drag the boxes away from the fire and had moved guite a few when
8 hand grenade went up. "Take cover™ shouted Reg, but he need not have

bothered, for I was way ahead of him, I hit the bottom of a nearby slit

trench at least half a secand before he did,

I mention this particular happening because it brought home to me -
not for the first time and certainly not for the last - how some journalists
exaggerate, I remember when an ammunition factory had caught fire in
Melbourne not long before the war, an over-zealous reporter hed described
how "bullets were whizzing up the street, endangering onlookers hundreds of
yards away", Our experience was that the cartridge of the heated ,303 bullets
burst and threw the bullet only a yard or so. Reg and I suffered many tiny
nicks on legs and arms, but we were never in risk of serious injury until the
hand grenades exploded, Even then the power of the explosion was slight
compared with the normal burst of a grenade.

Wnile we were sheltering in the slit-trench Reg.said, "I'd give
anything for this not to have happened" fearing, of course, that the sounds
of the explosions would bring the Japs. Had they turned up we would have
been in real strife, for they hed already made it clear that destruction of
weapons or ammunition would be summarily dealt with, (It went sgainst the
grain to hand my weapons over, but I was lucky, I discovered quite a deep
well in the Gardens and down it I dropped my service revolver, an automatic
I'd teken from Australia, end a beautiful “peep-sight®™ rifle I'd picked up
in Jaohore on the run down the mainland. Wy consclence was clear — I hadn't
"destroyed" them, )

We waited in the slit-trench until the explosions of the grenades
stopped, then scrambled out and maneged to put out the fire without having
any unwelcome visitors. I was gmazed at the absence of Japanese soldiers,
Later that day an officer, resplendant in a clean white open-necked shirt
and trailing his sword, strolled throuch our lines but he was interested
only in taking photos.

When Reg.-and I returned to owr Unit H.Q., we found thet orders
had been issued for the concemtratien ef all British and Australiesn P,O,W.s
at Changi, at the eastern end of Singapore Island. Method of movement
was by Shanks' pony, the only vehicles gllowed being one water-cart per
Lind % We could teke with us only what we could carry, and what food we
could load on the water-cart,

There was plenty of tinned food in our Unit supplies, but as we
could take the barest minimum with us Jimmie Jacobs, Jim Hardacre, Ben Barnett
énd I decided we would have a really good, slap-up, many course meal that day.
Jim Jacobs had a magnificent dinner set he had purloined from a deserted home
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on the run down the mainland and he made this available for our feast. Jim's
effort in appropriating the dinner set was nothing compared with the exploit

of an English half-Colonel commanding the Indian light Ack Ack battery operating
at Labis, which was the furthest north the A,I.F, Oiv, H,Q, had gone, I was
0.C, the Div, Sig. office at Labis, and with two other Aussie officers I shared
a house with the English officers from the Ack Ack regiment, The owners had
long since fled the house, but had left behind a magnificent grand piano,

The English 0,C, coveted this beautiful instrument, but faced a problem, The
piano had obviously been assembled inside the house and could not be taken out,
either by door or window, He appealed to me for help, but I was even less

of & piano mechanic than he, and that wasn't saying much. I went on duty
early on the morning of Tuesday, 13th January, leaving him still wrestling

with his problem,

About midday the air-raid alarm sounded, and almost immediately the
sound of aircraft was heard, I had sited our Sig. office in a garage asttached
to the house in which our Div, H.H8. was located, There was an inspection pit
in the garage and I had used this to protect our switchboard, Wnen the alarm
sounded I tumbled the morse operators in the pit, around and on top of the
switchboard operator, I had hoped to get in myself, but already legs and arms
weare over-flowlng, The best cover I could find was at the base of a nearby
big tree, and there it was that I experienced my first air-raid. I was scared
stiff, Ten bombs were dropped, in two sticks of five, and each one of the
ten seemed to be coming closer to me, The Jap planes flew directly cverheead,
8But there were only two of them and they had bombed the Ack Ack battery protecting
the road bridge over the.railway sbout a querter of a mile away, They scored
direct hits on the guns too, It is probable that none of the bombs landed
closer to me than 400 yards, but I was more scared by that two plane raid thgﬂ
I ever was by the 27 plene pattern-bombing which became part of the way of life
in later days,

I waes relieved at four in the afterncon and returned to the cottage
we shared with the English officers. Wnen I reached it I was aghast,
Although I had heard no bomb-bursts in that direction the whole of the front
of the house had been demolishked, - I should have worried) Following the _
demage to their guns the Ack Ack battery had been ordered back, and the English
half—Colonel had solved the problem of his grand piano by hooking & 3-ton truck
to the wooden front of the-house and simply tearing it off, prrﬂpri?tinn
of the piano had then been easy, - I often wondered where that piano finally

rested,

In comparison with this episode Jim Jacob's filching of the dinmner
set was & mere trifle and we were determined to enjoy what might be our last
really good meal for some time, I can't remember of what the various courses
consisted, but I do know that there were sevem of them, and at the end of each



course we nonchalently threw the crockery we had used straight over our

shoulder into a nearby slit—trench, I still remember that meal with
great pleasure,

Next morning I packed my haversack with as much in the way of
tinned food that I felt I could carry over the 17 mile march to Changi,
In my blanket roll I carried a spare pair of boots, two shirts, two shorts
and some socks and handkerchiefs, I still had with me my down sleeping
beg which I had carefully nursed from the days at Liverpool camp in N,5.W.
It seemed unlikely that I would need it in that steamy tropical climate,
but I decided against discarding it, and was often grateful for its warmth
in later times,

After waiting arcund in the Gardens until about midday we finally
received the erder to march and set off on our way to Changi. We were all
pretty fit, and with two good sleeps since the end of hostilities the
distence didn't present much of & problem, Once esgain I was emazed at
the absence of Japanese scldiers, With the exception of & solitary sentry
at each road junction there were none +o be seen, The Japs were supremely
confident that we wouldn't go eway, and how right they were, Where enuld
we go?

I've said the distance was no real problem, but the length of the
marching column was. From the air it must have looked like a great
caterpillar as the varicus marching parties marched, stopped, started again
and then repeated the process over end over again, I don't know how meny
tens of thousands of marchers there were in the column, but I do know we
didn't reach Selarang barracks, near Changi village until akout 5,20 p.m,
that night,

Gocd cld Jim Herdacre, who had preceded us with the water cart,
had hot tea waiting for us, and following this we just lay on the ground
right where we had stopped, and went to sleep.

We were awekened by the sun niext morning and all were interested
in taking stock of the situation in which we found ourselves, Signals
nad been allotted a block of two-storeyed houses in the married quarters
aree of Selarang Barracks, which wes at the western end of the Changi
military compound, The ares nad been the scene of heawy fighting and

none of the houses was intact, Some had keen completely destroyed by
Eemb or shell hits, others had been partielly demolished, and the remaindar
were all damaged to a lesser degree;- A typlcal merried quarters consisted

of a two-storeyed semi-detached house or flat with living raom, dining room,
and xitchen on the ground floor, and three bedrooms with & bathroom upstairs.
The laundry was detached at the rear, The total usable area available

n



allowed an allocation of about two 8q. yards of floor space per man, I was
fortunate in that Bem Barnett and Jim Hardacre were included among the five
other officers who shared the room to which I was allocated,

There were many urgent tasks to be done to make the area habitable,
and the C.0, directed me to assist the Adjutant (my friend, Ben) in adminis-
trative work., There was no water service, many pipes having been broken by
bombing or shelling, For the same reason the sewsge system was inoperative,
There was no electricity for lighting or cooking and no firewood either,

The most urgent tesk was the provision of latrines, for the medical officers
were insistent that if an efficient system was not provided quickly an
outbreak of dysentry in the near future was inevitable, Aeg Bridgland
located suitable areas end the whale Unit, with the exception of cooks and a
few administrative personnel, went to work digging latrines to a depth of

12 feet and more in that hard Changi snil. Later Reg ecquired from God
only knows where several 18 inch earth gugurs and these enabled us to go

to much greater depths more quickly and much more easily even though +he
motive power was still the muscles of our Sigs, boys, These "borenoles"

as they became known, were also much more easily sealed against flies,

They alsoc became famous as the centres where rumours either began or were
peassed on, I started a "RAumour Diary", The first entry, on Tuesday,
24th February 1542 read, "Russians fighting on German soil. Big Jap-Yenk
naval battle,®

Our cnly source of water in those early days at Selarang was
Jim Hardacre's water cart, The Nips allowed it to be filled once per
day at the watering point in' Changi village, After satisfying cooking
needs thls permitted an issue-of ene pint per man per day for sll purpases,
Storage of this issue was a problem but I was fortunate enough tc find a
chamberpot in one of the bombed houses and this served Ben, Jimmy and me
for several months,

Jim Hardeacre solved the.firewcod problem by eopprapriating wood
from the bomb-damaged buildings and so saw the Uait through until the
Japanese made firewood available by having us cut down rubber trees from
the plantation running from opposite the cams to the Changi beach, The
ration allowed was 1% lbs, per man per day,

Two important directives came through from the Japanese on our
first day &t Selarang, The first was that "Nippon Time"™ would forthwith
be adopted for all purposes, As Japenese time was one and a half hours
éhead of local Malayan time this meant, in effect, ninety minutes of
daylight-saving, This was no grest hardship, and in fact in those early
days was something of an advantage, for with no lighting provided by the
Japs we were relying en home-made oil lamps for light after dark, 0il



was not easy to come by, so the additional hour and & half of daylight at the
end of the day was gquite useful,

The second directive gave us no cause for rejoicing, The Nips
informed us that we would receive noe food issues before 26th February and in
the meantime must rely for rations on supplies carried into camp an 17th
February, As & result we had to live on half rations for those nine days.
The Japanese advised also that the daily ration per man per day from 26th
February would he:

Rice 17.8 ozs, Veges, 3.52 oza,

Meat 1.76 ozs, Milk .528 ozs,

Sugar . 704 ozs, Frying 04il + 176 ozs.,

?:it ':32 E;z' Cigarettes, 40 per month
BYeii 10— Toilet paper, 3 sheets per day

Seventeen ozs. of dry rice is quite & goodly amount and it was decided to
withhold a few ounces each day of each man's rations, and so build up a
reserve egainst possible contingencies, How wise this decision was was
demanstrated before many months passed,

In those early days we saw, with the exception of what we came to
call "Gloat Parades", very little of the Japanese, and only H.GQ. Staff nad
much in the way of actual contact with them, Scme of the A,I.F. were
enceged in ringing the compound with barbed wire, and there was a Nip guerd-
house at the entrence to the Selarang section, but apart from the Japanese
manning this post we saw little of our captors. The first of the "Gloat
Parades" was on Wednesday, 25th February 1942 when General Yamashite,
Commander in Chief of the Japanese land forces in the area, inspected his
captives, e were-all lined up along the main Changi Road with Jap
soldiers, with bayonets fixed, facing us at intervals of about 3 paces,

From the mament of our capture we had been required to salute all Japanese,
Bven the laowliest private soldier. This irked me considerably at the time
and although as the months and years passed I became resigned to it, I never
ceased to resent it, I obtained ultimate satisfaction in a way that I shall
mention later, but in the meantime there were accasions when I managed to
derive some pleasure from the act, One of these was when General Yamashita's
car moved slowly by, the great man eyeing us with satisfaction as he passed,
At this maoment we were each reguired to give him a "smart salute", I brought
my arm up smartly, touched the brim of my hat with my forefinger, but at the
same time managed to rest- the tip of my thumb on the end of my nose. Instead
of resting my second, third and fourth fingers together with my index finger

I had them all outstretched, The result was a very rude, but to me very
pleasing, gesture which in my school days had caused me many a blaody nose




wnen directed tc some better fighter thean I. A childish reaction, you may
say, but I sssure you it gave me comsiderable satisfaction, Fortunately, too,
the Japanese soldier facing me was unaware of its significance or I would have
been eon the receiving end of a rifle butt garlier than ultimately proved to he
the case, In the next few weeks we wers alsg inspected oy the Jaspanese
Naval Commander-in-Chief, and by arother high-ranking General, end or Loth
these occasions I chtained the same sort of satisfaction, I rather Tancy,
though, that Beneral Yamashits had the last laugh, even though unwittingly,

On £t5 March 1942 he issued an order that all P.0.W, afficers were to remove
tre basdges of rank from their shoulders, Henceforth all officers would be
distinguished by a single star worn on the left breast, Reaction among the
Aussie officers varied from outraged dignity to quiet amusement. One rather
pompouds Major said, "It makes me feel like a second Lieutenant™, to which
Jimmy Thyer, a full blooded Colonel, replied "It makes me feel Tfue been given
the order of a second left teat",

Jim Thyer, our first C,0., but since July 1941 General Staff Officer
I to General Gordon Bennett, was & good scldier, and he had his feet on the
ground, e officers in Signals had been discussing the probable length cof
the war and decided to run a lottery on the date of our releass, The
Earliest date nominated was 31 March 1942, sbout 4 weeks away, and the latest
20 April 1943, A day or so later Berm and I were discussing this with Jim
Thyer. His comment was "Meke no misteke about it boys, We are in for a
leng and difficult peried of hardship, Orly the fit will survive™, Jim
may not remember saying this, but he did, and haw right he proved ta be,

It was from Jim Thyer that I learned the story of the "Changi
Tree",. -About & mile-er so ta the east ef our area — on the way to Robarts
Barrecks at the point of the Island - we could see the remains of what must
nave EEEn & great tree, There still stood at least fifty feet of the trurk
of tne tree, but with not a bough to be seen, An artillery shell hked
registered a direet hit and cleanly taken off the top of the tree which must
have pesn over. a hundred feet high, Colonel Thyer told us how, for well
cver a-century, the "Changl Tree" had dominated the landscaps. It was
revered by the natives who had a legend which said that "Wnen the Changl tree
falls, Singapore will fall foo".

Tnere was & great deal of discussion in those days as to the merit
or otnerwise of Beneral BGordon Bennett's escape from captivity, I felt
then, and still do, that he'did the right thing, He had every right to
believe that, on surrender, officers would be seperated from their men,
Hitherto, this had always been ths case, That the Japarese did not
immediately do so was only one of the many unusual and unorthedox moves thay
made, "Ginger™ Bennett was entitled to believe toe, as he did, that he had
information sbout the Japanese Army and its methods which was vital to tre
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szfety and sscurity of Australis, I was supported in my opinion by the
majority of the members of the Eighth Divisicn, as was apparent from the
rousing reception the survivors gave to General Bearett in later days, but
Jim -Thyer did not agres, It was one of the saddest facts of the Malayan
campaign to me, their Divisional Sigmaster for the whole of the actian,
that thess two fine soldiers were =o basically opposed, Eoth brave men,
both determined men, both autspoken mer, both loyal men, but with diametri-
cally opposed backgrounds, Bennett, the brillient civilian soldier, with
an outstanding record in Werid War I, In civil life an Accountant he had
&n ordered mind end & capacity for snalyticel probing, Red-headed, and
with plerty of the fire usually sssociated with this, he saw his solutions
<o the problems facing him as the right solutions and it is not surprising’
that his sclutions were not elways scospted without ergument by Jim Thyer,
For Thyer was Duntroon trained and en ingraeined professional soldier.

He had trained hard and well in the pericd betwesn the wars, had studied,
among many other problems, the tectics to be adopted im the event of an
enemy thrust at Singapore via Malays, A tough disciplinarian, he had his
effigy burned by some members of the tnit who considered him too hard &
taskmaster when he was-£,0, Sigs, and on arother occasion ke had formally
reported to the Divisional Cammander (rene other than Ginger Bennett) that
he had & mutiny on his hands when some membere of the Unit refused duty on
the grounds that Signals were getting less-lesve *han other Lnits in camp
at Bathurst at the same time, "A prophet is not wilthout honowur save in
his own country®, Sc it wes-with dim Thyer, It was not until he left
the Unit, and experience in actusl combat proved the value of his garly
training that the boys in Sigs, recognised his trus worth, He then

became affecticnately known as “Sig—TocH, (In those days 'T! in the
communications elphabet was TOC),

On Thursday, 26th February 1542, the officisl Japanese rice-
based diet commenced, end well I remember my first rice meal, As a
raughty young boy I-had decided, without even sampling it, thet I did not
like rice, On one occasion my Mother, having made & rice custard,
decided I would eat some - or else! It turned out to be “or else“,
My poor Mother, having forced a spoonful of the custard down my unwilling
throat was, within a fraction of a second, the recipient of that same mouthful,
returned with unerring accuracy before it could even reach my stomach,
Unfortunately this episode was accepted as definite prcof that I didn't like
rice, and from that day in 1915 until 26th February 1942 not one grain of
rice passed my lips. (As by then I was 32 years ald it will be evident
that I had convinced myself that I didn't like rice). Our first meal of the
new ration issue consisted of helf e dixie of boiled rice and one half of a
tinned herring, I mangeuvred a tiny piece of herring on to a spognful of
rice, With some trepidaticn, and after warning Ben Barnett to stand cleer,
I gingerly swallowed the spoonful, To my surprise, nothing untoward happened,




The rice bit my tum which, apparently eccepting the offering without demur,
immediately and conscientiously started on the job of digestion, Wren the
rest of the dish had followed without difficulty I came to the conclusion
thst I could eat rice after all, This was Jjust as well, because over the
next 3% years, had I but known it, I was to eat well over a guarter of a ton
cf that basic food, My weight at this time was 9 st. 10 1bs,

Within the camp eres the Japenese provided us with absolutely no
form of “ransport, Everything that had to be moved had +o be dore by man-
powar, and tnis led to the Famogus “traller-parties”, Scattered round the
ares wers the battered remaineg of many vehicles, demaged end made useless
durirg the fighting, From these remains were built meny contraptions which
were euphemistlically called trailers, Bagically they consisted of 4 whesls -
tao front and two rear with an axle between each set, On this was built a
tray rrom whatever materisl could Se scrounged ard the vehicle was complets,
Motive power came from the muscles of the P.O.W., who pulled and pushed these
urlovely but most useful vehicles which carrieg stores and focod within the
camp beundary, firewood from the rubber plantation and sea-water, in which
the rice was cocked, from the beach to camp. They were, in fact, our
lifeline,

Apart from the “Gloat Parades™ life irn those Early weeks was much
tne sazme from day to day, Digging latrines, clearing up the camp area, and

trailer perties were, in the main, the lot of the men, The Japerese had
made nc move to separate the officers from the men and so our organisetion
was still thet of Unit Headquarters and four companies, The Company officers

carried out administration in their own areas and at Unit H.Q. we were kept
busy compiling information required by the Japanese, completing our War Diary
snd on Unit administration generally, Thus 1life went an in 8 generally
routine way, but two incidents remsin clear in my mind,

Tne C,0, had organised & Benior DFFficerz® Mess in the small
ground=floor room cof the building in which I was quartered. There werse
accut ten of us included, A rough table had been constructed and a form
either =zide provided the seating. Cogking was dene in what had been the
laundry at tme back of our houss, When "Cockhouse™ wes sounded the of Plcers
wouwld file aleng eacn side of the table, standing urntil the C.D, sat. A
refarence to kne ration seale mertiored esrlier will show that the salt issue
was rather minute, and totalled a little over 1% ozs, per day for 10 officers,
dna thie amall amount was placed in the middle of the table for cur avening
meal, It soon beceme evident that a certain officer — I'1l call him MBarnacle
Bill" - always headed the line of officers and as he passed up the tehlie he
gracbea the salt and helped himself to it in liberal manner, leaving very
little for the gtner nine, 0One evening, after going through his usual perfor-
mance, Barnmacle Bill wes seen to take cne or twe mouthfuls of food and then




push his plate away, In answer to a query from the C,0, he said he wasn!'t
hungry, but it wasn't long afterwards that we learned that Fred Cann, our
cook, had noticed Barnacle Bill's predilécticn for helping himself ta the
salt at the expense of the remaining officers, and had determined to do
something about it, On the night in question he had aelready over-salted
Barnacle Bill's ration so that, after B.,B, further liberally sprinkled it,
it was guite unestable, The lesson was not lost on B.B, and thenceforth
the salt ration was shared eguitably,

The other incident concerned Signalman Harold Moverley, Our C.0,
hed decided that ane of the methods to be adopted to maintain the morale
of the men was to continue treining, as well as we could in the clrcumstances,
20 that we would be as Fit as possible to teke up the fight agaln when we
were released, I was explaining the C,0.'s instruction to & group which
included Hal, Mgverley, "The C.0." I said, "wants us to be completely fit,
and ready to fight the Nips again at any time." Quick as a flash Moverley
said, "Sir, I haope that my next fight is with the Missus,"!

Cptimism about an early relesse was fairly general and it's
worthwhile recording my "Rumour Diary" for March.

Friday, 5th March 1942: "Wyndham and Brooms bombed, English
paratrcops in France."

Saturday, 7th March: "Italy surrenders — world wide pesce talks,"

Sunday, 8th March: "Germany surrendered, Japan fighting on.

Chinese pushing into Thailend. Turkey in
wer against the Axis, Naval Battle Java."

Tugsday, 10th March: "Germans Tighting desperately, but have not
surrendered, Turkey not in war, Oarwin,
Wyndham, Brocme, bombed.™

Wednesday, 11th March: "Java taken by Japanese, Australia urged to

accapt Japanese terms, "

Thursdey, 12th March: "Crhinese advancing from northern Thailend —
Amaricans from Rangoon,"

Monday, 16th March: "Ausesians pushing on to Berlin, Jeapanese
have rnot taken Java, Americans, Chinese and
British advancing down Malaya,"

Tuesday, 17th March: "Germany capitulates,"
Eriday, 20th March: "Many Americen soldiers in Australia.”
Monday, 23rd March: "1,000,000 Chinese advancing across Burma and

Indo China,"



Tuesday, 24th March: "Wavell commands troops in Northern Malays.
Java still holding but only just, Phillipines
well held by Yanks, Russians doing well,"

Thursday, 26th March: "Wany Japanese wounded reaching Singapore from
the North,"

Friday, 27th March: "Chinese troops in Kelantan. kuala Lumpur
bombed, Unrest in Germany, Casey in British
War Cabinet."

Saturday, 28th March: "Wanks and Aussies land in Java and Sumatra.™

Sunday, 29th March: "Further landings Java and Sumatra, Allias

attacking from north in 4—prong move,“

Manday, 20th March: "Germany capitulates, also Thalland,"

Wild as they were in the main, these were the types of rumours
which swept through the Camp and engendered such false optimism in those
Early days, Wost of them turned out to be true, but not until 3 years
and more had elapsed, and by that time large numbers of those who had passed
on the rumours had themselves passed on,

CHAPTER II

POAM PARK

Ath April 1942 to 10th June 1542

I have said previously that in those early weeks at Selarang I hed
very little contact with the Japanese, but that was to change gquickly and
with 8 vengeance,

On 1st April (a good day!) the C.0. told me a working party of
P,0,W, was required by the Japanese for work in Singapore, and he had decided
to place me in charge of the Signals component of this warkforce,




The party initially comprised 3,000 Australians, and early con the
morning of 4th April we lined up on the Barrack Sguare at Selarang, each man
complete with one day's ration. Itve menticned before that the Japanese
provided no trensport within the Camp, and we soon found out that they had
ro intention of providing it to get us into Singapore. It was to be Shanks®
pony for us, and the only consolaticn we had waes that the Jap guards had to
walk also and they had to carry their rifles as well, Early in the march
we passed the Chargi Gaol, and there we had our first glimpse of civilian
internees, From every barred window women and men waved and shouted to us
and gave the "thumbs—up" sign, and we replied in like fashion, with the added
accompaniment of many wolf whistles, The Nip guards didn't seem ta like
this and went to work with thelr rifle butis, There were, however, compara-
tively few guards, (where could we go if we did try to escape into & popula-
tion in which a white man stood out like the proverbial country 105?] and
those of the P,O,W, whno had to nurse a few Drulses reckoned they had been
garned in & geood cause,

About two miles past the Gasl a Nip truck roared up to the head
of our column and a Jap officer told our temporary C,0,, Major Jack Farry,
tg halt the msrch and assemble all officers at the head of the marching men,
This done, Najor Parry was told to place the senior Warrant Officer in charge
of the march, asnd all officers were to board the truck, This was the first
experience we had of how the Japs used thelr transport. There were at least
sixty officers and we were &ll crammed abcard a 30-cwt, truck, How we did
it T still den't know,

The truck turned and laboured slowly beck to the Gaol, Immediately
some of the more imaginative emong us decided we were being taken back to be
punished for sllawing our troops to greet the civilians 1n the way they had,

I pondered this possibility but decided that if that was the object we would
rot have bsen provided with transpert, Arriving at the Gaol we were assembled
in @& room in a building outside the walls — a room npt much bigger than the
trick — and were +hen addressed by 2 Jep Lieut, Colonel, He spoke good
faglish and told us we were going to Adem Park, an area asbout 5-6 miles north
of Singapore, whers our trooos would be guartered in houses which were previously
the homes of some of the elite of Singapore's prewsr European population,
Initially the area would not bte wired end we officers would be held perscnally
responsible if any troops were found outside the camp boundaries other than on
work for the Imperial Japanese- Army, The work on which our men would be
engeged would be building a road across the Galf Links, Jepanese enginesrs
would direct the work but our officers were expected to see that 1t was proper-
ly carried out, We were then packed into the truck agsin end driven to

fAdem Park so that allocation of houses could be made to the wvarious working
companies prior to arrival of the men that night,




Msjor Parry decided te meke me Camp Adjutant, and so started my
active contact with the Japanese - a contact which continued, though in
varying degrees, until the end of my P.O,W, days,

Adam Park camp was under the command of Lieutenant Seito, but he
was responsible for several other camps also, and we saw little of him,
The active comrend of the camp devolved on 5jt. Sano, who was sbout 5'27
hich and carried a Bamurei sword neerly as big as himself. In the next
twc weeks I was to get to krow Sano vary well, His 2 ifc was Cpl, Shiosaki,
of whem more anon,

Az Adjutant I became the contact man between our own C.0, and
5jt. Bang, For the first six days we had no interpreter and my early
conversations with Sano must heve been as good as a pantomime to an on-
lcoker, Sanc's krowledge of English was the same as mine was of Japanese -
nil, At first our only means of communization wes a common scanty
kacwledge of Melay, which was supplemented by gestures, a liberal supply
o” which were sprirkled through all ou¥ talks, To say that communication
#3s difficult 1n those early days was putting it mildly and it says guite
e bit for Sano's forbearance that I came through them urscathed.
Nevertheless each conversation tock & long time before we finally got our
messsges across, The situation eased as I guite quickly picked up =oms
Japarese words and phrases, and Sano egqually quickly, scquired some English.
I remember distinctly that his most used expression was "Ne bleoody good™.

€~ 10th April there arrived in Carp a British Corpeoral officiglly
described as arn Interpreter. His knowledge of Japenese was & grest deal
oetter than the small amount I had by then acquired, but Sano spoke far tco
fast for him end his asssistance was minimal, It the main I continued
bi-lateral conversations with Seno until 1st May, when Padre Andrews, who
hed lived meny years in Japan and was & fluent spesker of Japanese, arrived
to replace the British Corporal who returned to Changi, Frem then on my
corverseticns with Gano were easy, but not nearly soc exciting,

My first instruction from Sanc was that tie C.0., Adjutant,
Quarter—Master, and all Company Commenders, were toc live in one house, for
ease of contact, and that this was to be krown as "Ceptains! House", Our
accormodatlion et Adam Park wes muchk superior toc that at Selarang. Tne
degree of overcrowding was much the seme, bubt we had both showars and
sewerage, amenities which we greatly appreciated. In addition, electricity
was restered on Sth April and from the point of view of zervices life was
glmost civilised. AT bano's direction we instslled a direct telephone
service between “Captains' House" and the Nip guard-house, This further
evidence of civilisation was nct greatly sppreciated by me as it enabled
the Nips to call me out at any time of the night, which they did with rare




abandon,

One such pcecasion occurred on the very night the Tphone was
installed, when I received a call fraom the Jap gusrd-house at about two in
the morning. The camp was still not wired at this stege and despite the
risk involved a number of owr troops went into Singapore, or into the
Chinese villeges, each night, Many were picked up by the Japanese and
cnly that day Sano had instructed me to see that 211 men were warned that
hencefarth any man Tound out of bounds would be shot, Accordingly I kad
agsked all Company Commenders to meke certain that 211 men were so informed,

Nevertheless when I arrived at the cusrd-tiguse Sano had two of
cur men who had been taken by Jap patrels in Singapore, Then began a
pantomire beiwesn Sano and mr which lasted literally for hours, but which
I'll condense to the essentials, Sano started by asking me whether gll
men Yad been werned of the penalty Tor breaking camp. I told him that
the Company Commanders had assured me thst this was so, He instructed
me to ask the twg men whether they had been warned, They agreed that they
h=d, Seno them said that in that c=sse they had no excuse and he had no
cpticn but to heve them shot, Tne situation looked a bit grim;, so I
remonstreted with Sano, telling him that if he carried cut his threat I
would repart him to the Australian Gavernment when the war was over and
then he would be shot, He lesughed at this and said that the war would
last 100 years gnd that neither he ror I would survive to tell the story.
I countered by saying to him that his statement that the war would last
100 years was ludicrous, thet the Japanese had made the biggest possible
blunder in attacking Pearl Harbour, arnd so bringing America into the war,
that the might of the U,5.A., once it recovered from tha initial shock of
the Japanese treachery would soon praveil and he, Sjt, Seno, would have
to answer for his acts against Allied P,0,W, Sano professed to laugh at
me, but I sould see he was a bit shaken, and finally he said to me "“Wny
did the men go out of camp?" I turred to the two men, who were a bit
scarsd by this time, and said "He wants to know why you went out of camp,
arc you'd better thirk up something pretty good, otherwlse we ere all in
a spot, "

Quick as a wink cams the reply from orie, "Tell him we ware
hungry and we went out looking for bread." This was really laughable,
bacausa at Adam Park in those early deys we were issued with more rice
than we could eat, and in addition we had been permitted to start a
cantesn in which were sold bread rolls, sweets, etc. However, the finding
of a face-saving formula for Sano wes essential, so I expleined %o fim that
the men said they hadn't been getting encugh to eat, and had gone out
locoking for bresd. Without giving him a chance to say anything I went on
to suggest to him that it wouldn't look very good if the Japanese Army




executed prisoners-of-war who were not being given ermough food by the
Japanese and 1n conseguence had broken camp to try to get bread, and that
perhaps, in the circumstances, he might be satisfied if I told the men
that he was. extremely angry with them for disobeying his orders, but that
because he was a kind-hearted man hne had decided to allow them to go free
on this occasion although his heart would turn to stone if there was any
repetition pf such behaviour.

To my extrems relief he seized the opportunity and agreed.
I immediately turned to tne men and, raising my voice, told them I was
goirg to roar like Hell at them, that I had mo idea what I was going to
say, but they must look scared. I then started to yell the first thing
that ceme into my mind, which was the nursery rhyme "Little Boy Blue".
As my voice got louder and louder (I had already learned that the Nips
were impressed by noise), the two men started to cringe, end put on a
really good show. I had finished "Little Boy Blue" and was part way
through "Mary, Mary Quite Contrary", my voice row at shouting pltch,
when cuddenly Sano caid, "Captain Staru, stop, stop, you are getting
tco engry.” I stopped, ard he went on "You say these men went out of
camp to get bread?" I rnodded and he barked a command to one of the
guards, who disappeared at the run. In a few moments he re—appeared
carrying twe loaves of bread, which Sano immediately gave to the two
P.0.W., instructing me to tell them that if they were hungry in future
they must not go out of camp in search of kread but to come to §jt. Sano
who would give it to them! I don't krow how the two men felt at the
end of this session, but I cdo know that the Corporal Interpreter ard I
were both mighty glad it was owver.

On another occasion I was called to the NMip guard-house
about midnight, I arrived to find one of our men, stripped naked, tied
to & verandah post of the guard-house. He haed epparently king-hit a
Japanese Warrant-Officer while cut orn cne of the working parties and
after being properly worked aver by the Japanese on the working party he
was handed over to our guards. They had built e fire under the car-
port, to one of the posts of which our man was tied, and then proceeded
to get thoroughly drunk, Wren I arrived they were dancing, semi-naked
themselves, around their prisoner, jabbing him with thelr bayonets.
Tney hadn't inflicted any serious injury, but he was bleeding from
gozens of little jebs and didn'"t look a very pretty sight. Sano,
although rot as drurk s his guards, was rot by any means sober, and
was belligerant and viclent. We had a fairly tough time with him, but
finally managed to get his prisoner from khim and took him to the camp
h':'Spi tal "

Later in the morning I saw Jano who was by then in the throes




of & terrific hangover, and told him it was recessary to send the wounded
man tc Changl Hospital if ke was to live. Actually he wasn't seriously
ill, but he had nit the Mig Warrant-Officer pretty hard and I was fearful
of what might hapoen if he stayed at Adam Park. Fortunately Sarnc was

feeling so sorry for himsel® that I hed no trouble with him and we skot our
man bazk to Chargi.

Thers was a rather interesting postscript to this happaning when
I made my routine cell cn Sano that svening to report all working parties
ceck In camp. He was by than fairly well recovered from his carousing,
tut stlll locked & bit shespishi, He enguired whether I had had my'
evening meal, and, learning that I had nct, ushered me into an inner room.
Abcut @ dezen Mip guerds were sitting around the table eating a meal cf
geod Australian steaks, At a word from Sarc they made room for me at the
tabls, each cut a plece ¢f meat Prom nis steak, and a heaped plate, with
vegetables added, was placed in Front of me, I was never one to look a
gift horse in the mouthk, and I couldn't see any sense in rejecting what
was coviously a peace offering, so I proeceeded to put that steak where it
would do me most good, toc the evident plsasure of Samc and the other guards.
Trat was one occasion wien I didn't mird being on the receiving end of a
Japanese "offering".

I mentioned earlisr one Col. Shicsaki who was Sit. Sanc's 2 i/c,
He was a nasty little plece of work, rcurmirg and vindictive. Ung of my
own lads from Signals, who had keen & Despatch Rlder, was wearirg a peir
of tan leather boots which wsre a special issue to D,.Rs. They were much
lighter than the regulation Army boots, and of quite pleasing sppearance.
Une day Shicsaki saw therm, taook an immediate fancy to them, and determined
to azauire them, First he made an offer to buy them, which was refussad.
Then he wanted to swap them for his own, but thls was knocked back even
more cuickly. Me wasn't game to take them by force because other Nips
had done this sort of thing creviously, and Sanc had responded to my
complainis by summoring the offender, givirg him a good clout cver the
ear; and making him return the stolern gocaos. I don't think Sano liked
Shioseki ary more thar I did, and I farcy Shicsaki was aware of this and
had nc deaire to be on the receiving end of ore of Sero's walleps.

Mg could, ncwswver; and witn Sarc's apcroval, besh a P.OW. who
trarsgressed in any way. I was continually at war with Sanoc gver this
Fractice, but never achievsd anything. His stand was "We do it to our
own troops who disobey, and we'll do it to yours." So Shiosaki started
g systematic scheme of bastardry egeirst cur poor D,R. Every time
Shiosaki saw him he dresmed up some offerce erd clocked him, I gppealed
to Sano, but after he questioned Shiosakli he told me our man was a




Persistent wrongdoer who was always sneering at the Japanese and he
deserved what he got, The poor lad's life beceme a misery but he
wouldn't glve up those boots, Finally we solved the problem by declar-
ing him sick, and, inventing "a serigus contagious disease", had him
sent off to Changi, still wearing his baoots,

Up till this time Sanc had accepted figures from check-
parzdes held after the evening mesl a= evidence that all men were in
camp, but at 10,30 p.m, on Thursday 16th April the phone at Captains!
House rang and Seno instructed me to have all men on the parade ground
-n 15 mirutes, Treoretically everybody was in bed, even if not asleep,
as "Lights Out" wes at 10 p,m, Thankful for the fact that all Caompany
Commanders slept at Capteins® House I roused them all and off they went
o summon their men, CGathering 3,000 men together in 15 minutes on no
notice was, I found, impossible and it was nearer %o a guarter pest than
8 quarter to eleven when ell Companies were on parade, By this time
Seno was Jjust about running on the spot as he jumped up and down with
irpatience, and I was doing some pratty fast Footwork myself to kesp
out of his range,

rowever, at last all 0.C,'s, reported and Saro sent his
checkers to each Company and to the Hospital. It was pitch dark, and
the cnly light came from torches carvied by the Jag guards, I was to
thank my lucky stars for this bsfere tco long, To my relis® (end
surprise) the first three Companies reported all O.K., but 1t couldn't,
gnd didn't, last. No, 4 Campany reported five men short, and Sano went
into orbit, ATter somg time I managed to convince him that as he was
much better at counting than were his guards, who, after all, were cnly
FPrivates, he and I should check the Compeny which was supposed to be
short as I was sure it wasn't really so, Fortunately, to facilitate
caunting — end some of the Nips really wers clots at checking - we were
reguired to parade in files of five, Wnen we reached No, 4 Company I
asked the 0.C, if he was sure he was five men short, and he assured me
he was, 1nis is when I beceme thankful for the dark night, I sald
toc the 0,C, ™A= soon as Sanc and I get aleng & or & files, tell the first
File to couble quietly down the back to the other end,™ This manceuvre
was successfully accomplisked, and by the time we errived at the end of
the front line, and multiplied the number of 7iles oy &, we had the
correct total. I complimented Sano on his ability, he clouted the Jap
Who had done the first check, and honour was satisfied, The Goddess of
Luck smiled further on us in that the other Companies were reported
correct, and the five missing men later got safely back to camo without
being picked up, As will be seen, my luck ranm out on the next occasion
cn which we had a surprise check,

18.




The Japs made a grest fetish of arm bards, and Sano decided
that Oon Dyer who was acting as Camp Quartermaster, and I, should both have
armbands indicating our position in the Camp organisation, Here I struck
real trouble for Padre Andrews had not at that +ime replsced my Cpl,
interpreter, and there were nc such words as Quartermaster or Adjutant in
Sano's English vocabulary, I tried at length tc explain and finally, in
desperation I said, "Well, Captain Dyer does everything atout the Camp in
gereral and I do my work in the office, you know, where the typewriters
are," This seemed to convey something to Sano ard we ware duly supplied
with our armbands, It w=s not until Padre A-drews arrived on Friday 1=t
May that we learned that Dan Dyer was described as "General and I was
"Captain of the Typewriters", The Padre also told us of one of our bovs
who found & Nip armbend at Chengi, Knawing the importance tke Japs placed
on armbands he thought he would see if the ore he had found would get him out
of the Changi compound and down to the nearpy village, To his delight the
guards made no attempt to stop him as he walked out, althaough he was a bit
intrigued by the fact that seversl of them smiled and sniggered, He went
down to the village, msde some’ purchases, and returned, Again he passed
through the gates unchallenged, but again there were urmistakable signe of
amusement con the faces of the guards, He sought out one of our interpreters
and asked what was on the arvroand, Dn oeing told he decided he wouldn't
use it again - the inscripticn on the armband proclaimed "Prostitute = I am
8 clean woman," ' '

The Jap security officer at Adem Park was a three-star Private
named Nishicks, He was contiruvally sniffing round the camp, presumsbly
locking for radios, and spent quite some time at Ceptains® House, where he
could watch the activities of the senior officers, He knew a few words
of English and continually tried to talk with us, Like 211 the other Jap:s
he was always telling us of the great guccesses of the Imperial Japasneso
Army - Shipsaki told us on 7th April 1942 thst Japanese saldiers were in
Java, Sumatra, India, Manilla, New Guinea, Austrslia znd Brazil. On one
cccasion, talking with 8 group of us, Nishioka said to Sten Rohertes, "In
Australia, you live where?" Stan replied, "Brisbeneg", "Ch"“, said
Nishicka, "No good, no good. Japenese wer planes Brisbane, bomh, bomh,
2cmb,™  Then he turned to Jack Parry, and regpested the guesticn to him,
and when Jack said "Melbourne" Nishioka said, "Ah,werui desu, nurber 100,
Japanese war easgles Melbourne, bemt, bomb, tomb,™ He gave the same sort
of comfort to one of our chans from Sydrney, then it was my turn, "Captain
Staru", he said, "In Australis, you live whera?® "Timbuktu", I replied,
"Ah" he said, "Timbuktu! Timbukiu! Werui desuy, number 1,000 Japanese
planss, bomb, bomb, bomb, - Timbuktu finish! "  We were greatly relieved
to have this dismal news,

Claude Pickford, a Sydneysider, had = rather good singing wvoice,
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end Nishioka, during one of his perambulations, had heard Claude in action,
hishicka, toc, had & reasonable voice end decided Claude must teach hir a
ong in Englich, Claude selected "Three Blind Mice® and Nishicka proved
tc be en gpt pupil, On Tuesday, 21 April, Lt, Col, Oskes arrived at Adam
Perik to teke over from our then C.0,, Lt. Col, Ramsay, he were in the
middle of & hendover conference at Captairs' House when the phene from the
Nip guard-house rang, I answered, and a voice which I recognised as that
of Nishiocks said "Captain Staru?™ I said, "I am Stahl™, to which Nishioka
replied, "Sing Three Biind Mirce™, I didn?’t reelly fancy performing that
item For the benefit not only of Nishioka but alsp the OFficers assembled
in conference at my end of the line, So I tried to gst across to him that
12 was & much better singer than I and it would be nicer if he obliged,
ahich he did with gusto, Like all Japanese who hadn®t been taught English,
Nishicka could not cenclude e word with a consonant other then "n" and his
15" came out as "rs", His rengitien of Three Blind Mice wes:

Thres Brind—oo Mice—co, Three Brind-oo Mice-on,

See how they run, see row they run,

They awr-oo ran after-on the Farmers—oo wife-on,

Wno cut-no off-co their-co tayroo-soo with-oo a carving-oo knife-oo
Did-co you ever-oo see such-oo a thing—oo in your-co rife-oo,

As-ge Three Brind-oo Mice-co,

All tris time, of course, work on the comstructicn of the road
was procesding, The work parties went out to the road site =ach morning
snd returned to cemp in the evening. Tney were supervised on the job by
Jap engineers and a group of guerds ct-er than those allotted to guard thse
camp, It was an accepted part of P.O,W, life that one never did any mgre
for the Nipe than was essentiazl tc escape a besting, There were many
gdventurous spirits among the P.0.W, and they sgent a good deal of each day
ranging the erea in the vicinity of the Golf Links where the rcad was beinrg
built. Tney were searching for anything which might be turmed into cask
through ssles to the lgeal Chinese, who were already desperately short of
many commodities, The country sround the gulf course had been the scene
cf heavy fignting and the remains of some hundreds of todies were faund,
There was one instance where the dying soldier had scratched his identity
on &an empty tin, A proper burial wss esrranged in every case,

Not all the finds were gruesome, and cne group of lads from Sigs,
located & dump of petrol in 44 gallion drums, Here was a heaven-sent
cpportunity, for the locel Chinese had the greatest difficulty in obtaining
any petrol from the Japs and would gladly pay S or 6 local dollars - about
15/- to 18/- in Australian equivsient at that time — For a gellen of petrol,
Tre dump wes about half a mile from our Adam Park camg, and transport was a
difficulty, for obvicusly the discosal of the petrol had to be done without
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the knowledge of the Japs. The motto of Signals during the Malayan Campeign
had been "The difficult can be done at once, the impossible may take a little
longer™ and the boys of Signals as P,0.W. became even more resourceful than
they had been in action, of which Lieut,-General Percival, who commanded all
Eritish Forces in Malaya said "The tasks they were zllotted were far in excess
of what a8 MHvisional Signals Unit is designed to underteke. They demanded
great skill, untiring effort, and initimtive of the highest order,

Fortunately the Unit was richly eguipped with these essentials, and right

well did it live up to its motto,®

It is not surprising, therefore, that before long this particular
group had located a Jap Engineers'! supply dump from which, although it was
always under guard, they soon “borrowed" sufficlent helf-inch water pipe to
construct a pipe-line to the outskirts of Adem Park camp, Then working at
night, which of course they had had to do to "acquire® the water pipes, they
siphoned the petrol into four gallon cans, alsc "borrowed" from the Japs, and
carried out a highly lucrative business of petrol selling in the neerby
villages,

The success of this operation appesled to another Sig., Bob Hughes,
a burly West-Australisn who was driving a steam-roller on the road-making job,
and he dreamed up a plan to enable him to be in the racket too. It muat bae
remembered that a large proportion of Japenese privates were simple, poorly
geducated men whose mein ability was to carry out blindly orders received
from their superiors, In the main, they lacked completely any technical
knowledge. Bob's plan depended for its success entirely upon the fact that
his "overseer", the Nip responsible for Bob's work with the steam-roller,
was just such & man = a one-star private. On the morning that he started
his plan, Bob, instesd of commencing work, Jjust set in his steam-roller, ]
he anticipated, it wasn't long before his gverseer came rushing up yelling,
"Workco, workoo." Bob got down from his machine and with great pantomime
said, "Petrol finish.," After & while he got the message through and the
Jap said, "How much?® Bob drew on &ll his reserves of the Japanese language
and said "Ichi day, ni cans.” The Nip shot off and in no time was back with
2 four—gallon cans of petrol, Bob Hughes thereupon obligingly started his
steam-roller, and that night disposed of the petrol to the ever—willing
Chinesze in a nearby wvillage. Each day from then on until 18th May when the
guards were changed, Bob received his ration of eight gallons of petrol, and
each night he passed it on, for a satisfactory consideration, to his Chinese
friends,

On 28th April Sano told me there would be no work the next day
es it was the birthday of the Emperor of Japan, He said that, to mark the
occasion, & concert was to be arranged for the evening, with items by our men
and which he and his guards would attend, We gave the job of organising the
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concert to Claude Pickford (Nishioka's singing teacher) and in the short
tire =vailable he got together guite an entertaining programme from singers,
storytellers and musicians, with full=throated community singing thrown in,
The tracps sat on the side of a largish hill and the performers used a row
of tables 58t ug at the foot of the slope. A cocd time wes had by all,
including the Japanese guands, but they might not have been so amused had
they understood Englisk, for rany of the jokes were at their expense,. At
tke conclusion o7 the concert Sano presented each artist with 2 foothbrush
erd the compliments of his Imperisl Japanese VMajesty, He then inuvited
himeelf, Nishicka snd Shicesski to Captains' House for a cup of cha,
Mishioka stayed ell night, -still on the iockout, I guessed, for a secret
radic,

Twoe deys later Padre Andrews arrived to tske over as Interpreter,
end msst of the fun went out of my conversations with Seno, Hitherto thay
had teen leborious, often very wearing and always lengthy, but they nad
invariably been amusing, and often hilericus, as we strucgled to make
gurzelvas understood, The FPadre started & class in Japanese end I acguired
g small but uvseful, vocabulery of the words most used in R.,0.W, camps, I
found Japenese to be an expressive sounding languege and I hated the sound
of "Rura”, a word they used in anger when we didn't do exasctly as they
wished, asnd that was the rule rather then the exception. At the other
end of the scale I fourd Sayonera (Goodtye) a very pleasant-scunding word,

On 4 May Nishiloka was prowling round Captains'® House again, and
gfter poking about for guites . a wnile he came to me and presented me with a
pack of playing cards, Although he would not nave known it, that sack af
cards was one af the most useful acquisitiens of the whole of my FP,0.%, days,
They were used continually over a period of 3 years and more, and by the time
we were released the spotes kad almest disaspesred, I wondered whether the
gift hed eny significence, and my conjecture was answered two days later when
ishioka told me he was keing transferred to cther work and ke would be
replaced by MWz, Ogaichi,

Life wes more or less routine far the next Few daye, but it
couidn't last, On Woncday 11 May, almost all our guards went off to attend
a Conference, I z2pell it with & cepitsl "C" because that wes the imgressicn
I got from Banc when he told me fthraugh Psdre Andrews] what was doing. 1k
was almast & Gilbertian situation. There were only four guerds left in
camp, end had we been =0 inclined we could all have walked ogut without let
or hindrance, But where would ws go? Sanp returned lste in the afternoon
and sent for me immediatel,. I think he must have had a dressing down for
he straightaway got stuck into me (through Padrej abaut the numbers of our
slck men. It was always & matter of policy that we did rothing more for
the Nips than was necessery to preserve a reasonatly peaceful situation, and
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we did a1l we could to limit the number of men available for work, One

way to do this was to hospitalise men for slicht ailments, On this occasion
the burden of Sano’s camplaint was that after only six weeks in this camp we
had 500 men in hospital, [The "Hospital” consisted of a number of houses
set maside for the purposse, There were, of course, no beds, and the men
merely lay on the floors. They-did, however, have the benefit of attention
from our ewn medieal officers. Tre 5.M.0. was Major Hugh Rayson; a
delightful man with & whimsical sense of humour, who hailed from South West
Racks on the rorth comst of New South Wales, )

Unfortunately, because of Padre Andrews' complete fluency, Sano
was able to make himself only too clear so far as I was concerned, I could
see some advamtages in net havimng an Interpreter, When I didn't have one
I could at least tell Sano what I thought about him and get away with it,
but now I couldn't get the same.satisfaction, The conversation went like
this:

SANO:  "Buggeroo, Buggeroo, no bloody good, S00 men sick no good."

STAHL: "There aren't 500 men sick, there are only 478."

SAND: "Don't split straws — 500 is the same as 478,"

STAHL: "No it isn't — S00 grammes of rice is a lot more than 478."

SANO: "We're not talking about rice, wefre talking about sick men.”

STAHL: "There are only 478."

SAND: "You can't possibly have that meny ren sick in such a& short time.™

STAHL: "They're-sick all rignt, - or they wouldn't be in hosgpital,”

SANO: “I'm not satisfied that they are &ll sick - I want to see them and
decide for myself."

STAHL: "Don't be silly, how can you tell whether cor not & man is sick?"

SAND: "Don't you be silly - my brother-in-law in Tokyo is studying to be
a doctor and I'm well gualified to say whether a man is sick or not,
All men in hospital will parade at the guard-house at & ofclock
tormorrow morning and I'11 inspect them."

No amount of argument from me moved him one whit from his stand, and Tinally
I had to accept his order,

Naturally some of the men in hospital were really sick - we had
two deaths 1n the next two days — and it was quite impossible for some aof
them to turn out on parads, In consequence it was guite obvious at 9 o'clock
the next morning that there-were nowhere near 478 on parade, Sano was dressed
te lock the-part. -He-had en his-best uniferm, shining black Jack-boots, what
seemed to be a new cap, and his great Samurdl sword was slung at his side,
He tock me up to the roof of the portico of the guard-house and from there he
surveyed the scene below, wnere the sick men nad now been fallen in, It
didn't need a magiclen to sse-that there were far short of 478 men lined up,
Sano started to go to town in & big way, end on this occesion I dicn't have
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Padre Andrews to help me, he being with the parads down below, Sano did
a little war dance and, pointing to the parade, said in a voice of derisian
"478 men, nai, nai." In a voice which I tried to make sound as confident
a5 his was sarcastic I said, "478 men, yes, yes." "Nai, nai," screamed
Sano; "Yes, yes,"™ yelled Stahl, At that moment Capt. Stan Roberis of
Toowoomba, who had been checking numbers, celled up to me through cupped
hands, "Fourteen score and nine," I turned to Sano end said, “"There you
are, Captain Roberts he say 478 men.," Sano glared at me, and I stared
back at him, There was 2 silence which lasted for I don't know how long.
Ten seconds? Twenty? A minute? I just don't know, but it seemed like
Eternity, for I suddenly knew that if my eyes wavered I'd had it, but if

I could stare him out I was home, {I learned & lessocn from thls which
stood me in great stesd or some later n:nasinns.] Suddenly Sano's eyes
ropped end he said, "0.K., 0.K,, 478 men", and he turned and stumped down
the stairs, his sword clanging as it hit each of the treads in turn,

Sano had an armchalr pleced on the grass in front of the
portico and in this he gat himself with arms skimbo and instructed that
the men file past him. I stood behind the chair, with Hugh Rayson at my
right and Padre Andrews on my left, At first the whole thing looked
extremely comical, but I soon reslised that there was nothing fumny about
% o7 Seno's matkod of deciding whether a man was sick or not was simple
but direct, If a man had an arm in a sling, or walked with a stick, or
had any part of his person bandaged, or if there was some visible sign of
effliction Sano would say, "Wery sick man, back to hospital®, but if an
individual only had Malaria, or Dysentery, or Beri-Beri, or Dengue Fever,
or Bronchitis, or any other illness not immediately obvious, Sanoc would
say, "No sick, no sick, work tomorrow." As he went on dividing the men
into these two categories Major Rayson bscame more and more agiteted,
and shawed &11 the signs of approaching apsplexy, “Frod", hoissid, '""iF
these men go out to work tomorrow, many of them will dia. Can't vou get
this ruddy great epe tg understand that?" Obviously I had to try, so
when all men were through I tackled Sano, with the help of Padre Andrews,
I told him what Major Rayson had said would happen to some of the men if
they were sent out to work, Sanc told me that he and not Major Rayson
would decide whe went out to work, end who didn't., I ceme back at him
with the statement that Colonel Oskes would certainly not agree to the
men going to work when I informed him what Major Rayscn had said, but
Sano countered this by repeating that he, and not Colonel Oskes, would
decide who went to work, I then said that that being so, the decision
would be his alone, and responsibility for any deaths would be his alene,
He said that was 0.K. because his decision would be approved by the
Imperial Japanese Army. I told him the I.J.A, wouldn't be able tp do
anything for him when the war was over and Japan was defeated, as it
inevitably would be, Then followed another lengthy argument about the
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war going on for 100 years, etc, from Sano, and my retort that the Japs
had already made their fatal misteke in bringing in America. I repeated
what I had told him on the occasion when he had epprehended our two men
who "went out looking for bread". Having the benefit of Padre Andrews
as Interpreter proved, I am sure, to be a big adventage in this argument,
for I knew the import of what I was sayirmg would be fully understeod by
Sano,

The argument raged back and forth for guite a while but suddenly,
to my relief, Sanp said "O.,K.; O.,K. I won't make them go out to work, but
from now on nobedy who is sick will be allowed to buy enything from the
Canteen, and to meke sure they don't I'1ll put a book in the Canteen, and
everyone buying must sign the book, And Major Rayson, you will come to
the guard-house each night, examine the bogk, and tell me whether or not
any of the names in the bock are those of men sick in camp that day."

And that's just what he did. The book was put in the Canteen, and
everyone making a purchase had to sign, That night Sano sent for Hugh
Rayson, showad him the book and said, "Now Major Rayson, are any of the
names in the book those of men sick in camp today?"  Hugh examined the
book carefully and was honestly able to certify that none of the names in
the book were those of men sick in camp, and kow he kept a straight face
I still do not know, for the first name was Ned Kelly, the second Little
Boy Blue, the next Georgie Porgy, Billy Hughes, Jack the Ripper and

Buy Fawkes also made purchases that day, a5 did Bony Parts, Plew Tee and
Tess Tickle! Every night from then until the cawp closed Hugh Bayson
was similarly able to certify, guite honestly, that none of the names in
the book were those of men sick in camp, The took was carefully preserved
for some time but was unfortunately lost & year later when tha medico
caring for it last all his belongings cn the Burma railway. It's a pity,
for it was a pricelsss relic.

On 14 May Banp surprised me by saying that he and his men were
about to be transferred end that we would sgon have new guards, Then he
really flattened me by asking if I would give him a reference, I thought
he must be joking, and said as much to Padre Andrews, but he assured me
that Sano was quite serious, Sano's reguest caused me a deal of soul-
searching for how does an officer in the A,I,F, give a reference to an
enemy soldier? After a great deal of thought I came up with what T hoped
would be an appropriate answer., I wrote:




Prisoner of War Camp,
Adam Park, Singapore,
16 May, 1542,

To the Officer Commanding
Sergeant Seno,
Imperiel Jepanese Army.

This is to certify that Sergeant Sanc has been in charge of
Adem Park Prisoner of War Camp since 4 Aoril 1842,

Ouring that time He has done everything that I would expect
a Sergeant in the Imperiasl Jspanese Army ito do.

I can only hope that in dus course ne will receive his
just desserts,

(Sgd. ) F.E. Stahl, Capt.
Ad jutant,
Adam Park, P.0.W. Camp,

I hoped that Sano would nct be sble to resd between the lines,
but I was not pregared for his reaction when the Pedre translated for him,
A broad smile spread over his face and he shook my hand until T thought
it would fall off. Tnen, harror of horrors, he told me I was to go to
Changi with him the next day end present the reference to his Commanding
Officer! I fervently hoped that his C,0, didn?t have tocc good a command
of English,

Sure esnough Sano sent for me the next morning, 17 May, and sat
me in the back of a utility For the trip to Changi. AL the Gaol, after a
wait of some time, we were shown into en office in which sat a Jap Lieut,-
Colonel, Sano conducted & conversation with him in Jepenese, and then
indicated to me that I should present the reference to the Colonel, This
I did, and watched the J=zp ofTicer with some little trepidation.
Presumably he could read English, for he had no interpreter present, I
saw his eyes follow the lines, and his mouth twitched a little at the
corners, I gave a silent sigh of relief, a~d the officer spoke to Sano,
At no time did he spesk tc me, I don't know what he said to Banp, buit it
must have pleased him because he took me to the local village and bought
me a cup of coffee. Then he sat me in the cabin of the ute for the tri
back to Adam Park,

The next day the changeover of Jap guards took place, with &
Lieut, Ishikawa in overall cemmand, and & Cpl, 2aimon in charge of Adam Fark,
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Sano, Nishiocka, Ogaichi and Shiosaki took their farewells, and I couldn't
escape the feeling that they would much rather be staying, From conversa-
tions overheard by Padre Andrews it seemed our old guards were joining a
force intended for an attack on New Gulnea, We conveyed this information
to our own H,8, at Changi, and I was told thsat an attempt was made to
transmit 8 message by radio to Australia, but I have never been able to
ascertain whether it was, in fact, received, I sometimes wonder whether
Sano survived the war, but in view of the experiences of the Japanese in
Mew Guinea I guess the odds are that he didn't,

With the departure of our original guards & hiatus seemed to
develop in the Japanese administration, Cpl, Zaimon had only half-a-
dozen troops in his guard, comparsd with petween 30 and 40 under Sano's
command, and for a number of days our men did not go out to work because
there were no guards to superwvise them, The bush telegraph informed us
that the situation was the same in other working camps in the area, and
that there were very few Japs even in Singapore itself, Quite a few of
the more venturesome of the P.0,W, took advantage of this situation to
sample what was left of the delights of Singapore and socon there were
hundrads of them roaming the city, selling their personal belongings on
the black-market and using the proceeds each according to his own taste,
It was said that Lavender Strest was always crowded in those days.

But suddenly the honeymoon was Over, At 2,30 p.m. on
Monday, 25 May, Japanese guards swarmed into Adam Park and an immediate
muster parade was celled. These Nip saldiers wasted no time and any
P.0.W. who didn't move at the double was helped along with the peint of
g bayonet or a swing from the butt end of & rifle. The Japsnese officer
who called the parade was a Colonel of the Kempetai - the secret police -
gnd in order to avoid contamination by the P.,0.W. he stood on the far
side of a 12 focot wide stormwater drain which bounded the perads ground,
gnd telked with me across the drain, He spoke good English, When the
number on parade was ascertained I was presented with a man-size problem,
Tor we were 88 men short. I'd bluffed my way out of smell discrepancies
on several occaslons — the night parade on 1€ April was a good example -
but a shortage of B5 was a different kettle of fish, I reported the
parade state to cur own C,0,, Lt, Col, Oskes, a whimsical and gentle type
of man with whom I bad, and still have, quite a strong bond of friendship.
"eighty six short, eh Fred," he said, “What do we do now?" He paused,
and continued, "Can you bluff this one through?" I felt bound to tell
him that I didn't think I could, and suggested that, in all the eircum-
stances, we should come clean, He agreed, so I went to the bank of the
drain and spoke across to the Nip Colonel, saying I was sorry, but we
were 86 men short, "Ah so,"™ said the Colonel, sucking air in between
his teeth, "What cemp is this?"™ "Adam Park" I answered, “Adam Park"
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he repeated and took & lerge sheet of paper out of his breast pocket,
"&h sa" he saild again, "We have B8 of your men in gaol in Singapore."
Once again I thanked my guardizn angel a= I ceontemplated what could have
happened to me had I reported 211 men present,

The Jap Colonel then told me that he wished to address the men
through me, He would spesk to me, and I was to pass the message to those
on parade, He =said the Imperial Japanese Army was very engry and
disappointed with the behaviour of the Prisoners of War, Despite the Tact
that no Japanese soldier would ever surrender but would die first, the
graciaus I,J.A, had spared the lives of Australian end British F.0.W.

At great trouble to themselves the Japanese had provided the P,O.W, with
accommodation end food, and all they asked in return was that the P,O.W,
should do the work required of them by the Japanese and observe the
regulations laid down by the I,J.A,. And what did the P,O.W. do in
return? They did as little work as they could end what they did thaey

did badly, thay made insulting remarks and gestures to Japanese soldlers,
end they broke out of cemp when there was a temporary shortage of Japanese
guards, We must remember that as Frisoners of War we had no standing and
no rights of any kind and we must obey implicitly a1l orders recelved from
Japsnese soldiers, In future those who did not do so would be severely
punished, as the 85 men from ocur Camp who had besn captured that morning
and the previous night certainly would be. Work would recommence tomorrow
and everyone must work much harder, Having completed his diatribe the
Coleonel gravely saluted me and departed,

Seventesn of gur missing men were returned the next day, and
the balance on the Wednesday, All B85 were confined in a tennis court,
without any shelter of any kind, and given cne mezl a day. They were
kept there for a week, and then released, Work did not recommence aon
the Tuesday, as the Kempetal Colonel had seid it would, and working parties
were turned back by the Guards again on the Wednesday, 0On the Thursday,
however, work resumed and camp life returned to normal.

On Saturday 30 May instructions arrived from Changl that I was
to return there to assist my own C.0, in writing up our Unit history,
Capt, Norm, Peach of 2/30 Bn, was appointed Camp Adjutant in my place, and
I handed over to him on the Sunday, My return to Changi was delayed
however, for I woke the next morning feeling feverish and unwell and rapidly
got worse during the day, By nightfall I was semi—delirious and I spent
the night adding up, in my mind, endless columns of figures. It was a
horrible night and I felt dreadful the next morning. I was admitted to
Hospital, where Dengue Fever was diagnosed. I was discharged on Friday
& June with 5 days no duty, After a slight reaction on the Saturday I
improved rapidly on the Sunday and spent the Monday compiling & history of
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Adam Park camp with Roly Oakes, O Wednesday 10 June I was returned to
Changi and my first active association with the Nips came to an end,

At the time we thought that Adam Park had been a pretty tough
experience, but in the light of later events I realised that we had had a
comparative picnic there, It's true that we suffered heatings from our
guards, it's true that one of our men was painfully pricked in numerous
places an his body after "clocking™ a Nip, and it's true that 86 of owr
men found life hard to endure for & week after they walked out of camp,
but the truth is that Sano and his men were fighting troops who had some
admiration for the fighting cualities of Australian troops and our real
micery didn't commence until the third-line (non-fighting) Japs end the
Korezns tock over &s guards, But more of this later.

CHAPTER I1I

SELARANG AND THE BARRACK SHUARLT

10 June 15942 to 17 Aprdl 1543

The atmosphere at Selarang was much different frcm that at the
working camp at Adam Park, For the men in Adam Park there was an ordered
programme - march out toc work in the morning, spend the day doing as little
work 3s possible, march back to camp in the evening, Then followed the
evenlng meal and check parede, end fres time until "Lights Out". One day
was little different from the one before, and the one to follow. Contact
with Jap soldiers was continuous,

At Selarang the Japs were seldom seen except by "Trailer parties”
who went out of camp for rations, firewood or salt-water when they were, of
course, escorted by Nip guards, There was a guard-house at the entrance




to the camp, which by this time was completely wired, but inside the
perimeter we saw little of the Japanesa, At that stage they didn't ewven
appear on our check parades, The daily routine for the men at Selarang
consisted of a work parade after breskfast, at which they were allotted
duties for the day - trailer parties, repairs to houses, the roofs of many
of which were still badly holed, cock=house fatigues, sanitation duties,
and garden worl, The gardens were by now starting to contribute toc our
ration supply, the main wvegetables grown being Kang Kong, Swest Potato,
Bayam and Tapipca root, Kang Kong is an edible plant of the Convolvulous
variety, Bayam a plant which resembled the leafy portion of our pumpkin
plant, except that the stalks were solid, end the tubers of the Tapioca
plent, wnich grew to guite large proportions resembled, when properly
cocked, a rather floury potato, The leaves of the Tapioca, although
polscnous, cauld be esten provided they were boiled for not less than

5 minutas, Two years later, when I returned from the Burma railway,
Amaranthus had been added to the list, end boiled Amaranthus leaves often
formed part of the ration,

But back to the daily routine st Selarang. The duties having
been allotted at the morning parade, the work parties made off. Wth the
excepticn of skilled. workers - carpesnters, engineers, and other tradesmen,
who were occupied in restoring buildings and services - it was possible to
rotate the men among the various tasks, & the end aof the day, after the
evening meal, there was 2 check parade following which the men were ususlly
free until "Lights Out",

By this time, mid-June 1342, even the optimists (including me)
were beginning to realise - despite the continuous flow of rumours -
that there was to be no early end to our captivity, Bery Barnett and I
were discussing this aspect one day with our old C,0., Colonel Thyer, who
repeatad his opinion, that the war would last for a long time, that we,
gs P,0.W,., were in for meny hardships, and that only the fit would swrvive,
I pondered over this for some days, wondering what the future held.
Thinking about my immediate family - my wife and young son, then sged
21 months - I came to the conclusion that no good purpose could be served
ir worrying about their future, Financially they were secure - the
allotment I had made from my pay ensured tnat - arnd I knew they were well
end comfortably housed in a loving family atmosphere, my wife baving returned
te live for the duretion of the war with her parents, for whom I had much
effection, Having come to this conclusion this left only me, and I
cetermined that all my efforts must be directed to surviving whatever lay
ghead, I reasoned that I was powerless to order the events that would
befall me — my future, for the present at any rate, would be determined by
the Japanese - and I decided that the best plan was to live frem day to day,
leaving behind me what had happened the day pefore, and not worrying about
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what might happen on the morrow, I believe that I maintained this
attitude throughout my period as a P.O.W, and I'm convinced that-it
enabled me to survive with a minimum of permanent disability either of
body or mind, Others were not so feortunate, I know of many who,
probably after tne same searching thinking as I had done, decided they
would not survive, They gave up the ghost, and before long they were
dead, and from no obvious cause.

Conditions in Selarang area of Changi compound in those days
could not be described as other than reascnable, Sport was permitted on
a modified basis - haockey matches for example, were played in two halves
of 40 minutes each way - sea bathing was permitted on two cccasions esch
week (our periods were Tuesday morning and Friday afternoons), and on
24+h June the A,I.F. Concert Party presented s first-class Revue, The
first presentaticns by this Concert Party were given from a stage erected
near the Selarang Berreck Sguare, and right from the start they were a
resounding success. The ingenuity displayed in the making of props.
and costumes was gquite amazing, especially in those days when we had very
little in the way of possessicns apert from wnat we stood up in, The
scenery end the dressing hed to be seen to be oelieved, and I still rememoer
with much gratitude the wonderful entertainment the Concert Party provided,
not only in those early days in the fece of many difficulties, but leter in
Changi Gaol after I returned from the Burme railway, by which time the
performances were of professicnal stendard and the scenery and effects
nothing short of miraculcous,

It was atout this time that the Japanese decided to appear on
our gvening check parades, I was still acting &s 0,C. No. 1 Company,
and shortly after the Nips started their check I was agein in bother over
nutbers, The practice an these check parades was for me to fall in on
the extre-e right of the company, in the front rank of No, 1 fils, I
would number as "one" and then fall out to check numbers with the Jap
soloier, In ogur case the Jap was a Warrent Officer, and on this particuler
occasion I numbered "One" as usual, then followed him down the line as
numbering caontinued. Unfortunately when numbers were checked we were one
man shaort, I dicn't have & clue where he might be — possibly a man sick
in lines at the last minute, but where were we to find him among the many
houses in which the company was quartered? I decided to try and bluff it
out once more and I put & laok of great concentration on my face. Tnen
suddenly I let the light bresk through {ar that's what I hoped the Jap
would think) and I smiled. I pointed to myself and said "We - one man."
"Ah =o" said the Jap, "“You = one man," and he went off satisfied - or so
I hoped, But thereafter, whilst that same Werrant Officer was doing the
check, I did not fall in at the end of the parade and was not included in
the number on parade, And every night we then went through the same ritual.




The Jap would say, "One man short,” I would frown prodigiously then let
the light bresk through and point to myself and say "Me - one man."  Then
the Nip would roar with laughter and go off happy. But I was never quite
sure that he wasn't laughing at me for thinking I put it over him the first
time,

Our diet, though still ample in quantity at this time, was
deficient in vitamins, and physical signs of this were now beginning to
gppear among the troops. A form of neuritic Beri<beri became commaon,
Eeing characterised by pains in the feet. This complaint was quickly
dubbed "Happy feet" though those who suffered from it usually felt far
from happy., In addition the ocedematous type of Beri-Beri, Pellagra,
Stomatitis and scrotal dermatitis became prevalent, The latter was a
particularly painful condition as I personally.discovered, In order to
minimise the effects of the vitamin deficiency as far as possible we
started the manufacture of yeast, using the skins of potatoes, bananas,
pineapples, etc. There was a daily "yeast parade" when a small guantity
of the fermented liquid was issued to each man, Severe cases of
avitaminosis were treated with "Vegemite" or "Marmite" from our small
but precious store of thes=e foods, or, when available, with rice polishings
made into a very unpalatable form of uncooked porridge.

On 19 June 1542 everybody was issued by the I.J4,A. with a
postcard on which a message not exceeding 24 words could be written,
One of our lads took the opportunity to say "Dear Mum, guess who's a
Frisoner of War." Most of us spent & lot of thought in endeavouring to
get as much information as possible into the 24 words, Unfortunately,
as the cerds were not delivered in Australis until 18 months later they
did little to allay anxiety at home, We were allowed a total of three
of these cards in the 33 years we were P.0.W.

Wnilst I was at Adam Park, a large working party known as
"A" Force had departed from Changi on 14 May for en unknown destination,
and 180 of our Signals personnal had been included, Early in July,
orders were issued by the Japs regquiring the formation of another working
party for overseas = this time to Borneo, Krnown as "B" Force this party
included 10 officers and 35 men from Signals. As I could have no knowledge
as to what conditions the members of the party might experience I decided
to draw lots for those to go from my Company. This resulted in two events
I shall never forget. The first concerned Bob Hughes, he of the "petrol
for my steamroller" incident at Adam Park and who had subsequently been
returned to Changi. Bob was among those who had been drawn to go to
Borneo. He came to see me the night the composition of our party for
"8" Force was announced and told me that he was determined not to go to
Bornec and that unless I took him off the force he would "go through the
wire", 1 explained to Bob the manner in which the composition of our

3z,



{
5
&

0]

B A

R S £

P e
L L BT

i

2

[ e

R,
ST AR

£

% Bt iR i ey il 2

p—

[1 s e Fat S e

=_
Sy, B

party had been decided, end why I had done it that way, I also strongly
advised against any attempt at escape, pointing out that in an Asian
country a white man would staend out like the proverbial country "loa".
After & long discussion Bob decicded that he would abide by orders. In
the event, when the party reached Bornec the officers were separated fram
other ranks, and the other ranks, after work cn constructing an aerodrorve,
were subjected tc the "Sandakan Death March" from which cnly six survived,
Bob Hughes was not one of the 2ix,

I was elso approached by "Bluey" Turner, ocne of our Despatch
Riders; He rad not been included in the Borneo Party, but a very close
friend had, "glueyts® recuest wss that I should allow him to join the
perty so that he and nis friend would not be separated, I explained to
"Bluey", as I had to Bob Hughes, the method of selection, and why I was
not prapared to alter it, "Blue™ let iy with some very salty and
unmilitary language which I chose in the circumstances to ignore, and
there, for the time, the matter rested, Yesrs after the war ended I mat
up with "Bluey™ agein., Sy then the fate of the members of "B" Force was
well-krown, and "Bluey" expressed his greteful thenks that I haed refused
his reguest,

How does one measure the rights and wronge of decisions of this
nature? I could have switched "Blue™ Turner and Bob Hughes, and both
would have heen happy — for the time being. I could have refrained fram
telking Beb cut of his escape plan, but had ke done so the probability is
that he would have been cauvght and executed in eny case, I've debated
this gquestion with myself over and over again and the only real ccnclusion
I heve reached is that, in wartime, whether in action or as a P,0.%,, an
of ficer is charged with responsibility for msking decisions which must
inevitebly affect the welfere of his men, that the consequences of those
decisions will not always be what he would wish, but he must live with
them nevertheless,

"B" Forece left on 8th July 1942, and, as always happened after
the departure of a working party, the number of houses allotted for our
accommodation was reduced, and we a1l had to move quarters, We did this
on 9th July, and sgain in mid-August following the departure of “Japan”
Force, First notification of this force was received cn 16th July and
the composition of the party was rather special, In it were to be
included al]l officers of the rank of Colcnel and above, In addition, as
portion "B" of Jepan perty, there was to be a small number of Junior
officers and other ranks, Signals contribution to this portion was
ordered to be one officer and ten mer, It will be seen that our Unit was
now guite fragmented, Over one thousand all ranks had marched in as
P.O.W, but 205 khad already gone overszeas end nearly 500 were in working
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parties near Singapore City. The departure of the senior officers resulted
in a considerable readjustment of command within the Australian P.O.W.
organisation, Hitherto our Commender had been Maj,—Beneral Callaghan, but
now the command devolved upon Lt, Col, F.G, Galleghan., Better known as
"Black Jack" he had cormanded the 2/30 SBattalion during the Malayan campaign
end was at the time Japen Force was being formed 0,.C, of a working party at
Thompson Boad, Singapore. He was a great soldier, a stickler for discipline
and & courageous leader, At Thompscn Road cemp he inspected the Japanese
guard every day, and woe betide any Nip who was improperly dressed, He

was immediately sent off parade by B.J, to correct the shortcaming! From
our unit we temporarily lost our 2 i/c, Major Bridgland, who, an engineer

in civil life, was seconded to A.I.F. Headgquarters to take charge of
engineering services within the camp, I shall have more to say later
concerning his outstanding achievements, The Japan party left on Sunday,
16th August 1942, and simultaneously there was an important change in the
Japanese P,0,W, command, Gen. Fukuye taking over. He celebrated by having
a "gloat" parade, followed by an address to ell P.0.W. which left us in no
doubt that of all human life we P,0.W, were most certainly the lowest order,
We were to hear more from Gemeral Fukuye before long,

In the interim between first edvice of the formation of Japan
party and its deperture, there marched into camp 28 officers and 53 other
ranks from Sumatra, The party included Lieut,-Ccmdr, Clarke {H.N.] egnd
from him I had news of my cousin Husen ("Bill") Christmas, BIill wes a
Lieutenant in the B,A,N,V,R, and hed command of ML311, a patrol vessel
of the "Fairmile" class, I was unaware that B8ill was in Singapore waters,
but on 13th Februaery 1942 whilst I was on duty et the Divisicnal Slgnal
Cffice at Tanglin Barracks a personal call ceme through for me. To my
surprise it was Bill Christmas who said he had been trying all over Singapore
Islend to locate me, He told me that he had been ordered back to Australia,
leaving that night and there was a place on his ship for me, He urged me
to join him because, he said, "Singapcre has had it, the last ships leave
tonight and if you don't come you're finished." I thanked him for the
offer but made it clear it was quite impossible for me to accept, firstly
because I had a Signal Office to cperate, and secondly because I was
responsible for the welfare of the men under my command. Bill said
"You're a bloody fool — you'll never get out alive." We said our goodbyes
and I'd heard no more of him until, on 20th July the party from Sumatra
arrived, Comdr, Clarke told me that Bill was missing, presumed dead,

It was not until long after the wer was over that I heard what had happened,
HL311 had left Singapore on the night of 13th February, as cordered, but as
dawn broke in Banka Stralts on 14th February the ship was seen to be in the
midst of a Japanese task force, A short and very unequal battle ensued,
ending when ML311 suffered a direct hit and was blown to pieces - her
commander with her,
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Early in August 8 Red Cross exchange ship carrying repatriated
Japenese diplemats and other civilians passed through Singapore from
Portugese East Africa en route to Jepan, and from it were unloaded supplies
of food and clathing from the Red Croas, By this time the food supplied
by the Japanese though still reascriable in amount, was very uninteresting
and unvarying in content, and we certainly appreciated the bully beef,
guava jam and sweets from the RAed Cross supplies, It was decided to
hushand the new supplies so that they would last as long as possikcle and
the opportunity was alsoc teken to build up & small reserve supply of rice,
After six months as F.0.W, those wro had been smakers were finding it
increasingly difficult to satisfy their craving. Bitles were in great
demgnd because the rice paper oo which they were printed made a good
substitute for cigerette caper. Though the Fadres protested and made
dire forecasts sbout those who converted the Bibles into "burnt offerings"
the practice in no wevy abated snd literally thousands of Bibles went up
in smoke, Substitutes for tobacco slso beceme necessary, for although
smell supplies of Jeva tobacco could be obtained through the black merket
the price rose higher anc highsr and meny of the men were forced to improvise.
Some even emoked bark, whilst quite & few manufactured their own "tobacco"
frem papaya leaves and gula melacca, which resembles a very coarse honey,
The mixture of leaves and gula malacca wes compressed inte = block which,
when dry, was shradded and rolled into Bible leaves form cigarettes,
Imagine the pleasure of thess devotses when a7 issue of real cigarettes
was mede from the Red Crass supplies! Non-smokers like myself traded
gur cigarette issus for bar chocolate, which was also included in the
Fed Cross supplies, to the mutuasl satisfaction of both smoker and ncn-
EMOkEr.,

It will be rememSered that when Bgb Hughes had been ballotted
into "B" Force I had sirocngly counselled him agsinst attempting to escars,
This w=a= in the knowledge that there had been szeveral such attempts out
alsa in the knowledge that in esvery case the sscspess had scon been re-
captured and, according %o the Japaness, executed, Shortly after General
Fukuye assumed commend of a1l P,0,W, on Singapore Islend four escapees,
who had succeeded in getting to one of the islands offshore from Singspore
were tnere recaptured and, sick and exnausted, were admitted to the P.O.W,
Hospital, General Fukuye sent for Lt. Col. £.B, Holmes, the British
Officer commending all allied F,0,W, et Changl and, efter expressing his
dissatisfaction with the attempts of P.0.W, to escape, placed tefors
Col, Holmes a ™No Escape® declaration which he not only asked Col. Holmes
to sign, but requested him to get all other prisoners to sign. The actual
declaration was "I, the undersigned, solemnly swear, on my honour, that I
will not, uncder any circumstances, attempt escape."  As cone would expect
Cel, Holmes very progerly declined the invitation, The reaction of General
Fukuye was immediate and positive, "MIf the prisoners do not sign the
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declaration" he said "it will be necessary for me to order their
concentration for the purpose of taking appropriate measures."  All
P.0,W, were then given the opportunity to sign the "No Escape" declara-
tion, but, to their credit, every individual refused. Col. Holmes then
izsued a warning order that a concentration was to be expected on the
following day.

During the evening of Tuesday, 1st September 1942, advice was
received from Jap H.@. that all personnel in the Changl Camp would
propably ke required to concentrate in the Selarang Barrack Sguare the
next day. Immediately plenning commenced at A.I.F. H.@. for the move
of all Australians, in accordance with orders recelved from Col. Holmes
at Camp H,4, These plans were completed by first light on Wednesday
2nd September, and runners were sent to all Units with defails of the
area allpcated to each Unit and orders to propare for the move, Shortly
afterwards Jap guards removed the four escapees from the camp hospitel
and tocok them to e mearby oeach. Here, in the presence of Col. Holmes,
"Slack-Jack" Galleghan, their own commanding officers and the senior
Australian medical officer thsy were executed by renegade Indian soldiers
wno had deserted to the Japanese. As only one Indian was &llotted to
gach P,0.W, their deaths were rnot all, by any means, instantaneous,
General Fukuye then issued the order for all P.0.W. to bes concentrated
in the Barrack Sguare by 1500 hours that night,

The Selarang Bsrracks area into which a11 the P,O0.W, were to
ke concentrated messured sbout 230 yards by 150 yards, On each of two
sides were two barrack buildings each intenced to accormmodate one company
of men — about 150 — ang at one end there was a stores huilding, The
other end, which was grassed, fronted an to a road which ecircumscrioed
the whole area. Encompessed by the buildings and the grassed eastern
grea was the sacred Barrack Square. In peace time the Barrack Sguare
was strictly reserved for troops on parede, Wee betide the soldier who
set foot an- it, at any other time, To get from one side to the other
he must go around it - not escress it

Into this 250 x 1580 yerd area tnere were to be herded 15,800
P.O.W. At that time there was only one water point, and no latrines,
As soon as it became fairly ocbvious that all the P.D.W. were to be
concentrated there the Engineers went to work to instzll a second water
point, and, sacrilege of sacrilege, a commencement was made on digging
latrines in the centre of the Barrack Square, Jim Hardacre, who had
Leen appointed messing officer for all A,I.F. P.0.W. supervised the
erection of makeshift cookhouses, The Japs =et up machine-gun posts
at the four corners of the road ergund the Square, and at the .Jap quard-—
house which was established in what was known as the Clock-tower building
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across the road from the grassed eastern end of the Sgusre., After the
concentration was complete renegade Indiarn trcops who had daserted to tre
Jepanese patrolled the roed arcund the Sguare,

round one o'clock the official movement to the Squere began,
and the spectacle had to bte seen to be belleved, The British trogps had
the hardest Job because they hed to cocme up from Roberts Earracks at the
geastern end of Changi compourd, All svailsble trailers were pressad into
servica, and they were loaded to the hilt. Nopody knew how long we would
be confined to the Square, or, indeed, whether we would ever come cut of
it, end everyone took in as much in the way of perscrnal possessions as thay
could manege. In addition to food and cooking gear {the decision taken
garlier to build up a small reserve of food was already justified), the
trailers were lcaded with home-made beds, chairs, tables, etc,, crates of
fowls, pets, including the ococcssionel morkey, musicel instruments, reading
matter and, although carefully hidden from view, several of our secret
radios, One group of British =cldiers even brought in a geoat, struggling
hard at the end of a rope. Thanks to the ingenuity of Cpl. Stan Hone, one
of our Sigs, beys, I was now the proud owner of a folding camp stretcher,
and I csrried this in with me in additicn to my few cther persongl
celecngings,

By atout five in the afterroon svery square inch of space 1n the
four bsrrack hulldings, including the Tlat roofs, wes occcupied; as was
every sguare inch of ground not reguired for latrines and cookhouses,
Little humpies covered the lawn at the eastern end of the Sguare,; and
makesnift shelters spreng up in all availasble aress, Our Unit had been
allotted the footpath between one of the buildings on the scuthern side of
the Sguare and the road which encompassed the whole area, It was sbout
€& ft, wide and each man was allowed two feet or theresbouts, I know 1
could only just fit my stretcher into my allotted space, We slept under
the stars by night and sweated in the sun by day. It was practically
impossible to keep our belecngings dry when the deliy thunderstorms hit,
but we welcomed them nevertheless for available water was sufficient only
for cooking and drinking, and the thunderstorms provided us with our caily
baths, Late in that efterncon of 2nd September 1342 Colonel Holmes and
his senior officers were summoned to & "Conference” at the side of the
rcad opposite the Jap guerd-house, It was made clear to Col, Holmes that
we were to stay confined in the Square until we signed the "No Escape”
forms, Our rations would be severely cut - we had received none at ell
that day - and if we remaired obdurate other forms of punishment would be
introduzed, Col, Holmes was told to go away and think it over,

One of the most cutstanding features of this incarceraticn must
surely have been the amazingly good spirits displayed universally by the
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F.O.W, Despite the cramged conditions - one literally had to walk owver
one's neighbour if it was necessary to move from one's sllotted space -
despite the reduction in rations, despite the long waite for food or to
use the latrines, for both of which purposes long queues were the order
of the day, despite the uncertainty asbout the outcome of the whole
situation, it seemed that there was a generel determination to "show the
bloody Nips where they got off." Unfailing good humour was everywhere
in evidence, One soldier is on record as joining = gueue and saying to
the man in front of him, "Is this the queue for the cookhouse or the
latrines?" and being told, "Couldn't say, mate, by the time I get there
I*'1ll be ready for either," A member of the Gordon Highlanders, who had
cccupied the berracks round the Square prior to the Maleyean campaign,
and who had obviously been thoroughly indoctrinated in those days concern-—
ing the sacredness of the Barrack Square, was heard to say &s he came
away from the latrines, "Men, I've achieved the ambition of a lifetime -
I've shit on the Barrack Sguare."

There was a gereral determination not to give in to the Japs,
end when Col, Holmes was summoned to another "Conference" on the afterncon
of Thursday, 3rd September, he was again sble to tell the Japs that
no-one would sign the "No Escapse™ form, He also had to inform them that
in the 24 hours since we had besn confined to the Square there had been
20 cases of recurrent dysentery and two men had gone down with diphtheria.
In turn he was informed by the Nips that they were considering &llowing
us one-=third rations,

The omens on Frideay, 4th September, were tad, The latrine
diggers were finding it difficult to keep up with the demand, and in
the primitive conditions in which we lived the problem of keeping our
meagre supply of food free from contamination was proving insoluble,
The number of dysentery cases trebled to sixty, diphtheria increased to
four, and our medicos became very concerned about the health outlook.
It was estimated that in another three days there would be at least 400
further cases of dysentery and it was impossible to calculate what course
the diphtheria epidemic might take. At the "Conference" that afternoon
Col, Holmes presented these facts to the Japanese., They were sufflciently
impressed to want to find a solution to the situation, but the problem
was to find a way out which would save "face" for the Japanese = to them
this was a matter of paramount importance, Finally, efter much discussion,
a formula was decided upon. The Japanese substituted for their original
"request" that all P.,0.W. sign the "No Escape™ form a direct order to that
effect, backed up by & statement that no food would be issued until all the
forms were signed. In these circumstances Col. Holmes was forced to order
all under his command to sign the form, but in doing so he made it clear
that the duress employed by the enemy absolved those signing from being
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bound by the promise, Howsver, to meke assurance doubly sure very few
P.0.W, signed their own names - for example, 1 signed mine B,A, Barnett,
and Sen signed with an F,E, Stehl that bore no more resemblance to my
signature than mine did to his,

And so the great confrontation came to an end, On the Saturday
we all returned to our normal guarters and resumed & corparatively peacaful
way of life for a while, The gnly real casualties on our side gpart from

the execution of the four escapees, were the goat and a large number of
chooks, all of which disappesred into the raticn pots. On the Japenese
side thers was only one casualty snd that did not occur until after the
war ended when Gen, Fukuye, who ordered the execution of the four P.O.W,.
escapees, was himself exscuted on the same spot on the same beach, but by
a properly constituted firing scued, with the result that his demise was
instantanecus and not the lirmgering death that he imposed on the escapees,

And so, as I say, life returned to what was normal for those
days, The time passed relatively unewventfully until 26th September when
it was decided to amalgamate what remained of 22 and E7 Brigades, Our
owt C.0. Lt, Col, Kappe, took covmand and I was appointed Staff Captain,
En{Sunday, 27th September, the Nigs sprang one of their typical surprises -
they notified ue that a search of the camp would be made on 30th September,
No doubt they were looking for our secret radics, but thanks to their

iendly (?) warning none was found, We never allowed the radips to
remain in one place for longer than about three weeks, At this time Ben
and I were responsible for the care, but not the cperation, of one of our
sets, and unless they had been informed where the =et was located there
was only & very minute chance of the Japa finding it, Owing to the heawvy
tropical downpours the saves of the houses in which we were guartered were
four feet wide and were faced on the underside with asbestos cement,
During the bombing and shelling of the area the concussion had broken this
asbestos in countless places, &lthough there were, of course, numbers of
quite large pieces still intact. The set for which we were responsible
was located on one of these intact pleces, outside what had been the
bathroom in the upstairs porticn of the house in which we lived, Een
gnd I, and six cther officers occupied the adjolning bedroom, The set
was completely concealed from bath the ground bslow and the bedrocm
window, It was permanently tured to RAadis Australias and the headphone
lesds were brought in through the roof and down what had been the wire to
the bathroom light, passing on the way through the wall-switch, The
headphanes, which were in the custody of the operator for the time being,
were doctored so that they could be plugged into the light socket, Wnile
the operator was at work Ben arnd I kept watch upstairs and, as an added
precaution a "cockatoo" lounged at what had been the entrance porch to the
nouse, From the bell-push, wires nad been run to the set above and



arranged so that a push on the button would automatically disengage the
set, If this happened the operator knew that Japs were in the vicinity
and disconnected his headphones. In the three weeks that we were
responsible for the set there were no alarms and the evening news bulletin
from Australia was regularly monitored. Our power came from car batteries
and a number of Jap lorry drivers must have scratched their heads over the
sudden failure of their batteries as our boys successfully exchanged cone

of our failing batteries for one of their live ones,

On 5th October the Japs announced a reduced ration scale, but
fortunately on 9th October we received some further Red Cross supplies,
some of which had come from India, Each man received & once~and-for-azll
issue of 4 ozs, of jam, and 65 cigarettes and whilst the supply lasted
each man was to receive a daily issue of 1 oz, of Dahl, % oz. of Ghee,

2 oz, of Atta, 3 oz, of tinned corned beef or meat and vegs,, 1 oz. of
tinned vegs, or tomatoes, ¥ oz, of sugar, 1 oz, milk, plus 4 ozs. of
biscuits and &4 ozs, of cocoa per week, It wes spparent why the Japs

had reduced their ration issue, but by careful husbanding we were able fo
meke the Red Cross supplies last almost to Christmas. Another event
which helped to make life a little easier about thi= time was the
completion of repairs to the water and electricity mains within the camp
grea. The restoration of electricity enabled the pumping of water to be
resumed, and soon communlty shower points were erected. The showers
WEYE Espsc1ally welcomed, for in that hot and sticky climate they helped to
make life much more bEﬂrablE

In mid-October there was an gutbreak of dysentery end diphtheria
in the British lines and inevitably it spread to the A.I.F. On Saturday
24th October I went down with dysentery and was sent to hospital, but I
goon recovered and was discharged four days later, Several more parties
were reguired for Singapore and by 8th November we were left with cnly
five officers, On the other hand parties of Dutch had been caming into
camp from Java and by 13th November there were 1,400 of them in our vicinity.
Many of them were Eurasians, and some were suspected of being Japanese
plants, ©DOn one occesion e party of Nips sppeared and went straight to a
spot where one of our secret radios had been located. Fortunately they
found nothing, the set having been removed cnly two hours beforehand,

The move of working parties was reversed in early December and
numhers of our men marched back into camp during that month, I wes still
attached to Brigade Headguarters but on 232 December I suggested I should
be returned to my own Unit, and on 1 January 1943 I was reposted as
Acting C,0, of Signals, In mid—January our raticn scale was again revised,
the scale being altered to rice 19 ozs,, sugar .6 of an 0z, tea « 176 of an
oz., salt ,176 of an oz., oil ,7 of an pz,, vegetables 2% ozs., and fish
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2% 0z=. At the same time we were told there would be rnc more issues of
tolilet paper.

I have referred earlier to the various 'gloat! parades to
whick we had been subjected, but on Saturday 232 January 1543 we experienced
pne with a difference, The camp was to be inspected by a8 Prince of the
Royal House of Japar, and =23 it was desired thet the son of the Son of
Heawven should not bte contaminated by the sight of lowly prisoners of war
we werg crdered to remain irdoors bBetween ore ernd three p.m. "Sevare
punishment" was promised to amyone who disaobeyed the order. Two days
after this inspection the Jspanese asked for the names of all Signels
officers and, as may be imagined, this caused considerable speculaticn,
In the end we never found out why the nemes were wanted,

On Australia Day - 26 January 1943 - there occurred what must
surely have been one af the most unusual celsbrations of that day ever
recorded, The A.I.F. members of the P.0.W, camp carried out a ceremonial
perade on the Barrack Sguare. With “cockatops™ posted to give adeguate
warning if any Japanese sppeared, all Units assembled on the Square and
were inspected by "Black Jack” Galleghan, Although the turn—out was not
gs spick and span as in happier pre-war days, each men tock pride in
marking the occasion by having his few articles of clothing in as neat and
clean a condition as possible, and in the circumstances the turn-out was
quite impressive, After the insgection there was a merch past, at which
"Black Jack™ took the salute, From two of our many hiding places were
produced a Union Jack and an Australian flag, and “B,J." took the salute
standing in front of these two emblems, The occasion was most impressive
and proved once again, as had the "Barrack Sguare incident®™ that the
merale end spirit of the P,0.W, were being maintained at a very high level,
A great deal of the credit for this must go to "B.J." for the persansl
example he set,

About this time gpeculation becams rife following & decision
of the I,J,A, that all prisorers should be inoculated against dysentery.
We were given the first irjection on Fridasy 22 January 1943, end the
gecond on Baturdey 30 January, On Saturday 13 February there was held
another parade, but this one was quite different from ogur Australia Day
parade, This one was held on the orders of the Japsnese, so that a
movie might be taken, Meedless to say no great care was taken with our
turn-put, for our assessment of the situstion was that this film was
probatly to be used by the Japs for propagarda purposes to mark the first
anniversary of the fall of Singapore and we had no intention of letting
1t be thought that the Nips were meking clothing issues to us when in
fact we were still making do with the small supplies each man had carried
with him on 17th February 1942. On the other hand we marched with heads
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up and chins in, carefully in step and in line, for we were alsoc determined
that cur pearing would make it clear to all that we were not in any way
gejected or broken spirited, and that we were still s disciplined booy of
men despite the effects of twelve months of imprisonment, The other way
the Japs marked the first anniversary of the fall of Singapore didn't
gppeal to us in the least - they cut our daily ration of rice by 3 ozs.
On Saturday 20th February 1943, I suffered what I thought must surely be
the lowest degradation to be imposed on me, when I in company with all
other P.0,W. was subjected to what the Nips called "a dysentery test”,
This consisted of bending over with the body at right angles to the legs
gnd then having a glass rod inserted into the anus, Mever hawving tbeen

a deviate from normal in the past (nor, I must make it clear - since)

I found the experience particulsrly loathscma. The theory behind the
procedure was that material adhering to the glass rod when 1t was with-
drawn was cultured to determine whether any dysenterlic bacteris were
present. Had the operation been performed by a Eurcpean it would have
oeen bad enough, but to suffer it at the hands of a bloocdy Nip was
particularly abhorrent. On Friday Sth March 1343 the purpose of the
various tests beceme apparent, The Japs issued a warning order that a
large work force would be required to move on 10th March., This perty
was known as D" Force, and comprised about 2,500 men, finally daparting
on 14th and 16th March, but no Sigs. were included, However, shortly
afterwards, a further small party, known as "E"™ Force was reguired and
with this contingent went 25 of our Sigs, boys.

The Bth April 1943 proved to be s fateful day for many
prisoners of war, On thet day the Jepanese issued @n order for the
foarmation of a work-force of 7,000 men, of which half were to ke
Australians, This was the ill-fated "F" Force which left Changi for an
unknown destination in the week commencing 18th April 1943,



CHAFTER IV

"E" EQRCE AND THE BURMA AAILWAY

15 April 1343 to 20 July 1943

The order from the Japanese requiring the formation of “F"
Farce stated that as the supplying of food to Singepore Island was
beceming more and more difficult, it hed been decided to move a party
of spproximately seven thousand men to ancther srea in pleasant hilly
country where conditions would be first-class and there would be plenty
of good food. Although the P,0,W, would be reguired to do some work,
the order went on, conditicns would be much better than those existing
cn Singapore Isiand and for this reasen it would be in order to include
37% of "light duty" sick men, No marching would be required of the sick
men and, because of the more ettractive conditions which would exist,
band instruments and any available sports gear should be taken, The
alluring picture painted by tre Jepanese resulted in men clamouring to be
included in the party, the old Army adaege of "never volunteer for anything"
going overbosard in the enthusiasm engendered,
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On the day that the Japs issued the order it wes made clear
to me that I would be going with the party. Wy C.0,., L, Col, Kappe;
hed been sppointed to command the Australian compenent and he required
me as his Steff Captain (Administration) and Jim Hardacre as his Staff
Captain Ruartermaster, Ben Barrett was tc command the Signals element
of 250 men.
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On Wednesday, 14tk April, we had our first Cholere injection,
and the next day were given a first Plegue injection and were egain
"glasgs—rodded”, 1.J,A. orders provided for the Engllsh half of the
Force to move first, with the Australiens to follow, but with typical
cussedness they decided on 17th April te reverse the order and instructed
that the msove of the Australians would start the next day, This
alteration was to have fatal effects for many, as it meant the Aussies
never had the second Cholera end Flague injectians,
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Col. Kappe, Jim Hardacre and myself were included in the
second party to move, and we left Selarang at 0430 hours on Mondey
19th April. Ben Barnett, with his Sigs. personnel, had cone the day
befora, In the pitch darkness we were transported by truck to Sinmgapore
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rallway station, and on the platform there I had my first encounter with

a Korean named Toyama, He was a member of the Japanese guard on the
train and was later to become only too well known to many Australians,

He had a shacking temper, and usually carried a golf club. His favourite
expression was "I am an educated gentleman - I get very angry." He was
glmost always "angry" and when he was he belaboured the hapless P,O,W.

in his vicinity with the golf club, On many occasions I was grateful

for the nimble footwork I had acquired in my previcus relationship with
Sgt. Sanc at Adam Park, When I first met Toyema he was jumping up and
down with rage on the platform of Singapore station yelling "Baggage nai,
men yes." We were to be transported in all-metal enclosed rice trucks,
28 men to a truck, In accordance with Japanese instructions the men

had brought with them all their personal belongings, including folding
beds and other amenitiss manufactured or acguired in the previous 12 months,
but on Singapore station came the first of many rude awskenings. ' With
2B men to e truck it was obwvious that there was no rcom for any baggage
apart from essential perscnel belongings, Toyama, who could spesk a
little English, made it clear to me (in my capacity as Admin, Officer

I was egain charged with conducting negotiations with the Nips) that there
was cnly one truck for basggage, and that had to accommodate, in addition,
three seniocr Jap guards, Col, Kappe, Jim Hardacre and myself, In the
event there was room, as baggage, for only our precious stock of medical
supplies and cocking gear and the men had, perforce, to leave many of their
prized possessions on the platform, The three guards had one half of our
truck and we three shaered the other half with the baggage.

The train left Singapore station at 0650 hours, and before long
the sun began to beat down upon the all-metal rice trucks, Even with both
side dcoors open the temperature bscame unbearably hot in our truck which
contained in addition to the baggage only six bodies - we three and three
Nip guards. The 28 men in each ef &he other trucks sweltered in most
uncomfortable circumstances, Each man had about three squere fest for
himself and his personal belongings, barely enogugh to sit down, No tollet
accommodation of any kind was provided and stops where the men wers allowed
gut of the trucks were few and far between. Even at these stops it was
necessary to use the storm-—water ditches at the side of the track. Thay
had alreedy been used for this purpose by the first train load the day
before, and their condition may be easily imagined. I shuddered to think
of what awaited the following train-loads.,

We reached Gemas, about 120 miles from Singapore, in the evening,
end here we were provided with our only meal for the day, It consisted
of a small emount of watery soup and a mug of boiled rice, The train then
went on and as night fell the men in the trucks began to organise themselves
for sleep, It was quite impossible for all 28 men to lle down simultaneols—
ly, and sleeping had to be done in shifts, sbout one-third sleeping while
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the others steod, As the journey extended over four nights most were
suffering badly from lack of sleep when it concluded, We passed through
Kuala Lumpur at 0300 hours on 20th April, and there were given rations
for that day,. Here was g problem - eat the rice then while it was warm
and wait till the next day for another meal, or eat it later - cold.

I settled for cold rice later, The next meal didn't come until the

late afternoocn of the next day - Wednesday 21 April - when we reached
Haadyi, As usual, it consisted of a little thin scup and some rice,

On the fourth day, at Lemah at 1800 hours we were given our fourth meal -
recipe same as before - and on Friday 22 April we detrained at Bampong

in Thailend at 1400 hours after a journey lasting 105 hours at an averags
speed, including stops, of a 1ittle owver 10 miles per hour.

No—gne who has not travelled something over 1,000 miles in an
over-crowded all-metal rice truck, completely devoid of sanitation, with
totally inadequate supplies of food at irreguler intervals, without even
a wash, let alone a shave, over a period of 4% days, cen imagine how we
felt, We must surely have looked a rag-tail army, Stubble sprouting
ocn every face, eyes red-rimmed from lack of sleep, muscles aching and
stiff and clothes crumpled and untidy. And just so that we would properly
appreciate our position we were confronted with a large notice which
proclaimed "AULES FOR PASSING COOLIES AND PRISONERS OF WAR", In the
gyes of the Japanese we were just one class lawsr than the poor cocolies -
the lowest of the low. The great majority of owr guards were Korean
and this was our first experlence of thils section of the Imperial Japanese
Army, We soon found that they were far less desirable types than were the
fighting Japanese soldiers with whom I had previously had to conduct
rnegotiations, Headed by the manliacal Toyama they would beat up a
priscner on the slightest provocation, and freguently.for none at all,
They took a special delight in assaulting officers end tall men, In
addition to the three senior guards who travelled in the same truck &s
Col, Keppe, Jim Hardacre and me there had been a truck load of guards at
the back of the train and meny of the men had already suffered at thelr
hands during stops on the Jjourney.

After detraining at Bampong we were required to march about
@ mile to a staging camp, carrying all our belongings, but a truck wes
provided for the cooking gear and medical supplies, It will be remembered
that almost cre-third of the men were less than fit when we left Singepore,
gnd the extended train jJjourney had added to this number, In conseguence
there were many who lagged on the march and they were "encouraged" by the
guards with the help of boots, fists and rifle butts, Conditions in the
staging camp were almost beyond description, It had been used by passing
bodies of native labour who had been impressed by the Japanese into a
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labour corps for the construction of the Thai-Burma railway, Their
standerds of hygiene were considerably lower then ours, and the place was
rilthy. There were no latrines as we know them, and the whole of the
camp eres, both inside end gutside the huts, was littered with rubblsh
and Tilth of every description, Flies and vermin sbounded and the whole
effect was completely nauseating.,

Here we experienced another of the rude srhocks which awsited
us throughout the time we spent as railway builders, Tor this is what ouwr
tesk turned out to be - construction of the railway to link Bampong in
Thailand with Thanbyuzayat in Burma. Contrary to the assurgnces given
by the Japs before we left Changi, that no marching would be reguired of
the 30% of sick men, we were now told that all men would be required to
march to an unnamed dastination, To where we were to march, what the
distance would be, how long it would take, we were not told, We wers
told, however, that no transport of any kind would be provided - not
even for medicel supplies, end that whatever was taken was to be ha~d
carried, We were also informed that all marching would be done at night,
that we would be given one night's rest to recover from the train journey,
and that the march would begin the next night, Finally we were told that
contact with the native populaticn was absolutely forbidden and that
anyone disobeying this order would be severely punished. The latter aorder
was flouted by, I should say, $0% of our troops, The position was that
our men were hungry, and the Thals could supply food, Tney would not,
however, accept Japanese money. This difficulty was-sasily settled, for
the Japanese intimation that whatever we took on the march had to be hand
carried - and over an unknown distance - resulted in our men making a
quick reassessment of their needs, Then whatever was regarded as "not
wanted on voyage" was bartered or sold to the Thais, who were ready buyers,
It was impossible for the Japs to police the whole camp area and although
a few unfortunates were caught and bashed the majority got away with it,

We left Bampong at midnight on Saturday 24 April on the first
stage of our march. Our party, originally 600 strong, now numbered 573,
&s it had been necessary to leave behind 22 men who were already too sick
to march, and the Japs had impressed five of owr party to drive their
trucks., Although this first march was along a formed road conditions
were not easy, for the night was dark, without & moon, The only light
came fram torches carried by the Nip guards, Many of the men found that
they were still carrying too much weight, and before many miles had passed
they started to discard gear. The march that night covered 26 kilometres
or 17 miles, and we reached our first halt at 1000 hours. After getting
what rest we could - the Japs provided no shelter for us end we rigged
our groundsheets to furnish a little shade -~ we were started on our next
march at 2215 hours, Again we were forced to leave behind more sick men
who just couldn't march any further - 19 this time, As before, we
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travelled &1l through the night with a2 10 minute rest after each hour of
marching, and at 10 o'clock in the morning we &rrived at Kanburi, Here
gur rest area was not far from the river and a swim parsde was organised,
Water for other purposes was in very short supply, for the gquality of the
river water was highly suspect, but cne of our number located a well

owned by an old Thai woman who, for 10 cents, would not enly supply =
bucket of clear fresh water but rub one's back =5 well, Despite the ban
on contact with the natives, she did a roering trade. e werse told we
woulid stay the night at Kanburi to undergo some "medical tests" the next
day, These turned cut to be the hateful “glass rod" test (we now referred
to this as being "prodded") and the teking of a blood sample, Heaven only
knows to what use, if any, the results of these tests were put,

So on the Tuesday we gll orce more suffered the indignities
associated with "prodding", gave up ten millilitres of our blood, and’
got what rest we could, At 10 p.m, we were on the march egain and after
toiling through the night over another 28 kilometres, arrived at the next
staging camp. By now we were developing a "merch technique", At esach
10 minute halt little fires would be lit throughout the marching column
end graups of men would boil up some tea. A water bottle would ba filled
gnd shared by each group cver the next couple of sections of the march,
This procedure eased the strain of marching for the fit men, and was of
great value to the large percentage who were alrsady less than 100% fit.
The capacity of the Australiasn soldier to improvise in even the worst of
condltions contrasted strengly with the seeming inability of ocur English
counterparts to do so to the szame extent and accounts, I am sure, for
the fact that whereas 62,.9% of English P.0.W. who toiled on the railway
in "F" Force died &s a result, deaths among the Australian component,
which was approximetely equal in number, totalled 259.1%. Our Signels
boys, in particular, were most efficient scroungers, and cn meny occasions
I was indebted to numbers of them Tor material assistance, Recocgnising
that my official position deprived me of the opportunities of relieving
the Japs of some of their privileged possessions & bend of my lads, avcng
whom Jimmie Ling was & prominent membesr, often supplemented the official
ration issues of Ben Barnett, Jim Hardacre, and myself with "unofficial”
issues adroitly purloined — though not without great risk to themselves -
from our Nip guards, flthough Ben was marching & day ahead of Jim Mardecre
and me we had g1l had one day together at Kanburdi, due to the two=day stay
there for the medical tests. Whilst there our generous Sigs. lads had
presented us with a large bottle of Saki, six guite fresh eggs, and two tins
of condensed milk, We mixed the whole lot together - Saki, raw eges and
condensed milk - and the result proved to be an unusual, but not unpleasant-
tasting mess, I noticed that the two teetotallers - Barnett and Stahl -
were not at all backwerd in downing their share.
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On Thursday 29 April 1543 we spent the day at No. 4 hzlt - Wampo -
after a march of 24 kilos, |Whilst I constructed a shelter for our bivouac
Jim Hardacre went walkabout to see what he could find. He was back in a few
minutes, "Auick," he said, “give me owur dixles, I can get some sago."

In a couple of minutes he returned with each dixie helf filled with boiled
sago covered with & rich looking milk, Quickly we disposed of this
unexpected delicacy, and we settled down to get some sleep, As T was
drowsing off Jim said, "Like the sago?™  "Sure did," said I, “How about
the milk?" asked Jim, "Lovely," I responded. "Wonder where they got
it" said Jim, "seen any cows around?" "No," I admitted. "Or goats?"
asked my friend, "Now that vou mention it - no I haven't" I told him,

He could keep a straight fece no longer. "The Thal woman who made the sago
supplied it on the spot" =aid Jim, The realisation that I had had a further
dose of Mother's milk after & lapse of 34 years didn't cause me the loss of
cne mament's sleep, but I did wonder what alternative food the woman's baby
got.

We stayed at Wampo overnight and set off at 8 p,m, on Saturday
1at May for the next leg of the march. This terminated at Tahsoa - 2B kilos
ch - at 9 a.m, the next morning, but rot before two events occurred which are
indelibly stamped in my mind, As had been the case since the start of the
trek from Bampong, I was marching at the head of the column, in company with
the senior Jap guard, The C,0, was in his accustomed place, fifty paces
behind, On this leg of the march we weare traversing heavily timbered country
which had been becoming more and more typical jungle since leaving Kanburi,
Aight from the start of this night's march I hed noticed that the Nip at the
head of the column seemed rather nervous, darting glances intoc the darkness
right and left with almost every step he toock., His worry was soon exolained
as he said, with a gesture which embraced the whole of the jungle ahead end
astride us, "Tora, Tora", Somebcdy had chviously told him there were tigers
in the eres, and I didn't see why I should lighten his concern so, nodding
my head vigorously, I embraced the whole of the jungle in a wide sweep of
both my arms and said, "Tora, tora, tora", The effect was instantaneous,
but not what I had expected, He immediately turned to me,:'pushed his rifle
into my arms and said, "You - shoot." As I had no desire whatever to carry
the extra nine pounds that his rifle weighed I promptly gave it back to him,
telling him in good honest Australian what he could do with his rifle, and
adding for good measure that T hoped it hurt, He wasn't very pleased with
me, and tried to crack my skull with the butt of the rifle, but thanks %o my
by now much-practised footwork, aided by the dark of the night, he didn't
get within a bull's roar.

His fear of tigers was, however, genuine and he was determined to

waste no time in cetting to ocuwr destination, 5o he stepped it out and
succeeded in considerably irking our C,0, "Stahl", called out the C.0,
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"Tell that bloody Nip to slow down — the men can't keep up." I did my
best to convey this to the Nip, but he couldn't care less, He probably
reasoned that if our men couldn't keep up, and some straggled, the tigers
would eat them and not the Nip, And so, throughout the night, the
unequal battle continued. Time after time the C.0. chorused from his
position fifty paces o the rear, ™Stahl, .tell .that bloody Nip to slow
down,"™ Time after time, without result, I tried to do so. Finally,

as dawn wes bresking, the C.0. called out for the umptesnth time, "Stahl,
tell that bloody Nip to slow down." Something snapped, I was not then,
nor am I now, an unduly profans individual. But I nad reached the end
of my tather, All night I had tried to do as instructed, as instructed
by a C.0., 50 paces away who did not have to cope personally with a scared
end bloody-minded Nip, and who, though he may have found the march wearing,
could at least march without the continuous perscral discomforta wvisited
cn me gvery time =omething happened which frightened or displeased the Nip,
And so0, as I say, someihing snapped. Using a four letter word which I
hated then and still do, I called out to the C,0, "All fluffing night
you've been telling me to tell this fluffing Nip to fluffingwell slow
down, If you think you can do any better fluffingwell come up here and
fluffingwell do so," Suddenly there was complete silence as the shock

of the verbal encounter over the heads of a hundred or so men engulfed us
all, I wes =ppalled, Realisation of the engrmity of my offence hit me
&s my anger coolsd as quickly as it had arisen, I waited for the blast
from the C,0,, with a mental visicn of a court martial unpleasantly in my
mind, There was still no sound apart from the shuffling of feet on the
ground as the column continued on, The seconds dragged by. Suddenly it
was gogparent that there would be no response from the C,.0. - not then at
any rate — and as if on & signal, the men started talking emong themselves
again, When we reached the end of the march at Tahspa I reported to the
C.0., breced for the blast, It didn't come. It never did,

Tahsoe was a supply depot for the Japanese, and there were guite
g8 few Thal villagers living in the vieinity from whom our boys obtained a
good deal of extra food, including eggs, by the use of the by naw well-

known barter system, There was also a Japaness hospital, with a Nip medico
in charge,

We marched out of Tahsoa at 8 p,.m. that night and errived at
No, 5 halt, Kanyu, at 8 a.m, after a march of 22 kilometres, Leaving Kanyu
at & p,m. that night we arrived st Kinsaiyo, a shorter distance of only
18 kilos away, at three in the morning of Monday 3 Nay,

We bedded down immediately on arrival, but when I awoke, in
broad daylight, I received guite & shock, Blank spots had suddenly sppeared

in my eyesight, and as I locked at Jim Hardacre, seated beside me, I could
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see only portions of his face, It seemed he had quite large holes in his
face, end as I didn't really believe what I saw I reported on sick parade.
Our own medicos made & clinical disgnosis of Retrobulbar Neuritis - caused
by a deficiency of vitamins in the diet - and the Jap officer in charge of
the Kinsaiyo camp decided to return me to the Haspital at Tahsoa, I
remained in ceamp when our party marched out that night, and was returned

to Tehsoe, vie a Nip truck, the next day, The Jap medico examined my
eyes, confirmed the diegricsis made by cwr own medico, and after considering
the matter for five days, decided there was rothing he could do for me, and
at 10 e.m, on Tuesday 11 Way I left Tahsoa, again by Nip truck, to rejoin
the work party. In sddition to myself there was & party of Japs on the
truck, and glso another Australisn officer, We gll sat on top of the load
of supplies on the truck, end the total weight was cbviously fer more than
the truck was designed to carry. At one stage it was labouring up a bit
o &n 1lncline when it gave obvious =igns of conking out, The Nips jumped
of, and so did the other Aussie officer but I wasn?’t told to do sc, so I
stayed put. It was & bad error of judgment, for one of the Nips grabbed

a rod of reinforcing wire which, unluckily, was part of the supplies carried
on the truck, and did his best to breax it on my back. This was the worst
bteating I suffered as & P.0,W, and you may be sure that when that truck
lebcured agein, as it often did on the meny rises on the road, I didn't
wait to ke told to get off,

Although the Jap doctor had decided there was nothing he caould
do for my eyes 1 had personally made good use of the five days I had spent
at Tahsoa, and had easten countless nurbers of eggs. I'm swre this assisted,
and I think the relief from coping with the Jap guards on the march also
probably helped in making some improvement in my sight, for although the
Retrobuibar Neuritis parsists until this day, the blind spots are rot as
large as they were on thet morning at Kinseiye, Treatment I received on
my return to Changli a yeaer later alsc helped,

The truck perty camped that night et the side of the road. The
Nips allccated to the other A,I.F, officer {I'1l call him "Annie" which was
the name by which he was known to the men in his own pletann] and me the
Job of keeping a bright fire burning overnight. for they still believed they
were in tiger country. "Annle" and I did this in two-hour shifts, and were
not really unhappy about it for by now we were in quite mountainous country
and the nights were rather cold, We moved on early the next morning end at
9 a.m, arrived at No., 11 halt, krown as Tamrempat. The men of the 30th
Battalion had marched in that morning end I joined their working company
which moved out at 7,30 p.m, that night. We arrived at No, 12 halt =
Konkoida - at 9,30 the next morning after s march of 23 kiles, I learned
that my C,0, = he to whom I had been so rude on the early morning of Saturday
et May — was also in the camp, but was isolsated due to an sttach of Scabies,
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Though he did not know it at the time the C.0, was fortunate to be isolated,
for portion of Konkoida camp was occupied by a Thai Labour Corps amongst
whom a number of deaths had occurred in the last Tew days. Several corpses
were still lying in the huts, Though we did not know it at the time they
had died of Cholera, After an overnight stop at Konkoida our party rmoved
on at 8 p.m. on Friday 14 May and arrived at Shimp Nike at 8 a.m, the next
morning., Again we steyed overnight but before we moved on an Sunday

16 May Tive men went down with Cholera, We left them behind and gt 4 a.m.
on Monday 17 May we started what turned out to be the last leg of our march =
12 kiles to a place called Shimo Sonkrai, which we reached at B.30 a.m, that
morning,

It is interesting to compare the "no marching® pramise of the
I.J.A, before we left Singapore with what asctually took place. Tne march
was leng and extremely ardupus, it totelled about 300 kilometres or 187 miles,
and it laid the foundations for the widespread debilitetion of "F" Force
which played & major part in increasing the death rate from infectious
diseases -~ Cheolera, Malaria, Oysentery, etc, pnd, of course, the fact that
the Nips sent the Aussie comporent of the Force off with only a partial
inoculation against Cholers aggravated the position still further,

There was nothing to fill us with comfort on our arrivel at
Shimo Sonkrai, A numter of huts had been erected, but they were roofless
and floorless, They were of standard pattern, 100 metres long by 6 metres
wide, each intended to accommodate 200 men. They were constructed solely
of bemboo, which grew in wild profusion in the surrounding jungle — stems
4 inches wide were the rule, and not the exception, Our first job was to
roof and floor the huts, The floors were made of bamboo slats,; raised half
a metre fram the ground, and two metres wide, running.down both sidss of the
huts, This left & two metre passsge down the centre of esch hut, Each
mert was allotted floor space of one metre by two metres,

The day efter we arrived at Shimo Sonkrai we suffered our Tirst
death from Cholera, By Friday 21 Way eleven men were down with this diseas=s
and twd more had died, Roofing of the huts was commenced that day - the
roofing materiel was a dried reed known as Atap, applied in overlapping
layers, and I never cease to marvel at the efficiency of this primitive form
of roofing which withstcod the heaviest monscon rains, Also, cn that dey,
the first of our men were set to work on the railway and on the next day,
Saturday 22 May, I too was out on the railway job in charge of & working
party, I had fifty men in my party and our first job was a very simple cne.
The river, which we had followed at reasaonable proximity for the whole of
the march, flowed past the camp site, Just north of the camp, diverted by
a small hill, the river had a U turn before resuming its north-south flow.
Unfortunately the path of tke railway crossed the deviatiocn in the flow of
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the river, and the Jeps had decided that the bend in the river had toc be
eliminated, The method? My tand of fifty men would dig & cutting

throwgh the hill - by hand, The two sides of the U deviation were about
fifty yards epart, and the river was epproximatsly 20 yards wide. I
calculeted there would be not less than 5,000 cubic yards of soil to be

dug and cerried away, ready to fill in the U when the river wes straightened,
This would be about two montha'! work for the fifiy men, so you can imegine
my surprise when the littls Nip private in charge of the operation conveyed

to me in brcken English that he wanied the work finished that day. "Yau
promisa? he said, Knowing the futility of giving a flat denial I said
"] promiee we will do what we can, " &t 4,30 p.m, that afternoon the

Monsoon broke and it started to rain, If one has not experienced a.
monsocnal rein it is guite impossible tc eppreciete what this inwvolves,

The skies fell in, and in no time the rain became a deluge, It continued,
without let-up of any kind, until sarly August,

I saw the onset of the rain as literally a Heaven-sent opportunity
to distract tre attention of the Jap soldier from the very small amount of
progress «€ had made on our task, We had made sbout as much impression on
the hill asz cne bite from a mouse would maks in 8 whole cheddar cheesse, and
for some time the Nip had beesn getting more and more restless at our lack
of progress. So I seized cn the rain as g resson to suggest to our over-
seer that I should take my men beck to camp, explaining as best I could with
his limited undsrstanding of Erglish that if they continued to work in the
rain they would certeinly become sick and soon he would have no workmen on
the job, The Jap was even more naive than I could heve hoped for - he
abviously didn't know that tne start of the monsoon meant it would he raining
just as hard the next day, end the day after that, and indeed, for the next
three months - and after s littile initiel hesitation he sgreed. I had my
toys beck in camp, all tools checked in, by 5,30 p,m,, Tive hours before any
of the other work parties returned,

In the esvent that Saturdsy proved to be the only day I was allocated
for work on the railway, Our medical situsiticrn was deteriorating hourly, end
forced a re-organisaticn which placed rme in charge of No, S Company., The
duties attaching to this command kept me within the confines of the camp ares,
so I never did ses the river cutting job finished.

Hany af the huts were still without roofs - the insistence of the
Japanese in requiring men for railway work hed limited our reoofing programme -
and the only shelter which many had from the never-ceasing rain was their
groundsheet, The majority aof owr workforce went out to work wet, worked in
the rain, usually for ten to twelve hours, returned to camp wet, ate in the
rain, and slept under what little protecticn they could get from B ground-
ske=et, In these conditions it was inewvitable that our heslth situation must




deteriorate rapidly. By Thursday 27 May we had had 24 deaths from Chaolera
ard 74 more cases wera isclated on "Cnolera Hill" in & tented aree gpart
frcm the main camp, and many more were hospitalised with Melaria, Dysentery,
Beri-bari and Malnutriticn,

Vigorous representations to the Japanese resulted in them soresing
ihat all work on the railway should cease for three days and that our men
would spe~d that time in making the camp more habitable, Accordingly the
next day 211 Tit men went to work with a will to roof the nuts, dig latrines,
etc, - £5 cen be imagined the latter job was no easy one with inches of mud
ccvering the ground - and, our urgent requests for Cholera vaccine having at
lzst produced results, every man received his second anti-Cholera injecticn
to hoost the first one given at Chengl over a month before, Threa medicos -
Major Bruce Hunt of Perth, Capt. Lloyd Cahill of Sydney, and Capt, Col. Juttner
of Wcodsids near Adelaide, - between them inoculated over 1800 men, a *
herculeen effort by any standerd,

Unfortunately, the Japanese did not hanour their promise of no .
reilway work for three days, and orn Saturday 29 May 720 men were back on
railwey constructicn, Our positicn was rapidly becoming desperate, end on
30th May the following letier was submitted to the local Japanese commancer:-

30th May, 1943,

To:= OfFicer in Charge,
Shimo Eankrai Camp,

The medical =situation in this camp is extremely grave
and is becoming worse every haur. At the present moment Cholera
is racing - there have been 37 deaths and there are over &0 patients
in hospital, New cases are occurring at the rate of 25 or more
daily,

Dysentery is still a sericus problem and many men are =0
debilitated by prolonged Dysentery or Diarrhoea that it will be many
weeks before they are fit for eny form of work - meanwnile thedr
resistance to Cholera or other dissases is seripusly impaired,

4 Maleria is rapidly increasing and we anticipate that within
a wesk or two theres will be hundreds of sufferers.,

Taking the situation as a whole it is our anticipation

tkat within one momth there will not be 250 men in this camp 7it o
do a day's work.

%
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The resenns for this situetion are that the men in this camp have osen
sunjected to treatment which it is wrong for any civilised Nation to
inflict upon its prizoners of war,

In detail:-—

1.

5%,

The men, before leaving Changi, were weskened by Dysentery and
deficiency diseases [Beri-beri and Pellagrae) and were in no
candition to withstarnd infectious dissmzes.

An assurance was given by the I,J,A, at Changi to the Commander
A,I.F, at Changi that fcod would he better here than in Changi
and that troops would not have to march from the train to thelr
destinatlion, Neither of these promises has been kept,,
Relying on the second promise meny men totally wunfit ta march
were included in the force - very many of trese are now in
hospitel, some nave dled,

The hygiene of the camps on the road was appelling and hundreds
of men were successively inflicted by Dysentery, by Melaria, and
finally by Crolers — the present tragedy is the result,

The conditions of marching were sxtremely arduous and in scme
cases unwerrantably cruel, Sick mern were driven out onta the
road night after night, in scme cases with high fever or =sctive
Dysentery. As = resuvlt when the men arrived here they were
completely exkausted,

After arrival men sere pJt in an unhygienic, badly situated
cerp, roofless and with very bad latrine accommodation. a1l
conditions idesl for the scread of disease were present end
disease has, in conseguence, rapldly spread — your own report
thet 53 positive results for Cholera were found in apout 300
apparently healtny men shocwed how repidly snd widely the spreed
took place,

No adequate rest wes given to men, nor was =ny assistance given
in response to requests for help. On the contrary men wers
sent out to work a-=d kept cut cf camp 12 to 13 hours & day in
the pouring rain - conditicns typical NOT of the honourable
treatment of prisoners of war, but of slave labor,

At the present moment:- ({approxirately)
37 men &re dead of Cholera
85 men are in hospital witr Cholera
220 men are in hospital with other disesses




140 men are excused all duty on account of sickness, and
many of these would te in hospital if there were enaough
room or drugs or nurses,

150 men are so weakened oy 1lllness that they are only Fit

for light duty,
120 ren are being used (or have been used) in the care of
the sick, and of these 30 have already become so sick as to

have been admitted to hospital,

Thus about B0D men out of 2,000 have become invalids or have
been reqguired to nurse the sick within 14 days of arrival in
this camp - and the number is likely to increase raoidly.

In view of the above fects we demand:-

1,

2,

That this dacument be Forwarded to the Representative
of the Internaticnal Red Cross in Bangkck or Rangoon,

That all work cease, NOT for 3 days, but indefinitely

until the gresent Ehnlera epidemic has been fully cnntrﬂ]jled.

Tn this circumstance we draw your attention to the promise

given cn 27th May 1543 that &ll work would cease for 3 days.

This promise was broken the day after it was given, The

reasons for asking for all work to cease are:-

(a) To enable all necessary construction work around the
camp on latrines, rcofing and drainage to be done,

(b) To enable hundreds of debilitated men to rest and

recover their health,
(c) To permit of emough men being allotted to nirsing work

to give adecuste treatment to the hundreds of sick
men, and rest to the present overworked and exhausted

nursing staff.

Supplies of edequate drugs, disinfectants, soap, lights
and other medicsl supplies,

The supply of blenkets for the sick,

The supply of invalid focds, soups and tea and sugar Tor the
sick,

The improvement of the camp diet by extra vitamin-containing

food, for example:—
rice polishings, towgay, meat, oil and fats.
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7. The supply of suppressive atebrin for the whole camp —
the aresent small guinine dosage is quite inadequate
and without effect.

8. The supply of water containers, especially 44 gallaon
drums, to enable water to be used on a large scale, elso
emaller containers for water boiling to make sterilisa-
tion poasible.

g. Tne supply of a large rumber of tents (waterproof) for
the Cholere srea, which 1s extending daily. At least
90 lsrge tents sre reguired spart from what is now in
the camp,
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), Tre supply of oil For dealing with mosguito breedirng
places in the camp - & visit from Capt. Wilson, Malaria
expert at H,Q, camg, ls urgently necessary to locate
these,

11. The supply of protective clothing - white coats for
nurses handling Cholers,

12. £s soon as the health of the camp has been Improved, which
may not be for several mcnths, the gvecuation of the area
by troops a~d their subseguent treatment in & manner
befitting the honourable Japenese Metion whase reputatian
must suffer gravely if the pressat coanditions continue,

We demand that tris document be laid before Lt, Col. Banno and the
senior Japanese Medical Cfficer for the area, and also tefore

Lt, Col. Harris [the senior P.0.W, officer) at the earliest possible
mament - preferatly tonight,

This letter was signed by the three senior combatant officers
in the camp - Wajors Johnston, Tracey, &nd Anderson - gnd by the senior
redical officer Major Brice Hunt, It spesks volumes Tor the courage of
these four officers tha® they were pregasrad aelrmest literally to lay their
heads on the chopping blozk in their erdeavours fto gain some improvement
in conditions for the men under their command, Bruce Hunt, the medico, was
a man with whom I was toc have a close association in the following months,
He was & big man physisally, rmost capable, but vain and arrcgant to the point
of rudeness, but he was decisive, and brave in his dealings with the Japanese,
and to me his strengths outweighed his weaknesses, He had already suffered
st the hands of the Nips, At No, § halt, et the time set down for the nsxt
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march to begin he fell-in 37 sick men gpart from the main parade, and with
Najor Wyld, the interpreter, he stood in front of them. The Jepanese
corporal in charge of the march approached with a large bamboo in his hand
and spoke menacingly to Major Wyld, who answered in a placatory fashicn,

The Corporal's only reply was to hit Major Wyld in the face, Another

guard followed suit, and as Major Wyld staggered back the Corporal thrust

gt the Major's genitalie with his bamboo, Major Hunt was left standing in
front of the patients and was immediately =et upon by the Corporal and two
other guards - one tripped him while two others pushed him to the ground.

The three then set about him with bamboos and boots, causing extensive
bruising of the skull, back, hends, and arms, and breaking a bone in the left
hand. Having disabled Bruce Hunt, the Corporal then made the sick men march
with the rest of the troops, At the next halt, when he once more tried to
protect sick men, Major Hunt was again struck and his patients were forced

to march, He adopted the practice of marching at the rear of the colemn to
succour the stragglers and to endesvour to prevent any molestation by the
guards, His efforts were usually crowned with success, but often at the
expensa of personal indignity and injury. As will be seen I was to have .-
ample opportunity in the next few months to study this most interesting
character in all his moods.

On Monday 31 May, the day following the lodgment of the protest
igtter, the I,J,A, demand for workmen for the railway was refused, Oeaths
by now amounted to 51, and both Majors Joknston and Anderson became ill and
were admitted to hospital. Major Hunt expressed as his opinion, in view of
the increasing demeand for workers for the railwaey, that the only place where
sick men could be assured of security was in hospital, and that every possible
faclility for treatment should be afforded to them, He also considered that
isnlation of Dysentery patients was advisable in the interests of the remainder
of the troops.

A plen was asccordingly orgenised, and put into action that very
day, whereby the entire hospital was re-organised end the number of patients
practically doubled — from around 400 to nearly B00, A special sick parade
was held for all men suffering from any form of Diarrhoea or Dysentery.

Over 300 cases previously being treated in the lines were admitted to hospital
85 a result of this parade alone, Six of the twelve camp huts were taken
over for hospital purposes, One block of three huts contained one "Severe
Oysentery" and two "Mild Dysentery" wards, One hut held patients suffering
from severe Malaria end Tropicel Ulcers, a fifth held Malarias and convales—
cents and the sixth was for accommodation of the hospital staff.

Lack of trained hospitel staff, combined with the small number of
medicos available, necessitated the use of combatant officers in the
administration of the hospital., Each ward was organised under control of a
combatant officer with a staff of two or three N.,C.0.8 or clerks to sssist

51,




in keeping records, controlling messing and the liks, In this reorganisation
I was allotted the task of Admissicn and Discharge Officer for the entire
hospital, Knowing how important the records might be to the individuals
concerned I endeavoured to make them as complete as I could in every possible
detail. With the help of the civilian Japanese interpreter attached to the
camp, Mr, Korosayu = he was quite a reasonzble fellow and often came to my
aid during arguments with the mad Toyema, who was unfortunately the No, 1
assistant to the Japanese camp commander — I borrowed (?) some paper from
the Jap office, and supplemented this with an occasionel exercise book found
in a dead man's belongings. When a patient was discharged a summary was
entered in his Pay Book., I also kept a buriasl register and a plan of the
Cemetery on which I carefully entered the locaticn of each grave,

At all stages of the periocd we spent as P,0.W, food and its
preparation and distributicn was a matter of major importance, for most of
the time we were more often hungry than not, We were fortunate in Shimo
Scnkrai camp thet my friend, Capt. Stan Roberts, of 26 Battallon, was in
charge of this vital task, He did a really magnificent job in the most ‘.
trying circumstances,

On 1 June the Japenese demanded 400 men for railway work, and our
edministration compromised oy offering 300 pending a response from Colocnel
Barno to our letter of 30 May. However the Japanese subsequently cancelled
work for the day end later that afternoon Colanel Eanno did in fact call at
the camp. We got little comfort from his visit, however, the cnly definite
statement he made being that it was his job to get the railway through and
he would get it through even though it cost one 1ife for each slesper laid,
This was an horrific prospect, for the line was to be about 400 kilomatres
long and at 1,000 sleepers to the kilometre this meent 400,000 lives.

Calonel Banna contirmued on to visit camps further up the line,
but called at our camp again on his return journey on £ June, By this time
deeths from Cholera in our camp had mounted tc 81 from 155 patients admitted
to "Cholera Hi11" and apparently the experience at an English camp further
cn was even worse, Colonel Banno instructed that work on the reilway be
suspended tempararily, and arranged for Bruce Hunt to vigit the forward camps
to report on medical conditions there, Accompanied by Lieuf, Fukuda,
Major Hunt visited Camps 2 and 3 (Shimo Scnkrai was No. 1) on 5 June, returning
the next day, He had inoculated 380 men at No. 3 Camp ageinst Cholera, which
was just beginning to make its presence felt thers, but he did not get up to
Mo, 5 camp, where English personnel -were guartered, and where Chalera had hit
with great severity, He did however, arrange for improvements in staffing,
administration and medical conditions at Camps 2 and 3.

On Sunday 6 June we were all once again submitted to that mast
degrading operation of "glass rodding" and we were informed that wark con the
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railway would resume the next day, It must be remembered that since 22 May
the rains had continued without a break, conseguently the ground in the camp
area wss an absolute quagmire, and it was about this time that I sustained &
savere loss, I was suffering from an attack of Dysentery, and had a sudden
and vrgent call in the early hours of the morning. I pulled on my boots but
could not wait to lace them up, In my race to the latrines my right boot '
bogged in the foot-deep mud and my foot pulled aut of it, My need was =0
urgent that I could not stop to retrieve my boot then, and though I searched
for it for several minutes on the return journey - getting thoroughly soaxed
in the process - I never found my boot., This was a real calamity, for I
only had the ons pair of boots, and for the rest of my time on the railway I
gither went barefoot or wore wooden clogs - a piece of wood roughly shaped
to the foot, with & piece of materisl ascross the front porticn through which
the toes were poxed,

By this time the only road was impassable to any traffic except the
primitive Yak cart, and food supplies were endangered. The basic ration was
reduced to 17 ozs., of rice and 2 ozs. of beans on 7 June, and on 9 June S0 ,-
men and a few Yak carts were sent to Nike cemp for rations, A similar party
collected some rations from Nike on 10 June, but sufficient food could not be
transported and on 11 June rice was cut to 15% pzs. and the bean supply was
further reduced, This was & serious matter, for we depended on the beans
as our cnly source of wvitamins, Work had resumed on the railway an 7 June,
but out of about 1,850 men in camwp only 230 were available and reasonzbly fit
end by 10 June this number had been reduced to &0. This led +o Lieut, Fukuds
having all our officers paraded and harenguing us on our responsibility to the
Imperial Japaness Army to get the men back on the job, He said that despite
&ll the efforts being made on our account, in very difficult circumstances,
by thz Japanese, we were guite ungrateful and he was well aware that not only
did we not co-operate with the I.J.A. but we deliberately did all we could o
1limit the number of men aveilable for work, He said that unless the strength
of the workforce improved not anly would he make the officers work on the
railway but a percentage of the sick men would also be drefted, The first
threat worried us not at all, for sll officers were quite determined not to
assist the Nip war effort in any way, and cur prime interest was the welfare of
our men. It was to protect their wellbeing, so far as was possible in the
circumstances, that officers went out as supervisors with the work partles.
This was not always the cese in P.0.W. camps for on occasions there was & smell
minority of officers who, to advance their own cause, collaborated with the
Japs, However this was definitely not the case &t Shimo Sonkrai, nor later
&t Tanbaya in Burma,

We were, however, very much concerned with the possibility that the
Japs might attempt to force sick men out to work, Whilst it is true that
some of the men in hospital were not seriously i1l they were nevertheless not




fit for heavy labour, and it is quite certain that if they were forced cut on
to the reilway work many would not survive, Because of the work I was doing
- recording the admissions to and discharges from the hospital - I was caught
up in the middle of this argument, It will be recalled that the mad Korean

- Toyame - was Lieut, Fukude's righthand man (there were many in the camp who
believed there was a much closer relationship) and he was continually urging
me to release more men, With the assistance of the Japanese interpreter

who, as I mentioned previously seemed to be an my side, I survived many a
torrid session, and I was often grateful that I had perfected my footwork in
my arguments with Sjt. Sano at Adam Park, Toyama was also the complete
sadist., Each evening he accompanied me on a round of the wards while he
counted the number of sick men, and in the face of continuing opposition fram
the medicos, the wardmasters and myself, he insisted on all the sick men
sitting to attenticn as he passed, One night, in the ward controlled by
Lieut. Vern Baynes of 2/30 Bn. we came to one critically ill man who just
couldn't raise himself, Toyama was immediately overcome with rage and,
screaming obscenities, ordered the man to sit up, The poor fellow tried
agein, managed a feeble movement and fell back — dead; it transpired. I was
standing behind Toyama, with Vern Baynes on my right, end I saw red, "Toyana,"
I muttered, "you are a dirty rotten little yellaw bastard, and you ought %o he
shot," T don't think he heard me, and I fancy his next action was dictated
by his anger because the sick man kad not sat L He turned around, reached
for the ground, and I saw & mighty right swing coming my way, As I have

said before, I was by then well versed in the art of svasive gction, and I
rocked on my heels, the blow missing the goint of my chin by 8 fraction of

an inch;, Vern Baynes was not so fortunate and, quite unprepared, he took

the full force of the blow on the jaw, He went down — and out. I often
wonder whether he has ever forgiven ma,

As with most bullies, Toyama was a rank coward. Our duties included
checking the number of patients in the Cholera hospital, but he never went
within 50 yards of the place, Each night he sent me in ta do the check, end
be accepted blindly the figures I geve him., Neesdless to say our count was
always right, for I could fiddle the number on Cholera hill to suit our
requirements, t is perhaps appropriate to mention here that Toyama did in
fact suffer the fate that I wishked on him that night, After the Jap surrendsr,
having been found guilty of nurmerous beastly war crimes, he was executed by
firing squad. I was reguired to submit evidence for his trial and even now ,
28 years later, I feel absolutely no remarse in having done so, If aver a
man deserved death it was he.

Toyama was not the only men afraid of the Cholera, We had in our
camp two padres — Father Dolan, a Roman Catholic, and a Church of England
Chaplain, PFrior to the outbreak of hostilities I had been very impressed
with the Church of England man, He had conducted a Church Parade for our
Unit at Johore Behru, and had delivered an address which I thought was most
appropriate to the pcecasion, He had spoken in a manner which had obviausly
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appealed to the troops, and had the appearance of being a man's men, But
=t Shimo Scnkrai his feet turned to clay, Wnereas Padre Dolen spent the
greater part of his time in the Cholerae hespital, ministering to all men
irrespective of religion, the Church of Englend man, in all the time I was
in that camp, never cnce set foot in the Cholera wards,

The food shortage alsc found & very senior officer wanting. We
werg now entirely dependent on man power for carrisge of supplies and
conseguently the armount of rations available became more and more scanty.

On 14 ard 716 June teams of 80 men set of 7 to carry supplies from the Burme
border, The Japanese reduced the rations for sick men, allowing them only

g9 ors, of rice, The allowence for "fit" men was 15 ozs. and we were forced
tn make internal adjustments to the official Jap scele to allow a greater
supply for the sick men, even though this meant reducing the share for the
WEIE" men, The supply of beans was further reduced and for over a month
less than half a bag was issued daily for 1,850 men, It was about this time
that an Australian Lieutensnt Colcnel arrived from Nike to taxe over command
of our troops, One of his first acts was to issue an instruction that he .
was to receive double rations, The reason was, he said, "Someone must get
mack to tell the story of this bastardry and I am the one best qualified to
do it," Despite protests he insisted on his crder being carried cut,

But the bastardry was not confined to the Nips on their side, nor
to this particular officer on our sids, Dne of our other ranke = & Private —
decided to capitalise on the fcod shortage, He broke out of camp one night
- an easy operatlon in the jungle camps where there was no fence round the
compound - @and stole and killed a Thai native's Yek, Meking a number of
trins he sold about 400 pounds of the flesh of the Yak to our meat-hungry
men, charging the equivalent of cne Australisn pound in currency for each
pound of flesh, This was bad enough, but far wocrse was to follow, To
slaughter the Yaek he had used a pick he had approprieted from the Japanese
tool store, and he had left it at the site of the killing, To appreciate
what followed it is necessary to understand that to the Japanese engineers
responsible for building the reilway each individual tcol was as importeant
to them as was an artillery regiment to the Army, a fighter to the Air Force,

# er a destroyer to the Nawy. Each morning the various implements were issued
% to our troops going out to work on the railway, and as easch perty returned
E to cemp they were required to carefully wash and dry each individual tool,
i which was then painstakingly checked into store, Naturally enough in these

8 circumstances the fact that a pick was missing was discovered by the Japs the
night after our Yek killer — I'll cell him Yakkity for identification purposes -
¥ had borrawed it to meke his kill, The last of the working parties didn't

: return until about 11,30 p.,m,, and it was after midnight when the tool shortage
was discovered, Then all Hell broke lopse - one could be forgiven for
thinking we had mislaid & Jap battleship! A11 Compeny Commenders and OC's




of working parties were called out at 1 a.m. and thoroughly berated over the
loss, We were told that there would be no food for anyone except men working
on the railway end hospital patients too sick to leave their beds, until the
nick was found, The theory was that everyone else was to leok for the pick,
Needless to say Yakkity did not own up. He didn't care one jot for the
welfare of anyone other than his own self,

Breskfast time came and went, but there was no food except for the
men who went out to work on the railway, In leter years, after we ware
released from our incarceration at the end of the war, I was often asked to
corment on the behaviour of those who had been F.O.W. In reply I would give
as my opinion, and it was a matter to which I had given & great deal of
thought after observing the actions end reactions of many men in those dark
and difficult days, a belief that, in those circumstances, peaple could be
divided into four main classifications - gold, silver, brass and dross,

In the first category — the gold - were those who would do anything they
could, at any time, to assist their fellow men, irrespective of cost or risk
to themselves, 1In the second oroup - the silver - were those who would ‘do
anything they could to assist others, provided there was no great cost or
risk to themselves. The third kind - the brass - were those who were
interested cnly in their own welfare and would do all they could to advance
it, short of causing injury or harm to others, Then theres was the final
bunch — the dross - consisting of those who were not only interested solely
in their own welfare, but they would do all they could to advance their ocwn
selfish cause regardless of any inconvenience, injury, loss or hurt that
might befall others as a result of their actiocns, I would place ten percent
in the gold classification, fifty percent in the silver, thirty in brass and
ten in dross,

Yakkity, of course, gualified as & full member of the "dross”
class, Not cnly was he the direct cause of most of those in camp going
without food, but he did nothing to correct the situation, In eddition to
the fact that he kept quiet about having purloined the pick, he did gbsclutsely
nothing towards recovering it, Instead, while most of the camp went hungry
he and a few of his cronies gorged themselves con the last of the Yak meat,
However, happenings such as these usually brought to light a member of the
"gold" group, end on this occasion it was a Sjt, Cameron of the Australien
Army Service Corps. He managed to find out where Yakkity had left the pick,
found the spot and retrieved the pricelsss instrument, He then arrenged
to have it "found" under his bed space, and returned to the Nips, This was
at 10.30 in the morning, The Japs punished him by making him stand in front
of the guard-house, from then until3,30 p.m. that afternoon, holding a neavy
weight over his head at arms length., No raticns were issued for lunch, and
it was not until Sjt, Cameron's period of punishment was concluded that
restrictions on the rest of the camp were lifted,
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Yakkity's illegel sctivities did not stop at the killing of the Yak,
Using the cash proceeds from the sale of the meat, he purchased the entire
tobacco stock of a passing itinerant Thai trader. He then sold the tobacco
to the many P.0.W. who craved a smoke, and, taking advantage of the fact
+hat he had cornered the market, charged the equivalent of one pound in
pustrelian currency for one ounce cof tobacce, Those who had run out of cash-
- and there were many, for the 10 cents per day allowed to each man by the
Japs did not last leng - were allowed to purchase on algniﬂg I.0M:Ts
payable in Australia after the war. Yakkity, and others of his ilk,
collected I,0.U,'s for many thousands of pounds, but fortunately the Australian
Governmant, on the return of the P,0,W, to Australia after the war, issued an
instructlon that the I.0,U.'s were not to be honoured,

Our medical problems continued end during the second week in July
a total of 1,479 men were hospitalised out of the aggregete cf just cver:®
1,800 in the camp. After the early days of Jurne the Cholera epidemic waned,
cnd ceased to be a probler, but Malarie hed started to appesr, striking down
more &nd more men, In the latter nslf of MWay more than 200 cases eppedred -
and on 22 June 541 men were confined to hospital suffering from this diseasa.
The period of disability lasted thres or four days, but on 7 July there were
still 475 cases in hospital, due to new cases and releapses, In edditicn it
wes estimated that at least 200 otker patients who were admitted with Dysentery
or other diseases, were alsc suffering from Malaria which occurred as an
intercurrent infection. By 38 [uly there were fewer than 50 in the camp,
out of the total strength of over 1,800, who had not had Halaria, I vas
cne of those few, end I wes forc uﬁate eriough not to cungput the disease in
t4e whsle thres and & half yeers that 1 wes a P.O.W., I can only conclude
that when the mosquitces bit me they agied,

Malsris snd Dysentery were the commonest dlsesses — during my time
at Shimo Sorkrai camp the daily average of Dysentery patients was 450 - out
by mid—Jurie Seri-bari had started to appear in increasing numbers following
the reduction in the supply of beans, and from then on there were always
E0 to 75 Beri-beri patients in hospital, Tropical ulcers, usually caused
by scratches from bambon, became common early in June, and by the end of July
there were over 120 patierts in hosplital with this conditiaon.

Keeping adequate records in these circumstances, falling provisian
by the Japanese of any writing materiel, wes a difficult Jeb, and in Tact
would have been an impossible crne were it not for the use we made of bamboo,
Within the hospital werds, all records were Kept on bamboo slats, and it was
enly on discharge or death that a summary was transferred to my permanent
files, Bamboa four ta five inches in diameter was in abundant supply and
from this bed pans were made, Smaller sizes were used for urine bottles,
The walls of the huts were maede of bambop, and we slept on bamboo slats,




Many and wvaried were the eating utensils and food containers fashioned fram
this material, We even ate bamboo, in the form of shoots, but we did not
know how to cook it properly and I never enjoyed it. FPaths and drainage
systems were also built from bamboo,

Not only did the Japs make no paper available for writing purposes.
They failed to provide any for toilet use, end as a substitute large lesves
from the Jjungle trees were pressed into service. I use the word "pressed"
edvisedly as this is the way we prepared them for use, In their fresh
state they were not of much use, so we put them under our beds and the
warmth of our bodies both dried them out and also flattened them for use,
Keeping the hospital patients supplied was a major job and as the nearer
trees were stripped of leaves within reach we had to go further and further
afield each day to keep up the supply.

Inroads caused by illness of officers resulted in another reshuffle
of duties and on 16 July 1943 I handed over the hospital work to Capt, Bob
Howells of 2/30 Bn. and took up duties as Administrative Officer at Camp H.G.
In the six weeks that I had been at the hospital I had developed the greatest
admiratisn for the work done by our MWedicos. The skills they exhibited,
their care of the sick, and the absolute dedication to duty displayed by each
crne of them were outstanding. Working with the small suppliss of mediclnes
and drugs we carried on the march, supplemented by a minute trickle from the
Japanese, they effected cures in cases which seemwed quite hopeless, Their
reward must surely have been in the comparatively low death rate recorded
in the camp. Although all tut 50 of over 1,800 in the cemp were hospitslised
at least once in the ten weeks to the end of July, deaths numbered only 120 -
and 101 of these were from Cholera,

The next 17 days were pure Hell for me due to the fact that as
Admin., Officer at Camp H.A. I was even more closely associated with that
maniac Taoyara. We were still gulte unable to supply the number of warkmen
required by the Japanese Engineers, and I'm sure Toyama regarded me as being
personzlly responsible for the shortfall - perheps because I hadn't gotten
the sick men out of hospital in numbers to suit him., On 15 July the I,J.A,
had demanded 250 men for railway wark, but we were unable to supply more than
212, This infuriated Toyame who demended I prepare a statement showlng
exactly haw we arrived at this number, I carefully compiled a parads state
detailing the numbers sick in hospital, the number attending the sick, those
employed on camp hygiene [all light duty men], cookhouse perscnnel and those
such as myself employed on camp adrministration. The fact that only 212 of
our men were availasble for railway work cnly enraged Toyama the more. He
gnatched the paper from my hand, tore it into shreds and threw them ocut of
the door, Then he started to tell me, in his own language, exactly what he
thought of me, From behind Toyarma's back, where he apparently thought he
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was =afe, Mr, Koroseyu, the civilian Japanese interpreter, was lookirg at
me and tapping his head significantly, But Toyama must have had eyes in
the back of his head, Turning round suddenly he caught poor Korosayu in
the act, and flattened him with one blow., Korosayu was one of the few
Japanese for whom I ever felt any sympathy.

The rain was still pouring down, the roads were still quite
impassable to traffic, and we were still entirely dependent for our food on
supplies carried from either Nike or the Burma border on the backs of our awn
mert, With nearly 1,500 men in hospital the situaticn was really quite
desperate. With work numbers so low even the Japs realised that something
must be done and on 21 July there was revived an idea that was first mooted
in late June, It had then been suggested, in view of the extent of sickness
in the working camps and the extreme shortage of rations in the Sonkrai aree,
that a hospital camp might be established in Burma nearer the source of food
supplies. It was proposed that such & hospital camp would hold 2,000
petients who would be of two clesses — Firstly men whe were unlikely to
recover from their present illnesses within two months, and secondly old e
men and those with permenent physical disabilities who were unfit for herd
wark, The patients would come from all the working camps in the Nlke and
Sonkrsi areas where the men of "F" Force were situated,

The idea of the haspital camp was the brain-child of our senior
redical officer — Bruce Hunt - who was informed on 24 July that Colonel
Banno with Lieut, Saito, the prosgective I,J,A, Commendant of the Burma
Hospital camp, was proceeding forthwith to Burma to inspect the hosgital
site, and he was instructed to accompany them, This he did, returning on
26 July with the news that the hospital wes to be on the site of en old
working camp which was being renovated, that 500 men from our Sonkrel cemp
were to be transferred to the hospltal camp, and that only men unlikely to
recover within two months were to be included, Colornel Banno told Major
Hunt that no move was likely for at least & week, but with typicel Japanese
cussedness plans were abruptly chanced and on 30 July Bruce Hunt wes suddenly
summoned and informed that he must leave on foot for Burma with an advence
party, within the hour, In additian ta himself the sdvance party consisted
of Capt, Frank Cahill as Wedical Assistant, Capt. Stan Roberts as Hospital
Messing officer and myself as Hospital Adjutant, We were also gllowed to
teke a small party of other ranks, We merched out of No, 1 Cemp, Ehimo
Sonkrai, at 1500 hours that afterncon, barefooted through the knee desp mud,
carrying our small supply of perscnal belongings and protected Trom the still
heavy rain by our groundsheets, The only other time I ever saw Shimo Sonkrai
again was on Friday 26 November 1943 when we opassed the camp site as, following
completion of the railway, we journeyed by rail from Burma to Kanburi in
Thailand on the first leg of our trip back to Chancol,

o
L=




CHAPTER V

TANBAYA HOSPITAL CAMP
3 August 15943 to 24 November 1543

It took us until 3 August to reach our destination - Tanbaya, in
Burma, The first day we marched via the intervening camps to No. 5 Gamp,
shere we stayed the night, This was the last of the "F" Force working
camps, end the last in Thailand. It comprised English personnel and from
here we were allotted a party of 40 all ranks to assist in renavation of the
hospital camp and to prepare to house the patients, We left No., 5 Camp &t
1200 hours on Saturdey 21 July - by truck, to my surprise, for I found the
roads roughly surfaced from here on, I was not aware at that time that
HAN Fayee working from Burma sinece October 1942, had completed the railway
from Thanbyuzayat to the Burma-Thai border and were now working into Thailand.

We arrived late that afternoon at Kando in Burma, after having
travelled along the famed Three Pagodas Pass on the Burma-Thal border, Te
say that I was surprised when I actually saw the three Pagodas would be
understating the case, In my younger deys when I had done & little singing
I had often attempted "The Repad to Mandelay™ and a picture of "the old
Monlamein Psgoda", & cgrand and stately place of worship for the Burmese, was
still fresh in my memory, In the svent the three Pagodas in the Pass turned
out to be facsimiles scarce 5 feet high, set at the edge of the rosd, side
by side, so that the faithful could offer up their prayers on passing.

We were bedded down in a staging camp &t Kando, but after an early
reveille were on our way again, on foot, at 0430 hours the next morning,
After marching ten kilometres we reached a Japanese camp whare we were loaded
onto trucks and transported another 21 kilos. to Aonshi, The riew railway
was in operation from Thanbyuzayat to this point, and after a meal at the
locel camp we were marched to the railway staticn for trensport by train to
Tanbaya, However, after a wait of several hours, during whiieh no train
appeared, we were sent back to the local camp,

We expected to move on again the next day but it passed without

any sign that we would do so, Howawver at 0500 the Tollowing morning we
were -on our way again, proceeding along the railway line, but on foot,
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A fow kilometres from Aonshi we came upon the reason why no treins wers
punning, Tne railway crossed a fast-running river sbout 100 yards wide,

and to our delicht we saw our first evidence of effective action by our

Air Force, Although the rails and sleepers were intact, the middle of the
bridge, for & distance of atcut 20 yards, just wasn't there, Our pleasure
=t the partial destruction of the bridge was somewhat tempered by the fact
that we found we had to negotiate the damaged porticn by stepping from slesper
to sleeper. Held in position only by these sleepers tne rails swayed
violently, and this, combined with the rapid flow of the water only = Tew
feet below, made progress guiie hezardous, However we all got safely across
and then proceeded without further incident to the hospital site gt Tanbayve,
14 kilcmetres distant from Honshi.

Our first sight of Tanbaya inspired no pleasure. It was, of
course, still raining and due tc & complete absence of drains, water was
lying everywhere, and the huts locked to be in poor condition, There were
no cooking facilities and we had no food, but after same delay our guards
arranged for a supply of cocoked rice for our lunch from e Japaneae engineers! .-
cemp ecross the railway frcm owr camp site, Imrediately we had eaten we
started working on a system of drains to tske cofr the surface water, channelling
it into a small creek, about six feet wide, which rar along one side of the
camp site.

+ was fortunate thet we esch carried our cwn bed-roll (I still
kRad my down-Filled sleeping bag] for om that first day at Tantaya the Nips
provided us with nothing aspart from the empty huts, We borrowed the shovels
arnd spades for making the drains from the engineers =scross the line who had
provided the rice for our lunch, and we were indebted ta them alsgc for our
evening meal, and for cur breakfast the next dey, However thet sames next
day - Wednesday 4 August 1943 - things began to leak up. We wcke to find
that, for the first time since 22 May, the rain had stopped, and we had only
occasionzl showsrs during the dey, Later in the morning 20 rice boilers
errived by rail from Thenbyuzayat, azcompanied by an interim supply cf rations,
erd we were able to set up our own kitchen for lunch, Over the next two days
a large supply of food arrived by reil - 70 bags of rice, supplies of flour,
sugar, salt and oil, and some cdried Tish, As was usual with the Nips they
expected us to have the unloading of supplies completed before the train had
even stopped, and it was a case of all hands to the pump, Nip guards with
fixed bayonets lined the route from the railway to the camo, screaming at us
to "speedo, speeda", A bag of rice weighs 220 pounds, and is not a light
load even for a fully-fit man, In our samewhat debilitated condition 1t was
an exceedingly heavy burden, end I was struggling through the mud with a bag
humped across my shoulders when my foot slipped and I went down with the bag
of rice on top of me, Immediately one of the Nip guards raced up and had a
go at me with the butt of his rifls, Fortunately the bag of rice covered me,
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and I hardly felt the blow, but rather incautiously, I told him what I thought
pf him, He immediately reversed his rifle and lunged at me with the bayonet,
but again the beg of rice acted as a shield and all he did was to make & big
hols in the bag and a wvery small cut on my leg, Rice flowed out of the bag,
followed by a minute trickle of blood from my leg. Whether it was the laoss
of the rice or the sight of blood that prompted the Nip's next action, I don't
know - I suspect it was the former, for loss of, or damege to food, was
regarded as a crime in those days - but in any case he eased up the bag of
rice and I struggled to my feet., There was no chance whatever of my lifting
the beg onto my back — it had taken two men to do it at the railway truck -

50 I dragged it slong through the mud, my load getting lighter all the way

as the rice gpilled out,

The main body of patients had not yet started to arrive, but
already several of ow working party had become ill, and by 7th August, 'only
four days after our errival, we'had 14 hospital patients, Mostly they were
cases of Malarie relspses, but several were serigusly ill and on Friday,
12 August, we suffered gur first deaths in this camp when a Private aof the .-
end Loyals, en English regiment, and a Lance Corporal of the 2nd Argyll and
Sutherland Highlanders, a Scottish regiment, died, Burial in those conditions
was an impossibility - we just did not have the fit men reguired toc dig graves,
and crematicn, regardless of religicn, was forced upaon us, We had not then,
ror &t any time later, eny Chaplain in Tanbaya camp, but before leaving Shimo
Sonkral I had obtained from the Anglican Chaplain a copy of a brief funerel
service, I co-opted Warrant Officer John Kerr to assist me and together
we built a funerel pyre. Fortunately the weather was clear that day and
after reading the brief service adjusted for cremation, the two bodies were
laid on the top of the pile of wood and bemboos and the fire was 1it,
Although I could not know it &t the time I was to read that cremation service
over & tetal of 660 bodies before I left Tanbaya,

I was walking past the Tire a little later with our surgean Frank
Cahill, when Frank suddenly exclsimed, "My God, he's waving to us," It
was almost literally true, Quite inexperienced in the art of crematicn we
had put the bodies on the pyre face—up, and, no doubt caused by the contrac-
tian of the sinews and tendons, one of the dead bodies had taken a sitting
positicn and &s we passed one arm slowly rose, We learmed from experience
and in all subsequent cremations the bodies were laid faze-down,

The first batch of patients errived by train from Ronshi, the Jap
engineers having shown the same skill in repairing the rail bridge as they
demonstrated in the Malayan campaign when there were & number of instances
where they had re-opened bridges for traffic within & few hours of their
being blown., Included among the new arrivals were a number of men who were
very sick and within five days we had another two deaths, A fresh outbreak
of Cholera in Thailand resulted in all movement being held up for a couple
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of days, but on 21 August enother party of 50 patients arrived, and we also
suffered ancther death, Rain had started again two days previgusly end
was still falling heavily, end it took us & great deal of time gatting the
cremation fire burning fiercely enough to overcome the rain,

Between 21 August and 7 September 1€ more parties arrived,
Tre condition of many of the petients on arrivel was deplorable, Many
werg in their final days of 1ife, with ebsclutely no hope of survival,
Two men in Number 10 perty died en route end were buried at the side of
the reilway at the mext halt, Mumbers 11, 12, 13, and 15 parties all hed
some patients dead on arrivel st camp - a total of eleven men in all,
Altogether the intake at Tanbaya was 1924 men, end of these 680 had died
by 24 November, It will be seen that the hopes at first held for the
success of the hospital camp were not realised, 660 deaths in three and
a half months out of & total of cne thousand nine hundred and twenty-four °
men grimly summarises the whole ghastly story., My daily diary entries
recorded the pitiful details, I'11 not go through them all dey by day,
but the entries in seven days in September provide an epitome:

amputetions, 18 deaths, Beri-beri incressing
- wet,

na

Sunday, 159 Septemher

Mcnday, 20 September Major Hunt submits reguest for immediate supplies
Vitamin B1, drugs, etc, - 2 amputations -
17 deaths - showery.

Tuesday, 21 September Copy of Major Hunt's letter forwarded to Nike —
1 amputation - notification of probable
inspecticn cn 23 September by General of TR
medical services - 14 deaths - fining,

Wednesdsay, 22 September Major Hunt asks for more beans - issue increased
to one bag - § deaths - showery.

Thursday, 232 September Visit of I,J,A. medical Geleral postooned 24
hours — € deaths — showary,

Friday, 24 Sspterber 7 deaths = fine,

Saturday, 25 September Visit by I.J.A, medical Colonel - 12 deaths -
weather fins,

Some avplificaticn of these brief entries is, I think, necessary.
The 18 deaths on 19 September was not the greatest on any one day, 19 having
occurred on 6 September, Between 13 Aucgust and 24 November thes average was
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more than & deaths per day. T'11 not sttempt to describe the grisly job
of cremating &s many as 19 btodies in one day, but as cen be imagined it was
8 heartbresking task. I imagine that an lhdertaker's work beccmes quite
impersonal, for he deels in the main, with unknown bodies, For me, however,
the situation was guite different. Each man had been a comrade in arms,
many were lads fram my own Unit, quite a few were personal friends, I took
great care to recover some token ashes for each of the deceased and these
were plazed in a bamboo container snd buried in a tiny plot — 1B inches by
12 inches - with each plot marked by = small cross, One of my Sigs. lads -
Bernie Hensby — made a coloured drawing of the area end on an attached plan
I recorded full details relating to each token grave site. This information,
tocether with that relating to the Shimo Sonkrai cemetery, and a later one at
Kanburi I handed in at A,I.F. Headquartsrs on my subsequent return to Changi
and, I understand, ultimately all were used by the War Graves Commission,

The five amputaticns referred to in the diary entries were some of
a total of forty resulting from tropical ulcers, These opccurred very
frequently and followed upon small scratches or cuts, the skin of many of L
the P,0.W, appearing to possess little or no resistance to infecting organisms,
Quite a large proportion of the ulcers were of horrifying severity - huge
areas of skin, flesh, end in some cases bone, wers eaten away. Although
Tanbaya was supposed to be & hospital camp no drug supplies of any kind were
rezeived from the Japenese untll Stk Movember — three months after the
hospital was established and crnly 19 days before the maln body of surviving
patients was evacuated, The only dressings available were those made from
the clothes of dead men, and in most cases the ulcers were bandaged with
panana leaves, In the absence of suitable drugs the only treatment available
was scraping away of the putrid flesh with a spoon - en agonising process for
the patient, It was not uncommer for blowflies tc lay their maggots in
uleer wounds, & happening which was ususlly welcomed by the sick for the
maggots ate only the purulent flesh and disoosed of it in a much less painful
way than the scraping with a spoon,

In these conditions it is not surprising that the only hope of
saving the lives of a large proportion of the ulcer patients lay in amputation,
Most ulcers occurred in the lower leg, and particularly in the region cf the
tioia, The ulcer wound spread with ferocious speed and often extended from
ankle to knee, In these cases amputation sbove the knee was imperative,

We had a first-class surgeon in the person of Frank Cahill, but he had no
operating instruments, The Japs were unable to supply any, but egreed that
Frank could visit an "A"™ Force camp at the 45 kilo, mark to endeavour to
obtain some, He was successful in borrowing most of the essentials but could
not get a surgicel saw. A further appeal to our own Jap guards failed, but
again the Nip engineers at the camp across the railway came to our aid,
agreeing to meke a carpenter's panel saw available from trree to four p.m.
gach day.
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There was an acute shortage of trained medical orderlies, Frank
Canill's only gualified assistant besing a sergeant from the Australian
Army Medical Corps, Had our family finances been sufficient to cover the
costs involved, I would dearly have liked to study medicine myself, but the
cold fects were that it was not possible for me to stay at school beyond
third year at High School, and "Dr, Stahl" was an impossible dream,
However, in the conditions existing at Tanbaya Frank readily accepted my
of fer to help in any way I could end in fact I became ocne of his assistants
a2t every operation, and also at several post mortems ke performec,

The "Operating Theatre" was a small hut, sbout ten feet square,
with bamboo sides and a flcor of bemboo slats, The roof was of Atap,
The operating table was made from bamboo, with the top elso of bamboo slats,
Qutside the door we bullt a fire to boil the water in which we sterilized
the instruments, including the Japanese saw, Fortunately, included in the
medical supplies laboriously carried from Chengl and husbanded so carefully
there was saome Pentothal and Chloroform. The former was used by the

anaesthetist, Capt, E.J, Emery, R.,AM.C., to induce unconsciousness, the .

patients then being kept under by ether, Even in those daunting circumstences
the skill of Capt, Emery in esnaesthesia was so great that no amputation
patient — and many of thesz patients were appalling anaesthetic risks -

died during the operation.

Mo praise can be tog high for the work done by Frank Cahlll §
those primitive conditions., Looking beck on the circumstances under which
he worked (he actumlly fell throuch the bamboo-slat floor in the middle of
one operation) one wonders that he had any success at all, Altogether he
carrled out 40 amputaticons - 39 legs end 1 arm, But he operated against
almost hopeless odds, His patients were all grossly undernourished, being
long deprived of asdegquate protein and vitamins, Thney had been forced to
labour outragecusly long hours in mud and filth, they were constantly exposed
te trauma and infection, but deprived of adeguate drugs and dressings. It
is 1ittle wonder that ulceration and gangrene spread like wildfire and that
Ly the time they reached the cperating table their resistance to infection
had already been reduced to a very law level,

Despite this not ane patient died during an operation, Sepsis
in the stump was, however, extremely common, and crne patient died within
24 hours of the operation, Four more died during the next six days and
3hareafter the death rate steadily rose. Intercurrent disease was particu-
larly lethal among the emputees and finally only four of the forty survived,
%mall though this proporticn might appear, it was nevertheless a major triumph
for the surgeon for had the operations not been performed not one of the
forty could have survived,




From the diary entry for 22nd September it will be seen that on
that day Major Hunt asked for mare heans and he succeeded in having the
dally issue raised from one-third of a bag to one bag. The diet at Tanbaya,
far from being better than at the working camps, as had bees promised, was
for & long pericd considerably worse, FRice was, in general, in adequate
supply, but every other essentlal for a comclete diet was grossly deficient,
I particular, until the bean ration was raised on 22 September, the rations
supplied contained practicelly no vitamin B8 or C. Innumersble protests end
requests for rice polishings and for more bears were made to the I.J.A.,
but =lways met the answer that all the rice polishings available were required
for the Jlapanese Army horses and that trere was & great shortage of beans
wrich were being reserved for the camps further from the railhead. In view
a7 this we were more than mildly interested wher we learned, on October 13th,
that the "A" Force Hospital cemp, situated only 5 kilos away from our own,
nad been receiving an adequecy of beans since its formation in July, e
pointed this out with some force to the I.J.A. Camp Commendant and he raised
our issue from one bag to two and & half begs forthwith, We knew Trom past
experience that & portion of our rations always disappeared en route from .
source of supply and ultimete delivery to us, and 1t was naw spperent that the
Jan administration et Tanbaya camp was no better, in this regard, thar had
& 2ER the casa at the working camps, With food in short supply for the
civilian population it was easy for the Japs to line their pocksts at the
gxpense of the P.O.W,

Naturally the Japanese wished to keep this blackmarket trading
with the Burmese natives as their own privete lurk, and they took a very dim
view of any effort by the P,D,W, to trade with the civilian populatian,
Contact with the natives in any way except on officlally authaorised buying
parties, was strictly prohibited, Some of the more adventurous ROy
were prepared to risk the wrath of the Nips, if caught, end ignored the
pronibition. At First our guards were cantent to rough-up any offenders
they caught, but they soon became bored with this and, in characteristic
fashion, they handed the resporsibility over to our own Cemp administration,
threatening to cut out the buying parties if unauthorised cantact with the
natives continued, This was a very serious matter for us, for we depended
on the buying parties faor such small purchases as we could afford of extre
food for our patients, particularly, for ‘example, eggs which were naturally
never on our official ration issue but provided a valuable source of protein
and vitamins for sick men, Funds for these purchases were obtained from
sgveral sources, The Japanese allowed the fit men 10 cents s day as working
pay, and officers received 25 cents per day, (The money was paper currency,
specially printed by the Japanese for the occupied countries,) All those
{EDEiUiﬂg pay contributed ten percent to the camp messing fund and officers,
in mddition, donated the balance of their pay cver 10 cents a day, A
canteen was established from which all ranks cculd meke purcheszes with their
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nine cents per day net. The small prufit made by the canteen was also used
to augment the "special messing™ fund,

It will be seen, therefore, that any threat to the official “buying
party" was a threat to the welfare of every man in camp, and WEe could not
afford to have selfish individuals (the "dross" of Tanbaya camp) endangering
+the centinuence of the venture, But our powers of digsuasion in those
circumstances were extremely limited, We could Tine & transgressor and
make an entry of this in his paybook, but to a man interested only in his own
welfare, with no certainty that he would sven survive to return to Australie,
the prospect of & £5 fine in his pay book ‘meant less than nothing as &
deterrent, We couldn't gaol an offender, for we had no means of detention,
and we coulda't confine him to barrecks, because nobady got any leave in any
case, And so, when our only svailable means - persuasion - failed, and our
nuying party wes cancelled following the Nips catching another of our troops
redhanded, we adopted a very drastic solution - corporal punishment, This,
of course, had long been banned, but in the circumstences then existing its
reintroduction as & temporary measure was considered Tully Justified,

After ensuring that ell in camp had been adegquately warned, and the period
for wnich the Jeps had banned the buying party having gexpired, everycne
knew what the penalty would be for illegel contact with the natives, Even
so 1t was not long before enother offender was caught by the Japs and handed
over to camo administration for punishment, & parade of mll fit men in
camp was called and the delinguent was given twe strokes with a cane on

his bare buttocks, I doubt that the caning, administered by an officer
from the culprit's own Unit, ceused much physical pain, but the humiliation
and ignominy he suffered, coupled with the scorn his comrades showed for his
despicable behaviour, proved to be guite selutery, end thenceforth we had no
necessity to have recourse to that type of medicine at Tenbaya, although as
will be seen it had to be used acein for an even more serious offence some
time later at Kenburi,

The "dross" at Tenbaya were not confined to those who broke camo
to trade with the natives, and included in this class, were both officers
grd other ranks, One officer was known as "Swill-pit Annie" to the men in
the camp because of his daily habit of foraging through the swill pit in
the nope of finding something edible, Wien one remembers that rations were
always in short supply and that every scrap of what could normally be
considered as usable material was inveriably utilised in the cookhouse in
food preparation, it will be realised that what was discarded as refuse
really was unusable, But this did not deter "Swill-pit Annie", It is an
unfortunate fact that in the P,0.W, camps, where human nature was Exposed
in &ll its complexities, the proportion of officers who failed to line up Eo
their responsibilities was little, if eny, better ‘than that of the other ranks
who also comprised the "dross" class, On one occasion, our ration supply
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included some prawns. By the time they reached us, having travelled in

open reil trucks in the heat of the sun, they were putrid and fly-blawn,

The medicos decided, hawever, that the flesh was still edible and a valuable
source of protein, so the magoots were washed off, the prawns were shelled
and the flesh cooked and served to all in camp. It was horrible, and tasted
like ammonia smells, but on the doctor's advice we forced it cown. The
shells, of course, -were thrown on the swill pit., One of the men saw in this
8 great opportunity. He recovered the shells, pounded them into a fine grit,
and sold it as "meal" to some of the patients in the hospital wards,

Included in the buyers were meny Oysentery patients, and the effect on them
can well be imagined, But the vendor couldn't care less, That he had
acquired some purchasing power at the cost of pain, suffering and possibly
even death of some sick comrades disturbed him not one whit,

The heavy rain had eased during August, end the latter part of’
the month was quite fine. The first half of September saw a resumptlon of
showery weather, but by the end of the third week the conditions were fine
egain and the rains had gone. We were very happy about this as the ground -
dried out and movement round the camp ares = end maintenence of the cremation
fire - becams much easier, Our pleasure was short-lived however. We
were dependent for our water supply on a small creek which formed cne boundary
of the camp area, On Sunday 10 October the flow of weter, which had been
guite strong, showed signs of diminishing and when morning broke on Tuesday
12 October we found the creek to be quite dry, Our cookhouse was situated
on the cresk bank for ezse of supply of water and the sudden drying-up of
the creek caused us a major headache, The nearest available source of
supply was another creek, still running well, located sbout & quarter of &
mile from the camp site. Faced as we were with a chronic shortage of fit
men and with no wheeled transport of any kind available, we found the
man-handling of a sufficient quantity of water from this creek to the camp
to be quite impracticable. There was only one solution and that was to
move the cookhouse the second creek, This was done, and althaugh it
involved the carrying of the dry rations and the cocked food, to and from
the copgkhouse aver the extra guarter mile each way the task was accomplished
each day with the assistance of gl11 fit perscnnel of all ranks.

The respite provided by -the-seeond creek was shortlived, By
18 DcEcbar it showed the same slasckenlng in the flow that had heralded the
end of the water in the first creek, and by 21 October it too was completely
dry, The Japanese approved the move of the cookhouse to a permanent river
about enother 300 yards from the camp, and by 22 October we had re—established
th? kitchen there, About 100 yards downstream from the cookhouse we had our I
?Elly baths, and early in November one of our officers expressed great concern
decause, he said, the level of the water in the river was also Talling.
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As the river was a good 10 yards wide, and quite deepish, we asked him an

wnat premises he based his statement, "yell," he said, "the first day we
bathed here I stood on this stone end water just reached the tip of my
John Thomas — now it's two inches below it."  This was too much for

Stan Hoberts who countered, "Come off it brother - the first day you were
nere you were singing about the Rose of Tralee and her great beauty, and
today you are down in the dumps and wondering whether you will ever see
Australis again - guite frankly I den't think you can rely on your measuring
apparatus.”

On Saturday 23 October the Japanese instructed Hajor Hunt to
survey all those in camp, and to report to them the number of men who could
be regarded as fully fit, So far as we could gather the railway was about
to be completed and the Nips were planning to return to Changi the survivors
of "D", "F", ‘and "H" Forces, the responsibility for these parties, despite
khe fact that we were so far eway, having remained under the control of the
Japanese P,0,W, Administration in Singapore. No wonder we had found it
so difficult to get anything done to improve the supply of drugs and food,
or in our living conditions! Major Hunt supplied the Japs with details
of fit men on 28 October and, in response to another I,J,A. reguest, he
provided information as to the likely number of patients who could be safely
moved in the following weeks. On 12 November the Nips advised us that the
railway had been damaged and that rations then on hand would have to be
stretched to last five days, The prospect of still less to eat gave us no
joy, but we were cheered by the fiurther evidence of successful sctivity on
the part of the allied Air Force. Oespite tha damage to the railway,
planning far the mave continued and on 16 November I started on the preparation
of nominal rolls, in parties of Tifty. Once again we all suffered "slass—
rodding" and blood tests prior to the move, The supply of rations was
resumad on 17 November — I was interested to note that the forecast of 5 days
as necessary for repairs had proved correct - and on 15 Noverber the Japs

advised that the first 200 of those to be returned to Singapore would leave
the next day.

So began the evacuation of the main body from Tanbaya. Over the
next five days 5944 all ranks entrained for Kanburi in Thailand, which proved
to be the point of concentration of the working parties fram "O", "F", and
"H" Forces.

The Tanbaya Hospitel Camp could not by any stretch of imagination,
be considered &5 a success, It will be remembhered that the reason for its
estgblishmen: was that it would be in an area close to the source of supplies,
so that food and drugs would be more freely available and so enable the
patients sent there - men unlikely to be fit for work under two months - to
effect recovery from their illnesses in much better conditions than those
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gbtaining in the railway working camps. The reality proved to be guite
different, OFf the total camp intake of 1928, the sick men numbered 1781,
and ta care for them the Nips allowed 138 all ranks, of whom only & were
medicos, An additicnal 4 officers and 5 other ranks were permitted for
camp administration, The work load on the fit men was therefore very high,
and practically all were incapacitated at some time or other, Far fram
supplies of drugs and food being better the reverse was, for & long time,
the case, No drugs at all were received from the Japanese until 5th
November, three months after the camp was established end only three weeks
hefore the main bady was evacuated, and by which time 574 men had died,

A= mentioned previously the totel death roll to 24 November was E61 &
further 87 having died between S and 24 Nowvember,

So far from the diet being better than at the working camps it was
for a long time considerably worse, Rice was generally in adequate supply
but it was always polished rice, end although as previously mentioned,
numerous reguests were made for rice polishings with their valuable vitamin B
content, regular supplies were not received until 26 October, In addition
to the basic rice issue, supplementary foodstuffs in the form of onions,
sweet potatoes, pumpkins and dried beans were issued in small quantities,
and ocecasionglly dried whalemeat, dried fish or dried seaweed was added,

And there was, of course, the one notable issue of prawns!? Until nearly
the end of October, however, the camp diet was highly deficient in all
vitamins, and to a lesser degree, lacking in protein, When to these
deficiencies was added the dearth of drugs it is little wonder that €61 of
the already badly weakened patients failed to survive, or that when we left
on Wednesday 24 November 1943 we were forced to leave behind 218 patients
who were too sick to travel and of wnom it wes thought not more than 50%
could survive, Five medical and administrative officers and S& other renks
for medicel and general camp work remained with this party, the survivors of
which were sent to Kanburi in April 1544,

No, Tanbaya waes not & success, and our only regrets as we departed
were for the dead we left benind.
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CHAPTER VI

THE RAILWAY — KANBURI

30 November 41543 tc 25 April 1944

The journey from Tancaya to Kanouri was a very uncomfortable one,
for seversl remsons. We travelled in open trucks, thirty three men to 2
truck, snd the train tecok from 11 o'clock cn the riight of 24 November to.
10 in the morning of 20 November tc cover the distance of. approximately |
250 miles, The train stopped often and for long perlods, and we were
frequently side-tracked, The supply of foed was irregular, poor in guality
and minimal in emount, No-one could lie down, for there was barely room
to sit, snd what sleep we did get wes taken in a sitting position, And H
always in the forefront of our minds was the krowledge that our boys, in
building the railway, had done sll they could to sabotege the pperaticn,
Particularly were we consclous of this as we crossed the many kigh bridges.
Built entirely of wood with riot one nail used in their conastruction -
woocen pegs took their place — thay swayed ominously as tne train crossed,
and the sight of several cresred trucks at the bottom of one deep chasm did
nothing to inspire confidence, Howewver, we reached ocur destination without
major mishap; but dirty, unehaven, pleary eyed, with the fit men slose to
exhaustion snd meny of the sick sgain prostrate, Two had failed to survive
the five snd = half day journey, which had taken three days more than the
Japs had said it would,

Within a few days trne remnants of "F" Force had been brought
together at Kanburi, and the scrry story of the Force began to emerge. It
transpired that of the 7,000 men of "F® Force who left Singapore in the
latter half of April 1942, by the eno of Novemcer of that year 3,100 were
dead, just upcn 3,000 were in various hospitals, and the number of reasonably
fit men did not exceed 300, In these circumstences 1 considared myself
fortunate to have survived with nothing more serigus than a fever at Tanbaya
which Bruce Hunt had clinically disgnesed as a mild Scrub Typhus, end the
incidence of some blind spots in my eyes, more marked in the right eye thean
in the left, Much later we were to iearn that the railway cost the lives of
0,000 natives, 20,000 prisgners of war and 200 Japanese.

My friend, Ben Barnett, had arrived at Kanburi late in the night of

30 Novermber and we both received crders to rejoin the C,0, of our Unit; he
also having returned to Kanburi from up country., The Nips had decided to
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send two parties of 500 each back to Singapore — with only 30D ressonably fi
men left in “F" Force some of these obviously had to be selected from the less
sick of the hospitalised men — and Ben and I were ellotted to No., 2 party.

No. 1 party left on 2 December, but before No, 2 departed both Ben and I were
removed from the party - I suspect it was arranged by Bruce Hunt - and
transferred to the hospital staff, Ben as Quartermaster and myself as Registrar.
The hospital was not in good shape. As had been the case when we passed

through Kanburi on the march up country, water was in very short supply.

Firewood was scarce and latrines grossly inadeguate, The situatian with focod,
however, was much improved as compared with our experience up country,

Although the rations issued by the Japanese were still not much above subsistence
level, there were avallable locelly abundant supplies of bananas end eggs, and

a canteen was established through which these could be purchased, On occasions,
too, native traders would appear selling small fresh fish which we found most
palatable, In the four months I spent at Kanburi I recovered a good dedl of

the welght I had lost up country,

On 14 December the Japs advised that all of the remaining personnel-
of "F" Force who were fit to move would be returned to Singapore, and the
remaining sick men would be moved ta a hospital to be established in a camp
situated nearer to Kanburi township, which had previously been occupied by fit
men, Those nominated for Singapere moved out by train over the next four
days, leaving a total strength in camp of sick men, medicos, nursing orderlies
end administrative persannel, of 710, his remnart of "F" Force consisted
of both Australiens and English traops, and included, in addition to Ben and me,
my stalwart friend Sten Foberts with whom I had beern so closely associated at
Adam Park, Shimno Sonkrail and Tanbayz camps, Hutted accommodation in the
camp to which we moved on 19 December being insufficient to meet the needs of
all, I spent the next four months sharing a tent with Bruce Hunt, Ben, Frank
Canill, Stan Roberts, and George Gwynne, = delightful Perth man who was &
Captain in 2/4th Machine Gun battalion, and who had been with us at Shimo
Sonkral and Tenbaye, where ke had done an outstanding job as & Wardmaster.

On the night of the day we moved into the new camp we had our first
gir raid aslert, Allied planes were overhead from 15 minutes after midrnicht
until four in the morning, Nearby entl-glrcraft batteries opened fire, hut
no bombs were dropped in ocur area and we assumed the planes were raiding
Bangkok, The Nip sentries just about went kerserk, They were all third line
troops and none had seen active service, Although ™lights out” was et 10 p.m,
and the camp had been in darkness since then the Nips charged about the camp,
flashing powerful torches and shrieking "lights out - &1l lights out,” One
evenn jumped on a mosquito coll, its glow so tiny that it couldn't be seen more
than five yards away, His performance was so ludicrous that we couldn't
contain our laughter, but we soon changed gur tune, for he wasn't amused and
started swinging his rifle butt in the darkness with rare abandon., There
were guite & few more alerts before I finally left Kanburi for Singapore on




25 April '44 but no bombs were dropped in our area, Those who stayed in the
Karnburi district after we left were not so fortunate, and between September and
December 1544 over 170 prisoners of war were killed in allied alr raids, and

some 550 wounded, The railway yerds at Kanburi and the river bridge at nearby
Tamerken (the “Bridge on the River Kwai®) were prime targets for our bombers

and with the siting of P.D.W. camps in the area it was inevitable that casualties
would be suffered. By Februsry 1945 the bridge had been completely destroyed.

The medical situation was still grim in December 1943, and in the
last two weeks of that month we had 65 deaths, Thereafter the rate gradually
slackened, but before I left Kanburi my death register contained over 220 names,
No longer did I have to read the burial service, for we had two English padres
in camp, One of these was the Rev. Noel Duckworth, who pre-war had coxed the
Cambridge crew in the annual boat race against Oxford, He was rather diminutive
in size — I'm sure he would have been too short to gualify as a combatant -
but that was the only thing about him that was small, He had a big heart, a
big woice, and a big appeal to most of the troops, with whom he was able to
converse in their own language, Affectionately known as "Ducky"; he was liked
and respected by all, and he was one of only a very few of his profession whose
performance as a P,0.W. came in for no criticism from those very good judges -
the soldiers to whom he ministered,

The major medical problem at Kanburi was the paucity in the supply of
drugs, As will be seen later, we were sble to augment food supplies, but the
quantity of drugs received from the Japanese at no time even approached the
level required for proper medical care. It was B combination of these two
circumstances - availability of extra food, end shortage of medical supplies -
which led to the second flogging episodse. The native Thais had the food to
sell, but they too were desperately short of medicines, They were happy to
exchange food for clothing, but by this time few of the men in camp had any
garb other than what they stood up in — and in most cases that was mighty
little,- With the great majority of P.0.W. all valuable personial belongings
had long ago been traded; end most relied for extra food on the "working pay"
of 10 cents per day allowed by the Japanese. As had been the case up country,
officers contributed their pay above 10 cents per day to buy extra food for the
sick, so all fit men in camp, whether other ranks or officers, were on the same
basis so far as private purchases were concerned, It was in these circumstances
that it was discovered that our alreasdy meagre supply of drugs was being eroded
by theft, Accounting for our small stock had always been carefully maintained -
all drug requisitions were checked and countersigned by the 0,C, hospitel before
completion, and this system not only ensured a just distribution of drugs
between various wards, but also the conservation of the precious supply,

When it became apparent that some of the drugs were being used
illegally - obviously for sale to the local natives - all in camp were informed
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that the offender, when caught, would be dealt with most severely and the men
were asked to inform camp administration if they knew which of their number had
so little regard for the welfare of the sick men that he would steal drugs S0
vital to their recovery. The warning proved ineffective for the next day a
bottle of 500 Quinine tablets disappeared from store, The appeal to the
generasl body of men, however, did produce a result and camp administration

was informed guite guickly of the name of the thief, Learning that he was
ebout to be spprehended the offender sought to dispose of the evidence by
drapping the tablets down & latrine, thus making an cdious crime even more
heinous. He was charged, tried and found guilty, and was given twelve strokes
on the bere buttocks in front of a parade of all fit men in camp. Though I
played no part in the decision to inflict thls form of punishment, I would

have supported it had I been consulted, end I believe that the great majority
of those in camp considered that the punishment fitted the crime, In the
event, it proved to be effective, end we had no more trouble with thefts of
drugs,

It was through purchases in Kanburi town that we officially v
augmented our food supplies, The Japanese allowed our messing officer — my
good friend Stan Roberts = to go into town under escort where he purchased
provisions from a Thail merchant named Boonpong, Mr. Boonpong was a very
brave gentleman who acted as an Allled agent at the risk, of course, of his
own safety and well-being. He passed to us money and messeges and kept us
well informed as to the progress of the war, Whenever possible Stan ARoberts
took another of our officers with him when he visited Mr, Boonpong ard it was
the job of thnis officer to keep the escort occupied whilst Stan did his
business with Mr, Boonpong., I went with Stan on Friday 31 December 1543 but
my task wasn't a very onerous one, The two Jap guards were too busy filling
their bellies at the expense of Mr. Boonpong to take much notice of what Stan
was doing as he went about making his purchases, Unfortunately a pro=-
Japanese Thai informed on Mr, Boonpong and Stan Roberts was teken away by the
Kempetael - the Jap secret police - for guestioning, But Stan was & tough
and couragegus man, and although he was ‘severely beaten by the Japanese with
a baseball club, and returned to us with his back end arms grossly swollen
and black and blue, the Nips got no information from him, They apparently
failed to secure any evidence about Mr. Boonpong, who continued his activities,
although en a reduced scale, Unfortunately he was shot by the Japanese just
prior to their surrender, but slthough he was hit by thres bullets he
fortunately survived, He now conducts & business in Bangkok, and guite a
number of Australian P,0.W. have visited him in post-war years to express
their appreciation. I saw bhim in 1965 and we still keep in touch,

As I have said, life at Kanburi was much easier than it had been

Up country, -end one day was much like the one before and the one to follow,
the care of the sick being our prime responsibility. Deathe still averaged
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four a day during December but the rate gradually decreased thereafter.,
Even =o I recorded over 220 deaths during our stay at Kanburi, Life was
not really difficult for me there, so 1 was surprised when a medical check
by Bruce Hunt disclosed that I rad sustained a Cerdiac Beri Beri, or
enlarged heart due to lack of vitamins., However, with light duty and rest
the condition graduslly cleared up, and by the time we were advised of our
return to Chengi I was O0,K, again,

By mid-April deaths among +he survivors of "F" Force had
practically ceased, end the Nips decided to return us all to Changl. We
travelled by train in two parties, With Bruce Hunt and Sten Roberts I
1eft on Anzac Day = 25 April - and Ben Barnett followed the day efter,

Again we travelled in all-metal rice trucks aend conditions were, if anything,
even more crowded than when we had travelled up from Singapo
We still had 28 people in easch truck, but on this accasion we had at least
one stretcher case per truck, The engine on our train was showing signs of
long usage without proper maintenance and despite three runs at it, could
not pull the train up the hill outside Ipon, Ultimately all 1t men were
ordered cut of the trucks to push, and with this help the engine finally
made the grads, Nip food supplies on the journey were infreguent and
small, but we were greatly heloped by the native populaticn in both Thailand
and Malaya, many of whom braved the wrath of the Jap guards to pass supplles
of fresh fruit to us.

I arrived back at Changi, followed & dey later by Benn Barnett,
on 28 April 1944 end we rejoined whaet remained of our Unit at Selarang
marracks, We had been away cne ysar and ten days, during which one half
of those who comprised "F™ Force had died, so we counted ourselves lucky

to still be numbered among the living.
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CHAPTER VII

CHANGT

28 April 1944 to 31 March 1545

The camp conditions to which we returned were very different
from those we left a little more than & year previously, The eastern tip
of Singapore Island had been vacated and the Japanese had begun construction
of &n serodrame, As P,0.W,. were carrying out the necessary works, the ;
Japs made no reference to the true nature of the project but euphemistically
referred to the task as being aone of "ground levelling™, All the FP.O.W.
hed been concentrated in the Selarang ares and on the playing fields an
the opposite side of Changi Road where a large number of huts had been
erected, Living conditicns were much improved, those of our technical men
who had been left at Chengi heving done, under the direction of the 2 i/c
of our Unit, Major Reg Bridgland, a particularly fine job, No langer did
we have to rely on oil lamps for lighting, for the electricity supply had
been re-established, the Nips having approved a limited service in all
Euildings, and when I returned from Thailand our boys had just completed
the necessary wiring to restore the supply. Cigarette smokers who
previously had had to rely on burning rope ends to light their fags could
now do so merely by pressing & button at public cigarette-lighting points,
upen which the element of the lighter glowed brightly. Steel cooking
and eating gear had been manufactured from old steel lackers, using a
welding machine put together by our P,0,W. technicians, A machine for
crushing grass to produce raw grass soup - vitsl for treatment of EYE
troubles caused by avitaminosis - had been constructed, and, most outstanding
achievement, a flkeroscopic screen and X-ray machine hed been fabricated,

With the restoration of the electrical supply there was no longer
any need to purloin batteries from Japanese trucks to activate our secret
radios, end a daily bulletin with the latest news was clandestinely circulated,
It was a full news service, as our operators listened regularly to services
from Australia, America, Europe and even Japan, Needless to say our radio
operators constantly ran the risk of discovery and shortly before my return
had had another narrow escase, The Nips swooped one evening - obviously
on information from a collaborator - but fortunately drew a blank, The
"Bird", as it was known, had been removed cnly a few hours previously, for
technicel adjustment,

(S =]
s




A major amenity and morale bcoster was provided by the A.I.F, Concert
Party. A permanent stage with backstage appurtenances had been built and
the skows were truly professicnal, I ct411 marvel at the magnificent scernery
and costumes those concert boys improvised, In additicn to the shows at the
w+heatre® the concert party performed at 1gast once a week in the hospital
wards, and no preise can be tco high for the work those lads did in maintaining
marale im a cawp where the large mejority were unfit,

Following a medical examinaticn and a visit tc the eye specialist on
my return to Changi it was found that my eyes had been affected by retrobulbar
nauritis. due to shortage of vitemins in the diet, and I was instructed to
drink cne pint of grass soup per day:, It was particularly horrible, being
1iterally the uncocked extract obtained by crushing raw grass, But it was
well worthwhile, for it stabilised the condition and prevented further
detericration, From a carefully-hosrded store of Narmite I was also given -
ore teaspoon per day for four weeks and this also played a big part in
stacilising my eye condition,

Two days before I arrived back  from Thailand the Japsnese had advised
our administrative H.Q@. that all P.0.W. were to be concentrated in and around
Changl gaol, They also notified us that officers and other ranks wculd
probaebly he separated, Until #his time the civilian internees hed Eteen housed
in the gaol, but they were now moved to Sime Road Cemp 1n Singapore, As
sccommodeticn in the gaol itself was very limited - it had been buillt te house
5 Few hundred Asietic and 24 European prisoners it was necessary not cnly to
=1lot three P.D.W., to each Asiatic cell end four to each Eurcpean cell, but
t0 erect hutted accommodaticn both within the gecl walle and on the adjacert
outside erea, A large proportion of thess huts were those then standing on
tre playing field area at Selarang. These had Zo be dismantled and transportad
5y treiler parties to the gapl and there re-erescted, In addition meny new huts
had to be built, As the Nips would not reduce the number af-"grﬂund—leuelling“
workers, and it was imperative, to meintain our gardening area - this was now
guite extensive and an impeortant source of a sizeable portion of our ratlon
supply = the weork load on the remaining P,O0.W. was. vary hesvy indeed,
Nevertheless the move, which started on 4th May, wes completed by 31 May,
The more seriously ill men in the hospital were sent to Kranji, and a hospital
of reduced size to cater for light sick, malaria cases, etc,, was established
outside the gaol walls, I personally had moved into the gaol - European cell
No. 24 on 9th May, having been appointed as Administrative Officer to Lt. Col,
"E41T Jeater who commanded & composite battalion, I.1lived in that cell for
six weeks with three of my friends and then, the Japs having decided that the
officers were to be guartered separately from tne men, I moved to the Asiatic
warders? guarters outside the gaol, where I shared a room with Ben Barnett
ard Jim Hardecre, The Japanese guards and edministrative staff lived in the
European warders® guarters, a double line of houses running the length or the




rorthern side of the gaol, Lieutenant Takahashi, the Camp Commandant,

lived in one of these houses, sharing it with his pet monkey. The monkey
often, sat an a post fronting the road along which our boys walked when

moving between the geol and the outside hutted area and many of them took

a perverse delight in throwing the arimal an impeccable salute as they passed,
with the greeting "Bood day Lieutenant Takeshashi', We learned from scme of
the guards that. Takahashi was aware of this pantomime but he wisely never let
on to us until some time later.when he handed over command of the camp to
Lieut. Wokabyashi, He then told us that he was leaving and "the other

Lieut, Takahashl was going with him",

I spent the next ten months at Changi, living a reasonably orderec
existence, Compared with 1life on the railway Jjob, Changl was a2 haven of
pEace; My contact with the Japs st this stage was minimal, My gquarters,
though austere, were waterproof, and although I was occupied gll day my work
was neither heavy nor difficult, Until 30 September I:continued my adminis-—
trative work, but the Nips having decided to separate officers. entirely from
other ranks at that date I thenceforth worked in the camp gardens until the
end of March 1945. The camp gardens were now guite extensive and were
becomlng increasingly important as a source of food suppliss, The Japs
progressively reduced the rice ration, blaming difficulties in supply, end
by mid-March 1945 the issue was down to less than eight oza, per man per day.
The balance of the official issue consisted of six ozs. of root vegetables,
meat or fish, 1% ozs., sugar % an oz,, oil 7/10ths of an oz.., and tea
1/7th of an oz, In addition there was a firewpod issue of 21 ozs, per man,
It will ce seen that the produce from our own gardens provided a much nesded
and valuable addition to the officisl ration issus, A sample menu at this
time would be, for sach person: EBreakfast — % pint of Pap {a weak porridge
made from crushed rice); Lunch - & pint of bolled rice, % pint of stew
{sn—cﬂlled} consisting mainly of boiled vegetables; Evening meal - % pint
of hash, % pint of stew, £ small rice cekes, A mug of tea was available
with each meal, It will be seen that the diet was rather meagre, but the
greater threat was the deficiency in vitamins, Although the commonest
diseases regquiring hospitalisstion were dysentery and malarie there were, in
the nine-month period June 1944 to March 1945, 6,755 fresh cases of deficiency
diseases treated in out—patient clinics, and this out of an average camp
population of 10,000. The price of foodstuffs for private purchase roze
continuelly, Coconuts, which before the war cost one cent each, were priced
at $1 on 17 November 1944, and had risen to §2,40 each by 16 March 1945,
Suger rose from §5 a pound on 29 July 1944 to $10 on 16 November that yeer.

I was finally forced to sell my watch, which I had managed to hang on to until
then, and I received $500 for it. I allocated half the proceeds to provide
additional food for those of our boys sick in hospital, and the balance for
gen, Jim and myself, Carefully eked out it provided additionmal food for
several months, Despite this, however, my weight at 21 March 1945 was dawn
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to 9st, 3lbs,, a reduction of a stone and & half since my return from Kenburi.
Food, or the lack of it, was a constant topic of conversation and gulte a
large number of the P.O.W, hed compiled thick books of recipes of most varied
nature, happily anticipating the day of eventuasl release and the prospect, it
seemed, of substituting continuael eating for continual hunger,

Except for a small minority the maintenance of morale emang the
Australien P,0.W. had always been at & good level, As I mentioned esarlier
the concert party had played a significant role in maintaining morale and they
continued to do so magnificently in the twelve months I was in the gaol area.
A mew "Playhouse" was built inside the gaol and opened in September, It
cansisted of a sizeable stage end proscenium with backdrop and wings, with
dressing rooms sttached, 1t was, of course, an open alr theatre, and the
eeats for the audience consisted of rows of coconut—palm trunks, The standerd
of the presentations had to be seen to be believed. Haow the scenery and:
costumes were provided still baffles me, They were absolutely marvellous and
the skits end sketches, many of them topical, were not only humorous but
remarkably clever, The Japanese, some of whom were present at every performance,
and most of whom did not understand English, were very suspicious of the presen-
tetions, It must be admitted that they had good resson to be, far not cnly was
a good deal of the patter directed against the Nips, but opportunity was always
teken to build upen the constantly impraving news we received over cur secret
radics, On 15 October 1944 the Japs cancelled all entertainmerts, but a fort-
night later allowed them to be reinstated on e less-frequent baesis, However,
on 10 March 1945, following a most spectacular presentation at the Playhouse
which showsd the P,.0.W, embarking for hcome, the then Japanese Commandant,
Lieut, Wokabyashi ordered the theatre to be closed permanently “because it
encouraged dangercus thoughts,"

frcther morale builder was the receipt of letters from home, the Tirst
of which errived on B May 1944, . Though they were by then about two years olc
they were avidly welcomed, Further letiers arrived at irregular intervals
and in the next ten months there.were-six-such deliveries, I was fortunate
enough to receive same letters from home each batch, In addition we were
permitted to send another card home on 9 August. In actual fact that card was
never delivered until after I errived home safely 14 months later.

Still another event which kept our spirits high was the Allied air
raids over Singapore. As early as 17 August 1544 the Japanese had warned us
of impending air railds, and on 7 October a continual ™brown-out®™ was ordered,
The first reid came on 5 November 1544 when between 30 and 40 Flying Fortresses
plastered the docks in Singaspore, It started in the early afternoon, and I
was working in the garden at the time.- - We-were watching fascinated, as ong
of the Allied plsnes, almost ogverhesd, was tackled by a Jap fighter, A few
moments later there was a crackling &ll round us as explosive bullets hit the
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ground, Although it was over two and a half years since we had seen any
action our reflexes acted automatically and we all hit the ground as one man.
Nobody in the gardens was hurt, but the bullets also fell in the hospital area
and several patients were wounded, Unfortunately one later died from his
injuries, Other raids followed and on 1st February 1945 Singapore was hit by
100 Flying Fortresses, followed by another raid by over 100 planes on 24th
February, The raids continued, at intervals, for the balance of our period
as P.0.W,

Owring this pericd I was fortunate enough to be present at the first
"Thought Reading" display given by Sid Piddington. On this cccasion he was
essisted by Russell Braddon who was the "recelver™ of the “thought transmission”,
Post—war Sid was to hit world heedlines as he performed the same act with his
wife as his assistant, Sid was a most gifted amateur magician, as was also
my friend Ben Barnett with whom I attended this first show. The climax of the
entertainment baffled me completely, With his assistant effectively blind-
folded, Sid produced three books which he put on a table in front of the
audience, Then he took a piece of peper and asked a member of the audience
to write on it & number consisting of two figures, and then to fold it until
it was guite small so that there was no possibility of Sid seeing the number,
Sid then took the folded piece of pasper and passed it to someone else, esking
him to add a two figure number under the first and again fold the paper into
a small plece, He did this with perhaps 10 or 12 people, each time taking
the folded paper and passing it.on, Then he passed the paper to still another
member of the audience, asking him to draw & line under the last number and
add up the column of figures. This done, and the paper again folded, &id
passed it to another person to have the addition checked, He then opened
the- paper and esked someone to r=zad the-total, I don't remember the actual
number, but let's say it was 239, S5id then said he would teke book number
two, turn to page 239 and by thought reading, inform his assistant of the
wording of line 9. He found the page, silently read the line and started
the "“thought trensference" procass. Putting on a very convincing act, his
assistent strained to pick up the message, Finally he came out with one
word, which Sid wrote on a blackboard. Haltingly, other wards followed,
until at last the whole line was written on the board. Sid asked another
member of the audience to take the book, turn to pege 239 and read line S,
There was no doubt about it - the assistant had correctly spoken the woprds,
Loud and sustained applause broke out, Pre-war I had seen guite a few
"thought reading” acts, where the "medium" sat on the stage and the other
partnar in the act moved amaongst the audience seeking small articles to be
identified by the "medium“, In gll these the partner in the audience kept
up a continual patter, and it was fairly obvious that clues werae passed to
the "medium®™ in this way, But the intriguing part of Sid Piddington's act
was that from the time he tock up the book to find the reguired line, he
spoke not one word until the whole line wes written on the blackboard as his
assistant said the words,
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I was very much impressed by the performance and completely mystified,
and I said so to Ben as we walked back to our guarters, He chuckled.
"Fred" he said, "you and I could do that ect without any trouble." "We could?"
I said incredulously, "tell me more." And it was so simple I couldntt help
laughing at the ease with which I had been teken in. Ben told me that the
basic requirement was that the main performer (in this case Sid Piddingtan)
should be an expert at sleight of hand, He explained that an essential part
of any magicien's gear is a false thumb-tip, and he said that had he and I
been doing the thought-resding act the following is what wauld have happened.
The prope required would be three books, a blackboerd, a piece of chalk, a
blindfold, a pencil, two pieces of paper identical in size, and the false
thumb-tip. To prepare the act he would write, say, twelve two-figure numbers
on one piece of paper, taking care to make the writing very from number to
number, He would then add up the numbers, taking e note of the total but not
writing it on the peper. To keep the example easy we will say the total was
235, I then find page 239 in the book to be numbered two and memorise line
nine, We are now ready for our "thought reading™ sct. Just before the
performance starts Ben folds up the prepared piece of paper and puts it in his
false thumb-tip. We go on stage and Ben explains what is to happen, I am
blind-folded, the books are placed on the table, taking care that the selected
book is in No. 2 position, and Ben starts the audience writing down the two-
figure numbers on the unused piece of paper, It is important to remember
that the paper is carefully folded after each number is written down, ostensibly
go that only the person writing the number down krnows what it Is, The crunch,
of course, comes after all the numbers have been written down. At this stage
Ben would take the folded paper from the person who had written the last number,
in order to pass it to the next member of the audience to add up the numbers.
But in doing so he switches the prepsred piece of paper - hitherto hidden in
the false thumb=tip — with the piece that had been circulated.among the asudience,
The rest of the operation then becotes routine,

So the days at Changl went by, The air ralds enlivened the procesdings,
the ever-improving tcne of the news cheered wus considerably, and as the rations
supplied by the Nips diminished in quantity we took comfort from the fact that
the increasing difficulties they were facing in obtaining supplies was a sure
indication that the war was going against them, end we went on happily clearing
more and still more ground to extend our gardens, As the early months of 1545
wore on I began to think that my then mode of living at Changl would continue
unkil we were liberated - an event which we now took to be a certainty, But
such was not to be, for in the last days of March I was ordered to take charge
of a working party required by the Nips for we knew not where, And so, on 1st
Ppril 1945 I left Changi for an unknown destination for the third time in three
yeEars,
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CHAPTER VIIT

"X CAMP  —  BURIT PANJANG

1 Roril 1545 = 20 August 1945

fpril Feool's Day, and April generally, seemed to play en important
part in my life as & F.O.W. It was on 1st April 1942 that I was told I was
to be a membher of tne Adam Park working party, and in April 1543 I left Changi
for the Burme Railway Jjob, I departed from Kanburi on returning to Changi in
Agril 1944, end then to cap it all off, on April Fool's Day 1945 I set off from
Chancl with "X3" working party. I had had some close calls during the Malayen
campaign, and some nasty moments on the rallway Job, but my most testing
experience was yet to come — et Bukit Panjeng, where, it turned out, “X3"
party was neaded,

I had been placed in command of ™X3" party which consisted of
seven officers including myself, and 357 other ranks, who came from 13 different
regiments, When we left Changi we did not know our destiration, but it turned
out to be Bukit Panjang, a villsge clustered acout the junction of Bukit Timah
Road and Choa Chu Kenc Aoad, The pesition chaosen by the Japs for our camp-
site could herdly have been less desirable from cur point of view, especlelly
with allied eir raids now a reculer feature, The rallway line toc the north
ran parallel to the Bukit Timah repad, and the Choa Chu Keng Road ren out to
Tengah aerpdrome. Our camp was locatsd on the Choa Chu Keng Road, less than
a quarter of a mile from the railway, less than three miles from the aerodrome,
ano slap beng up ageinst an ammunition dump.

I was very forturate in the officers who had been allocated to my
pErty, Second—in-command was Cept., George Mclaughlin of 2/18 Battalion and the
Quertermaster was Capt. Bernie Schulte, R.A,A,, and an international rugby
player, My interpreter was Lieut, Penrod Dean, cf 2/4 Machine Gun Company,
who had learned bis Japanese the hard way whilst confined in the infamous Quittram
Aoed gaol for incurring the displeaswre of the Japanese, I had two medicos -
Capts. Lloyd Cahill and Joe Vincent, and Cap%, Max Winchester of the Dental Corps.
They were all great chaps, Unhappily Bernie Schulte and Joe Vincent, though
they survived the war, died shortly afterwards,

Although the other ranks came fram so many different Unites they were

& great bunch of lads, and maintained a high level of morale, I was particularly
nleased_tu have 98 of my own boys from 8 Div, Sigs. in the camp. Having seen
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in previous camps how quickly dissenslon rould arise if there was any suspician
of ineguitable distribution of food supplies I instructed at the outset firstly
that there must at all times be at least one representative from gach Regiment
an the cookhouse staff, and secandly, that there would be no separate cookhause
for the officers who would share and share alike with the men, I'm glad to
say that as events turned out we always had good discipline, but equally good
personnel releticnships for the duration of the cemp.

The Japanese guard at the camp consisted of about 25 soldiers
commanded by Sgt. Ohori, who was also responeible for administration of the
camp., He in turn answered to Lieut, Matsuda who visited the camp freguently.
Because of his name Sgt. Ohori was soon micknemed "Danny® by our boys and he
hecame universally known by this soubriguet. Danny was 8 front-line soldier
so T had hopes he would turn cut to be & reasonable individual, He allowed
me 15 men for cooknouse staff, 10 as medical orderliss and for camp hygiene,
and 7 as company clerks, The accommodation at the camp consisted of four *
attap and mat huts each about 40 yards long. Latrines were the open=trench
type, and 3 shower points were aveilable, There was no lighting of any kind,
Camp duties commenced immediately upon our arrivel - the main body of 220 at
12,20 p.m, and the balance of 194 at 4,30 p.m, This work consisted of repair
of huts, erection of a six-foot wire fence along the camp boundary, the
bullding of an I.d.A. guard-house, and cleaning up the cemp aresa.

The next day, 2nd April, the Nips demanded 270 men for outside
work (the nature of which we did not know at that stage) and this number
peraded at 8,20 a,m. but were not marched out until 10,30 a.m, The remainder
of the men continued on camp duties, We had our first hospital admission
that day when a gunner from 2/10 Field Regiment suffered a fit, He was the
first of 550 patients who were edmitted to our ceamp hospitel in the next four
and & half months, Of these 361 were malaria patients. The balance consisted
mainly of dysentery and diarrhoea, respiratory and skin cases. In this camp
we were remarkably free of deficiency diseases, only eight cases belng admitted
tg hospital, Danny had advised me that the ration scale would be 500 grammes
of rice per day for outside working perties and Changi scale for the remainder,
1 protested about this and Danny agreed to a temporary arrangement, "pending
advice from General Saito,® he said, whereby outside workers would receive
500 grammes of rice, inside workers 400 grammes, end the sick 300 grammes,
other dry rations to be as per Changl scale, That was his idea, Needless
to say we pooled all rations and everyone shared egually. Danny also
instructed me that the huts were to be occupied as follows:

No, 1 - Dfficers, Werrant Officers, permanent camp duties and
hospital

Nos. 2, 3, and 4 — each two working perties of 50 other ranks,
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Wnen the men returned from work that day they reported that they were engaged
orn road-making and that conditions of work werse reasonable,

Having surveyed our needs, I submitted to Danny on 3 April & reguest
for the following:

Rice polishings or unpolished rice to avoid deficiency diseases;
a microscope, bed pans and urine bottles-for the camp hospital; a water-
testing outfit, Malariol and mosquito nets for control of malaria; messing
contalners, ladles, knives and choppers, a mincer and grinder, two forty-
four gallon drums or baths for water storage in the cookhouse; boot and
clothing repairs; and urine tubs, rekes, cuttings of spinach, tapioca root
and Sweet Potato for the establishment of camp gardens,

Danny noted the reguests and also agreed to the sites I had selected
for the digging of slit trenches for protection during air raids, He also
agreed to make men from the working parties avallable to dig the trenches,

He kept his word and two deys later 100 men started on the job, which was
completed within a few days.

There were two matters on which I had seemingly endless discussions
with Danny, One was food supplies and the other the question of the number
of men available for Jap workimg parties, The =cale for the rice issue laid
down by Danny on 2nd April didn't last long. On 6 April he received fresh
instructions from his H.Q, sltering the issue to 300 grammes of rice per day,
plus 250 gremmes of tapioca root or, if taproot was not available, 200 grammes
of corn for all workers, For the sick the rice was reduced to 250 grammes,
zupplemented by either taproot or corn on the =ame scale as the workers,

We had had only one delivery of wvegetables in our first week 1n camp, end I
tock this up with Danny on 9 April, pointing out to him the poor balance in
our diet and stressing the necessity for regular vegetable supplies, rie

was guite helpful and went off personally to investigate the delay in delivery
of vegetables, He came back with two days' supplies of veges. Later that
day.we received a special issue of what the Japs termed "energy rations",

The issue consisted of ocatmesl, glucose, coffee beans and jam, end was on the
basis of one month's supply &t 33% grammes per man per day of the catmeal,
glucose and coffee beans, and 5% grammes of jam. On 12 April Danny told me
that as the light—duty men were being used to do odd jobs round the camp area
the rice issue would be 300 grammes for all in camp, the 250 grammes per day
would apply only to sick men evacuated to Kranji hospital,

,8till a further alteraticn to the ration scale took place aon 13
April when the rice issue was reduced to 250 grammes per day from 300, and
tapioca rcot was incressed to 500 grammes. Four days laster the camp was
inspected by an I,J.A. officer, Lt, Col, Chikuyi, accompanied by Capt, Matsuda
{ just pramoted), I took the opportunity to point out the deficiencies in our
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diet, and was promised that the rice issue would return to 300 grammes, &nd
that the oil and salt issues would be doubled. The promise was honoured so
far ms the rice issue was concerned, but not for the oil and salt, Our
outside working parties received & surprise on Anzac Day, when each member

of the working parties was presented with a pipe and a fill of Barneys tobecco,
and were promised a deily pipeful in future, -

Although we had no secret radio of our own in "X3" camp, there was
one at Kranji camp and our boys contacted lads from there whilst out on the
working parties, so we were kept supplied with up=to-date news, By this
time, of course, the news from Europe was getting bettar and better, the Nips
were being pushed back consistently, and we had high hopes the war would not
last too much longer, The Japs apperently didn't share our view though, -for
gn 25 April they supplied us with two young pigs, & boer and & sow, "for
sreeding purposes", It was obviocus that the Jap supply problem was intensify-
ing, and on 17 May our daily ration was reduced to rice 250 grammes, maize
50 grawmes, and tapioca root 300 grammes per man per cay, It was therefore
with the greatest pleassure, equalled only by our surprise, that on 23rd May
we were the recipients of 280 Aed Cross food parcels. They had obviously
been in store for some time, but on opening, although there was some wastage,
most of the contents were in fairly good conditicon, We recovered, in usabls
form — biscuits 180 lbs., Jjam 1208 lbs,, syrup 95 lbs,, meat paste Sﬂi o L
condensed milk 265% lbs., margerine 177 lbs., tomatoes 208 lbs,, bacon 135 lbs.,
cheese 55 1bs,., creamed rice 116% lbs,, meat galatine 222 1bs., meat & vegs.

344 lbs., puddings 180 lbs,, chocolate E?& lbs,, tea d1% 1bs,, sugar 55& 1lbs,,
soap 345 cakes, Total weight was 2,335% 1bs., or 6.5 lbs, per man,

After conferring with the two doctors I decided to make a personal issue on a
skare and share alike basis, to all in camp, of the biscuits, sugar, tee,
chocolate and soap, OFf the balance, 12 tins of condensed milk went direct

to the camp hospital, end all other food waes issued throuch the cocokhouse over
g period of cne month.

During June the official ration issues fell away and it was fortunate
that our camp gardens were by then starting to produce green vegetables, Wa
used nearly 100 1bs, from this source in the week ending 24 June, On that
day I took up with Danny the matter of the continued falling-off in tapioca
supplies and he agreed to refer the question to his local H.Q. As nothing
eventuated I tackled him again on 2 July. He said that tapioca root supplies
had decreased because of falling off in production, He said he would endeavour
with the next issue of rice to include an extra 50 grammes per man per day of
red rice for outside workers, He would mlso endeavour to increase the fish
supply. As we were only getting = an oz, of fish for each man per day at that
stage - 12 lbs, for the whole camp - I didn't think his task was over difficult,
but he wasn't able to get any additional fish, He did, however, manage to get

a little extra rice - 2f3rds of an ounce per man per day! - but it was still
all mapolished,




As we had done in the railway camps, all at "X3" contributed to &
fund for extra messing supplies = the "Camp MWessing Fund®™ or"CMF" - and we
used the proceeds mainly to purchase additional cooking oil, FPrices of
most other goods were beyond our reach as will be seen from the following list
supplied by the Nips on 8 July 1545, Chillies $120 per kilogram ($55 per
pound), Bula Malacca (a type of brown sugar in semi-liquid form) $27 per
kilogrem, Salt $32 per kilogram, Ketchup $13 per pound, Tapioca Root $5.50
per kilogram, face soap 84 per cake, washing soap $20 per bar, cigarettes
$4.50 for 20, Java tobacco $200 per kilogram. The lowly coconut was then
priced at $4,50, Inflaticn was rampant and prices had doubled since mid-
Harch,

Official supplies of &ll types of owr rations further declined
in quantity during July and Auwgust, but on 18 August {we had not then been,
officielly informed of the end of the war) our rice issue rcse drametically
from 260 to 500 grammes per man per day, I kept a most careful record of
all food supplied to us by the I,J.A. end for the whole period of the camp
the dally average in ources per man per day was:

Rice 9,45; maize 1,62; roots 12; greens 4,6; other vegs, 2,5;
fish 1.25; sugar 1.4; =alt .5; pepper .35: curry .14; tea .23;
oil 7: ‘opatmesl 5927 Jem .3; milk .08:; coffes .2

Everyorne in camp was weighed by the Nips on five occasions -
17 April, 412 May, 10 June, 8 July and 7 August, 'he average weight per
FEFSon Wes B st, 13 lbs, -9 st; 3.1 1bs,, T 8¢, 5.2 lba., 98t 3.1 lbs,,
erd 5 st. 1 1k, I wes interested to riote that the falling awsy in ration

supply during July end August resulted in a weight lose of 4,2 1bs, per man.,

It will be seen that there was rever any great superfluity of food
in "X3" camp, but there was one of our boys — a lad from my own Unit — who
was a2lways eating, I'1l call fhim Teddy, From the time the camp opened on
1st April until it closed on 20 August, neither I ror any of the officers was
gllowed out of the camp ares, Ccnsequently we were reliant on the boys who
went out on the working parties for news end the obtaining of any additional
personal supplies, One of my lads - Jim Ling — acted as my egent in these
matters, Une day after the working parties returned Jim came to me and
gaid, "I nearly got a chicken for you today.® "Oh Jim,* I gsaid, "What do
you mean - you nearly got me a chicken.® "#ell® replied Jim, "I was
chasing it end just sbout had it, when it fell intc a latrine, I don't
think you would want it after that, would you,” "No, thanks all the same,

I wouldn®t Jim," said I, end thought no more about it, Howesver, Jim came

Fn see me again the next night and said, “You know that fowl I told you about
iEEE n%gﬁt?" "I remember very well®™ I answered, "Well" Jim continued,

It's in camp,” I was, to zey the least, surprised, and no doubt my reaction
showed it, "Who do you think brought it in?" asked Jim, T said, "I711
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have cne guess - Teddy." "Teddy it was", said Jim, It was my haebit after the
evening meal each night to stroll through the lines and talk witn the men who

had been out on the working parties and as I did so this particular night I

ceme across Teddy still eating, »T believe you brought a fowl into camp Teddy,"
I =aid, "That's right, sir" he answered, "How did you get it past the
guards? I asked, T crutched it," said Teddy. I must digress here to explain
that the Nips had a very strict rule that the men on the working parties must
take nothing out of camp, and bring nothing in, end to ensure that the rule was
observed they searched the men both on leaving and returning to camp, But in
the three years we had been P,0.W, the boys had devised several ways of beating
the search, and one of these was to build a large pocket inte the crutch of the
"G" string which served as underpants, It was to this method that Teddy
referred when he said "I crutched it,"™ Knowing where the fowl had spent the
srevious twentyfour hours I seid "Did you wash it first?" "I'd like to have
done so, sir," he said, "but I didn't have time!™ Teddy survived the: F,O.W.
perind end post-war he studied for the Ministry and became an ordained

Methodist Minister,

As I mentioned earlier, the other major matter apart frem food which
dominated my ccnversations with the Japanese was the subject of outside working
narties, but in these talks our roles were ususlly reversed. When the topic
was food I was a sort of perpetusl DOliver Twist, always asking for more, but
when the discussion was ebout the working parties Denny was usually demanding
more, Eecause of the importance of this subject I always carefully recorded
details in my "X3" War Diary, end where I thought that later reference might
be reguired had Lieut, Dean, my interpreter, check the entries and confirm
their accuracy by signing that particulsr reference, I handed the Oisry in
to H.2. on my return to Changi. It was ultimately returned to me, end in
this section on work partiss I shall be guoting from it verbatim many times,
In them are a couple of references to a Colonel Newey, The senior P.O,W.
Officer at Changi cemp was Lt. Col, Holmes, a British Officer, who was
responsible to the I,J,A, for covmand and discipline of the Allied P,0,W.

He was a good officer who refused to be intimideted by the Japenese and ne
represented the cause of the P,0.W. with vigour and determination. However

an 21 July 1944 the I,J,A, had issued an order that in future they would regard
Lt. Col, Newey, another British officer, as representing the P,0.W, and that
gll communications to and from the Japanese must be through him, Though the
F.0.W. command had perforce to recognise this errangement so far as actual
negotiations with the Japanese were concerned, Col. Newey remained a figure-
head for this purpose only, end the chain of command within the P,O,W.
crganisation was not affected,

By 11 April 42 men had already been admitted to our camp hospital,
30 of them with Malaria, and on that day I was unable to supply the number
of workmen demanded by the Japanese, My diary for that day records:
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1956 pther ranks on outside work. Following intimation from I.J.A. that they
considered the number of sick to be too great (today's figure is 59) I
interviewed Sijt, Ohori. He told me that there were far more sick in this
camp than in any other, and that at Kranji camp 600 men were working out of
650 in camp. He added that Colonel Newey had given instructions that
slightly sick men were to be sent to work as it would make them better,

I informed Sjt. Ohori that Lt. Col. Newsy had nothing to do with the men
under my caommand and that I was directly responsible, through my own
Australisn Commander, to the Australian Bovernment. I added that I must be
guided in matters of sickness of my men by the advice of my senior Medical
Officer, whose ability was undoubted, GS5jt. Ohori said he must have 270 men
daily for outside work. I replied that I could give no guarantee regarding
numbers available, but would inform him after tonight's sick parade of the
number of men who would be fit for work tomorrow, The interview ended with
5jt. Onori reiterating that he reguired 270 men,

(The above-written is a correct record of this morning's interview,
(5gd.) P.V. Dean,
Lieut,=Interpreter,
2/4 W.G. Bn, A,L.F,
11 Apr, 45)"

A later entry in the diary the same day reads:

"2000 hours, A maximum of 265 men will be aveilable for outside work tomorrow,
I.J.A, have accepted these figures,”

My next confrontaticon on this subject was on 15 April. The diary
=ntry reads:

"2030 hours, Availability for tomorrow's working parties advised to I,J,A,.
as 269. 5jt, Ohori informed me that he had just received orders from his
Headquarters that 300 men are reguired for tomorrow. I told him that thessa
could not possibly be supplied, In the ensuing discussion (completely
amicable] S5jt, Ohori said that when he contrelled & working party in Thailand
it coneisted of 500 men commanded by Lt. Col, Newey, S0 permanent duties
were allowed and there were 80 sick, leaving 370 workmen availeble, His
H.Q. (I.J.A.) demanded 420 workmen and Lt. Col, Newey complied by sending out
50 sick men, In explaining that I would never consent to send out sick men,
I pointed out to Sjt. Ohori that the fact that English officers permitted sick
men to work, whereas Australian officers would not do sg, possibly accounted
for the fact that 61% of English P.W, who went north in "F" Force died thers,
as egainst only 29% of Australians who died, Sjt, Ohori replied that he
appreciated the fact and realised, after dealing with P,W, for three years,
that the sick should not be sent out to work, In reiterating that in no
circumstances could I egree to sending sick men to work I informed Sjt, Ohori
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that if at any stage this was insisted upon, 1 should reguire a written order
From the I.J,A. which body would then have to carry the responsibility of
such an action, Sjt. Ohori agreed to vary the order fraom his H,d., by
reducing the perty for tomorraw to 271, and I agreed to find the extra 2 men
from my permanent duties, pointing out, however, that I did this purely as a
gesture in appreciation of the assistance he has rendered us,

(The sbove is a true record,
(Sqd.) P.V. Dean,
Lieut, 2/4 M.G. Bn,
Interpreter )®

Ouer the next week or so the numbers available for outside wark
Fluctuated between 268 and 271. 0On 23 April & young Japanese medical officer
who was spperently responsitle for our camp caid us a visit and urged that a
reduction in sick figures was possible, Our S,W.0, pointed gut that the
figures represented the true position, Next day he paid us two more visits.
He brought some supplies of ralt extract and "7ambuck® for treatment of sick
men, and agein said that a reduction in the number of sick men was expected,
He mlso urged the reduction of period of srestment of melaria cases from 7 deys
to less days, It was pointed out that this would serve no useful purpose and
that provision of adequate praphylactic quinine and sutficient mosguito nets
to equip all personnel would be more effectlve, He departed hitting himself
on his bare shaven head with nis clenched ¥ist, However on 28 April we did
receive 14 mosguito nets, each covering 5 to 8 men, and on 2 May 3 montk's
supply of prophylactic quinire of 5 greins dally wes delivered,

Tt will be remembered that in the early stages of the camp the
gutside work parties were engaged on road mekirg, Towsrds the end of April
this changed to digging tunnels in the hilly central portion of the Islanc as
the Mips orepared for an expected Allied invasion, On 3 May two of our work
parties reported that they hed had a bad day - they red been driven hard by
the Nip corporal in charge, had not been permitted to have wamokns" , and had
been worked an hour beyond the usual finishing time, I therefore represented
these matters to Sjt. Ohori, end protested against the fact also reported to
me by my men that the work was bkeing dene in such & way that falls of earth
were accurring almost daily and endangering men's lives. Darny said he would
zend out one of kis own men the next day with each of the two parties concerned,
and would protest to his H,@. regarding earth falls end late wark, The result
of his representations was not whet I had hoped, for next day he informed me
that hours for work had been extended to 1900 hours (from 1730 hours) end sald
extra rations would be provided to compensate, However they newver aventuated.
I egain protested against the dangercus nature of the work being cone by my men,
gs more earth falls haed occurred, Sjt. Ohori reglied that Jepanese soldiers
wers working under the seme conditions end he thought there was no uncue danger,
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I told him I wished to inspect the conditions under which my men were working,
and asked him to arrange for me to do so. In reply he said that this could
not be permitted.

The next day Capt, Matsuda wvisited the camp and I tackled him an
the subject. Wy diary entry reads:

"orking hours and conditions. I pointed out (to Cept. Matsuda) that longer
hours would inevitably react to the detriment of the men's health, and enguired
whether it wes essential that they should be extended, He replied that it
was essential, and I informed him that I could not regard the position with
equanimity and that additional ration supplies would be wvitally important,

He stated that these had been applied for at H,B. On my directing his
attention to the falls of earth occurring on the jobs on which the men were
working he asked if I could send two experienced miners with each working .
party, I replied in the affirmative but pointed out that this would be of

Ao avail unless the I.J.A,. soldiers on the job made use of the expert knowledge
of these men, and at the same time I indicated that the I.J.A. should bear
responsibility for any accidenta which might cccour.

(The foregoing is a true summary.
(Sgd.) P.V. Dean,
Lisut, 2/2 M.B. Bn, = Interpreter)"

The crunch came four days later, on 9§ May, Again I guote from
my diary:

"1415 hours, 8jt. Ohori and an I.d.A. doctor arrived at camp with the dead
body of WXES?7 Sigmn, Wilson K,G, who had been suffocated in e fall of earth
on No. 5 party's Jjob, together with NX25757, Pte, Collings L.W. who had been
injured in the seme fell in which an I.J.A, officer alsc sustained injuries.
Capt. Matsuda also arrived but left agein almost immediately. and before I had
the oppertunity of spesking with him, After examination by owr medicos
Pte. Collings was evacuated to Kranji hospital,

1 then interviewed £jt. Ohori regarding the accident, pointing cut
that I had warned {in an interview with Capt, Matsuds on 5 May '&5] that the
working conditions were dangerous and precautions egainst accident should be
taken; now, in view of developments, I could not let my men continue to go to
work unless adequate precautions wers taken immediately, to ensure their safety,

Sjt. Ohori replied that I.J.A, officers and soldiers were working in
the same conditions and that sccidents such as the present one were just

unfortunate, that I must remember we were Prisoners—of-War and thet there was
still a war on,



T then told him that P.W, should not be doing this type of work,
He replied that he was aware of this but the circumstances of this war were
peculiar and that International Law was not being observed by any of the
countries at war, guoting in support that tne Americans had recently sunk a
ship which was returning to Japan after delivering Red Cross supplies to
Sinoepore, and which was sailing under a guerantee of =afe passage,

I replied that this did not alter the position =o far as I was
affected, that my only concern was the safety of my men, and unless I recelved
assurances thet the working conditions were to be made quite safe I would not
permit them to go to work tomorrow,

He then said that if I took this action he would have me executed,
T told him this did not alter my decisicn,"

Sjt. Ohori locked directly at me, -and I returned his gaze, fair and
square, Suddenly I knew that this was one of the most fateful moments of
my- 1ife, That Danny would have me executed if he deemed it necessary I did
not doubt, for numbers of P,0,W. had already been so dealt with, I realised
that the staring metch I had had with Sjt, Sano at Adam Park, and others I had
had when up on the railway job, paled intc insignificance when compared with
the outcame of this confrontation with Danny, My heart started to pumo at.s
an alarming rate, and as I was wearing only a pair of shorts I felt sure that
Danny must see the commotion in my chest, even if he couldn't near the pounding
in my ears, It was imperative that he discern ro sign of weakness, so 1
crossed my arms across my bare breast, hoping so to hide eny sign of unusual
cardiac activity, and continued to stare at him, Agein, how long did this
contest last? A half a minute, & minute, two minutes? I menaged to maintein
an unblinking stare, and Penrod Dean, my interpreter, stood frozen, not moving
a muscle, Suddenly Danny dropped nis eyes, and I breathed a goundless, but
heartfelt, sigh of relief, The diery entry goes on:

“Sjt, Chori then said that if I persisted in this attitude I would be handed
over to the I,J,A, Military Police and he (Sjt. Ohori) would send the men out

to work in any case. I informed him that he would have to do so, as 1

could not willingly consent to my men cantinuing to work in exlsting conditions,
Mg then suggested that he would arrange an interview with Capt, Matsuda for me
on Friday, May 11, so that I could lay my case before him, provided I would
allow the men to work tomorrow, As I consider it essential that I gain access
to higher Authority than Sjit. Ohori I said that I would agree, under protest,

Lo the men working tomorrow provided he arranged the interview with Capt.
Matsuda,

[The above is a true summary of the conversation at the interview referred to
therein,

(sgd,) Penrod V, Dean,
Lieut, 2/4 M.G, Bn. - Interpreter)”
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Again I quote verbatim from my diary. The entry for 10 May 1945

readsi—

150 other ranks on outside work,
0S20 hours. Funeral of WXE877 Sigmn, Wilson K.G. buried in grave No. 28 in
A.I.F. cemetery at Kranji hospitel.

1330 houra, Eummoned to I.J.A. office = found there s Lieutenant of the
I.J.A. working group carrying out the job upon which my men are engaged,
He expressed his regret at what he termed "the unfortunate accident which
occurred yesterday"and said he hoped I would reconsider my decision of
yvesterday and allow the men to go out to work, es before, in future,

I thanked him for his condolences but pointed out that the question
of sending the men out to work was bound up with the safaty of the working
conditions,

He replied that I.J.A. officers and men were working with the P.W.
gnd that, in fact, an I.J,A. officer had been dargerously hurt in yesterday's
gccident, end that the I,J.A. would automaticelly teke &ll possible pre-
cautions to protect their men, and thereby, our men; he continued that at
the present time there was no absolutely safe work upon which P.W, could
oe emploved,

I then suggested that there-were aveilable at Changl Engineer-
offlcers who could materially assist in the campletion of the work and the
provigicn of safety measures, and asked that some be brought out for the
purpoga,

He replied that this was not possible but reiterated that all safety
precautions would be taken and said ke considered yesterday's accident to be
gn unfortunate one caused by the rain.

I then told him that the accident had caused me great concern as the
responsibility for the welfare of the men rested in my hands, He said that
he understood this and the positicn was the same in their army, therefore
the officers would take the necessary precautions to protect the men,

I replied that, in view of their undertsking to employ all possible
precautions I would permit the men to continue to work,

The I,d4,A, Lieutenant then stated that had I not been prepared to do
s0 it would have resulted in serious trouble for myself and the camp. He
also said that the injury to the I,J,A, officer had caused his H,Q, great
trouble and he reiterated that all possible precautions would be taken,
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I then formally agreed that, subject o no further accidents occurring,
I would continue to send the men out to work,

The Lieutenant then stated that the work of the men on the job today
had been affected by yesterday's accident and reguested that I inform them
all that yesterday's was an unfortunate accident and that precauticns would
ke teken,

I promised to inform the men,

(The foregoing is a true record of the interview,
(Sgd.) Penrod V, Dean
Lieut, 2/4 M,G. Bn. - Interpreter)®

The nmext day, 11 May, rsturning work parties reported a good day, and
although a small fall of earth accurred in gne of the pits on 15 May, our Sjt.
in charge said that the position was guite 0.K. Thenceforth we had no furiher
trouble of . this nature,

On 15 end 16 May Capt. Watsuda visited tne camp and had very lengthy
conversations with 5it, Chori, Although, of course, we were not given any
indication of the subject under discussion, we had learned through our contact
with Kranji camp of the surrender of Germany, and it didn't need much imagirnation
on our part to guess what it wss all about, It is of interest to recsll that
we received our issue of Ped Cross parcels sbout & week later, on 23rd May.

On 2 June Capt. Matsuda again wvisited the cemp and told me that we would be
getting another forty other ranks from Changi and that it would be necessary To
erect additional accammodation for them, We built a new hut for the extra
forty men expected, but when the party arrived cn 18 Jure it canslsted of only
twenty men,

Following the arrival of the new men Sjt, Ohori told me on 20 June
that his H.Q, had demanded 2320 workmen each day, but that he had had the
number reduced to 2300, I told him we might just be able to make this total.
In actual fact we could enly muster 256 workers the next day, and we were
struggling in the following days to make the 300. On 28 June Danny sugogested
that three of the cocks be sent out to work and that convalescent sick should
be used in thelr place, I pointed out that this was impracticable and he
agreed not to press the matter provided the working party was maintained at
200. On 4 July Danny again tried to use the eonvalescing sick men, instructing
that they be used for grass cutting. I objected, telling him that the work
would impeir recovery of heslth, He replied thet those who were fit enough
to peel wvegetables were fit enough to cut grass, I pointed out the vast
difference between sitting down cutting up veges, and stending up slashirg
grass, and said that rather than have the sick men forced to do such work it




would be done by the officers. Sjt., Ohori replied that officers were only
a hindrance or obstacle to him (he had expressed these sentiments previously
also) but he did not insist on the sick men cutting the grass. This was
done by the officers,

On 11 July all personnel were confined to camp and no warking
parties were-required, It appeared that the Japs were conducting & military
exercise, Three-deys leter I made representetiens to Danny on several matters.
The fellowing is & verbatim extract from.my diary:

"1st July 1945, 2597 other ranks on outside work, Interviewed Sjt, Ohori ref:-

(1) Decrease in availability of workmen

1 pointed out that I had -done my best-to keep up numbers, keep the camp
clean and hyglenic, speedily restere the sick to health, and to assist
myself in the general werk in the camp,. but despite my efforts it was.
becoming incressingly difficult to provide the number of: workmen asked
for, owing to increasing sick figures. Today the situation had arisen
where I was unable to supply an additional man reguested by I.J.A.

far camp work. 5jt, Ohori asked the reason for the increase in sick
figures, I gave four points:-

a) recent fall in ration issues {100 grammes per man per day in June)

b} long working hours

c) inability to allow men normal periocds of convalescence

d) shortage of drugs and dressings.

He answered that conditions at this camp were at least as good and
probably better than at others, and that sickness was not on the increase
in the other camps, He could not understand, therefore, why our sick-
ness was on the increase, The situation, he said, would receive his
further attention if at any time we were unable to supply 297 workmen,

(2) Use of Red Cross perscnnel for digging slit trenches for I,J,A,

I pointed out that Red Cross personnel should rnot be employed on this
type of work (they have been so engaged yesterday and today, the nature
of the work not having been known to me yesterday when I supplied three
mediceal other ranks for "work in camp™, having no others auailﬂbls.]
§jt. Ohori replied that there were ten medical 0O.R.%s in camp - of these
four were sufficient to look after the sick, three were ample for camp
hygiene, and that he could use the other thres ms he saw fit. He saw
no grewnds for my protest,

(3) Dancerous situation of camp in event of hostilities

I;;?ined out that it eppeared, from preparations being made in the
vicinity, that there was a possibility of hostilities in this area, and
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should this happen, the men under my command would be dangerously
situasted, I then asked that consideration be given to moving the

troops to a safer area. Sjt. Ohori replied that the camp was in & safe
area, In any case, he said, he could not understand why I was approach-
ing him in the matter as I lost all my responsibility when I becate a P.W.
and the I,J,A, who had sent the men to this camp assumed full responsibility
for the action, Similarly it was the responsibility of the I.J.A. to
move the men if the necessity arose, The matter, he said, was nothing
whatever to do with me as I was in the camp cnly to carry out orders
transmitted to me, through Sjt. Ohori, from Colonel Banna, I replied
that I must endeaveur to protect the interests of my men, He reiterated
that the responsibility was not mine,-but as the interview closed he said
'T will speak to somegne higher for you,' :

(The foregoing is a true summary of the interview referred to therein.
(sgd) P.V. Dean
Lieut. 2/& M.G, Bn. Interpreter)®

The next day I was summaned to an interview with Capt. Matsude,
I.J.A. Commander of "X3" camp, The diary entry reads:

"He took up with me my recent representations to §jt. Ohori regarding the
reduction in rations and the matters mentioned by me yesterday. He said
that a reduction of 100 gremmes per mer per day was not very great and
reiterated, with regard to all the points ef yesterday, everything that 3jt.
Chori hed said, He stressed the-faet-that the I,J,A, assumed full respon-
sibility for dealings with P.W. and that I had no responsibkillty but to
comply with instructions passed on by Sjt. Ohori, I replied that though I
had no responsibility to the I,J,A. except es outlined by him I still had my
responsibility to the Australian Gevernment, . This brought an emphatic
statement- to the eontrary frem Sjt, Cheri, and the interview again ended on
this note,

(4 true record.

{Sgd} P DEaﬂ,
Lisut, 2/4 M,G, Bn, Interpreter)"

Though most of my differences of opinion were with 5jt, Ohori,
I did have arguments on occasions with the guard commanders. One of these
is worth recording., On this occcasion the commander of the guard was a Korean
named Yamomoto, It will be remembered that there was a Jap ammunition dump
adjacent to our camp, and on this particular day a party of our lads from
Changi camp arrived with several truck loeds of artillery shells which thay
proceeded to unload, Naturally those of our boys still in camp engaged them
immedietely in conversation, completely disregarding the Jap order that we must
in no circumstances communicate with anyone from outside our camp, Yamaomato
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charged among our boys buffeting and whacking them in an attempt to stop the
intercourse, but though he broke up one conversation at a time, many others
continued, and those he broke up resumed as soon as his back was turned,

It didn't take long for his temper to flare, and he sent for me, Through
Penrod Oean, my interpreter,-te told me he wented all men in camp who had
talked to the unloeding party to be paraded in front of the guard-house,

I went down to the men's lines, told them what had happened, and asked for
six volunteers to front up to Yamomoto, promising at the same time that I
would do my best to .see-thet-mething happerned to them, In no time I had
my six velunteers amd I marehed them te the Nip guard-house adjacent to the
camp entrance, Y

Through- Penrod Dean I told Yamemoto that these men had spoken to
members of the ammunitien perty, -and freely admitted that they had done so,
At the same time I endeavoured- te eonvey to Yemomoto by my attitude, that I
didn't aspprove what he was.deing, . Apparently this was not lost on Yamomoto,
for he said semething- te Lieut. Deamn, who passed it on to ne, "He wants to
know'" he seid, -"why is Gapt. Stahl leskimg so angry?  Falling back on my
by now, -falrly extensive experience of arguing with Nips I said, "Tell
Yamomote that-if -he wants to- talk-with me, he must look at me," Yamomoto
. did net accept the invitatien, but sterted to rant at the six men, in Japanese
of course. Sudderly he stopped,-ard although he had his back turned to me
he spoke again te Lieut, Dean,-who tramslated for me - "He wants to know why
Capt. Stahl is looking-so angry.™ Agein I said to Penrod Dean, "Tell him
that if he wants to speds-to me he must look at me," My interpreter relayed
my comment to Yemomoto, but agaim he failed to sccept the invitation and
resumed his verbal lambasting of the six -men, After a while he again turned
to Lieut, Dean and said, once mere without locking at me, "Why is Capt. Stahl
locking so angry?™ Fer- the-third -time I said to Penrod, "Tell him if he
wents to speak to me,-he must look- et me." Lieut, Dean duly translated,
There was a moment's hesitation, then Yamemoto said, "0.K. dismiss the men"
and, still without losking =t-me,.went-into the guard-house, My six boys
dispersed, sound im-wind and limb,-end Penrod Dean and I returned to our
quarters, but next morning-there-was-a.most unexpected sequel. I had seen
the various werk parties off on the job, and returned to my hut, Almost out
of nowhere Yemometo eppeared, having just been relieved from guard duty,
Glencing stealthily around to make sure he was not observed he dropped a parcel
in front of me, and without-a word, wvanished, The parcel contained a new hand
towel, a ceke of soap, a toothbrush and sore tooth powder. A peace-offering
indeed and as I said when reteiling-my- experiences at Adam Park, I was never
one to look & gift horse-dis the mouth — not in those conditions gt any rate,

Although Yemomoto had struck quite a number of our men in the
incident I have just described, I'm happy te say that thls was an exception
to the general rule at "“X3" camp, In the first week in the camp, following
an episode in which Lieut, Dean had been struck by a Japanese guard, I protested
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strongly to Sjt. Ohori, He instructed his guard that officers must not

be struck, and I obtained from him an understanding that if any of the men
were detected in breaches of Japanese orders no physical punishment would

be inflicted on them, but they would be required to carry out extra dutiss,
Danny must also have discussed this arrangement with Capt. Matsuda for aon

17 July I was summoned to him at 1700 hours, He told me that one of owr
Serjeants had been caught stealing meat at the local I.J.A. headguarters,

He said the Sjt. would be returned to camp, where, as punishment, he was to
do one hour's woodchopping and clean the latrines, each day for 30 days.
Capt. Matsuda went on to deliver a diatribe to me on the shortcomings of
Australians working at his H,@, intimating that quite an amount of stealing
had been going on, and added that offenders would be severely dealt with by
the T.J.A, in future, He mentioned that & supply of candles had been stolen
some weeks previously, and-eltheugh no ection had been taken on that cccasion
he repeated that all future offenders would be severely punished., He s
ordered that I pass this message on to the men,

Next marning at the work parade I informed the men of what Capt.
Matsude had said, and emphasised that, although 1 was by no means suggesting
that the Japs were-na longer fair game from our point of view, they could
no longer rely on escaping physical punishment if they were caught.
Unfortunately on 30 July two of the-lads were detected by the guards smuggling
goods into camp. One had scme cigars and the other some rice, (They were
unlucky - nearly everybody smuggled goeds into camp at some time or other
without being ceught.) The first I heard of the occcurrence was wnen 1 was
told that Sjt., Ohori hed beaten up the lad who had the cigars, Danny sent
For me and told me that he had investigated the story told by the lad wno
brought in the rice - that it had been given to him by a Chinesa — and was
inclined toc disbelieve it. He esked me what the men did these things for
when they had been continually warned not to do so. I replied that it was
useless asking me what happened on working parties when he would not let
officers go with them to supervise, I again requested that instead of
beating men who did wrong he punisned them by allotting periods of extra work,
which, I said, I thought was more effective, He was non—commital, He
stated that he intended to continue questioning the soldier who brougnt In
the rice until he arrived at the-truth. When the work parties returned that
evening Danny further guesticned the lad who had brought in the cigars and
then dismissed him without further punishment, He then continued a thorough
investigation regarding the -circumstances in which the other lad obtained his
rice, Finally, after long discussion he accepted my opinion that the lad
was telling the truth, and dismissed him, Either by good luck or by good
smuggling no-one else was detected in wrongdoing over the balance of our time
in the camg,

About this time - the end of July - we began to get some rather
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disturbing hints from some of the guards. Yamomoto, who had a few words of
English, said to me, "Our orders say, your soldiers come Singapore, bang bang
bang, we shogot all prisoners," My informants on the working parties brought
back similar information, end our contacts with Kranji camp confirmed the
advice, It did appear, from the preparations they were making, that the Nips
were anticipating an invasion, and I decided that we should make preparations
for such an eventuality, There were at that time seven officers and 371 other
ranks in the cemp, including 37 men in hospital, and in consultation with the
ather officers I split the men into seven parties, each commanded by an officer
and each responsible for five or six sick men, Dur plan was simple. It
provided that if I considered the eircumstances justified it, we would break
out of camp, hopefully with limited casualties, the seven parties would each
go their own way, hoping to take to the watercourses in the west of the Island
and endeavour to make contact with friendly forces, For security reasons we
decided not to acquaint the men with our plans until further developments
rendered such action necessary, Fortunately the atom bomb dropped on
Hiroshima and Nagasaki saved the situation for us, for after the Japanese had
capitulated it was feund that orders to liquidate all P,0.W, in the event of
an Allied invasipcn of Singapore had, in fact, been issued, and the invasion
had been planned for early September — just three weeks after the Nips
surrendsred,

Within 24 hours of the first atom bomb dropping on Hiroshima we
knew of the happening through our contacts with Kranji camp, The camp was
buzzing with the news, Twenty thousand tons of T,N,T, equivalent in one
bomb! A whole city flattened! It was incredible, It seemed to me that
the war must end soon, and I very much wished to have an Australian flag to
fly when that occasion cama, I called on my friend Jim Ling for assistance,
and he was not found wanting, Within 48 hours he had obtained for me from
the Japs (without their knowledge or permission) some blue material, canvas
binding, and a length of rope. One of the English lads in camp donated an
18" x 9" Union Jack which he had hidden through many Jap searches, and with
white handkerchiefs from FRed Cross supplies for the stars we had all the
necessary materials, Fortunately the Japs had supplied us on 1st August
with a sewing machine to repair what little remained of our clothing, and
in Sjt, Smith of the Royal Australian Ordinance Corps we had a first-class
tailor, Using a tiny replica of the Australian Blue Ensign in the A,I.F,
soldiers hand-book as a guide he produced a 3 foot by 18 inch flag correct
in every detail, That =same day the seeond atom bomb fell on Nagasaki, and
I felt the flag would soon be flying free.

I return to my official diary entries to summarise the events from
16 to 19 August, 1945:
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*i6 AEE- a5 293 pther ranks on outside work - 2 gn camp work,

17 _Aug. 45 550 other ranks on outside work — 2 on camp work, Hork
perties return to camp from 1430 hours onwards,

18 . 45 No outside work today - no reasson given. (But we are
pretty good guessers!)
Bice retion increased to 500 grammes per man peEr day.

19 Aug. 45 No official advice of what we all know unofficially, but,
1100 hours, combined non-denominational Thanksgiving
service,

2100 hours, Informed by Sjt. Ohori that the war is
Finished and that the camp is to move to Kranji at 0500
hours tomorrow,"

After Danny gave me the official news I attached the fleg to &

Malacca cane walking stick which I had carried all througn my P.0.W, days,
and at daybresk on 20 August I fixed it to the gable of the hut in which I
lived, There it fluttered free in the breeze until we evacuated the camp -
not at 0500 hours as Danny had said, but at 1200 hours. Though Danny could
not avoid seeing the fleg, ne gave absolutely no sign that he hed done so,
and during the trip by truck from Bukit Panjang to Kranji it gave me a great
deal of pleasure to fly the flag, unfurled, from the end of my walking stick,
as I did agein next day during our Journey from Kranji to Changi,

The last entry in my war diary reads:

v21 Aug, 45 Warned at 1200 hours that party is to move egain at 1800
hours tonight,

20320 hours. Moved in convay of 12 vehicles to Changi camp,
l=st vehicle arriving 2400 hours, ‘Total perscnrel moved to
Changi - 7 officers 362 other ranks, Left at Kranji as
patients - 11 other ranks,

Personnel handed over on arrivel at Changi to camp staf
and "X3" organisation wound up,”




There were a few days of uncertainty after we returned to Changi
as there were some indications that the local I.J.A. General in charge might
not continue to observe the general order to surrender, Then one day some
British officers dropped in on us - literally, They parachuted in as the
advanced guard of the relieving Allied troops, and they immediately assumed
control of the Japanese, They gave their orders to the Nips, in a way which
showed they expected them to be carried out immediately, end they were,
They were guickly followed by other troops and we were sgon enjoying with
quiet satisfaction the spectacle of Jap P.O.W. pulling trailer loads of
supplies for us,

For the purpose of enabling us all to hear the description of the
official surrender ceremony in Tokyo Bay a public address system was erected,
and the Union Jack was to be broken from the flagpole on the gaol, I received
a summons from “Black Jack" Galleghan, our A,I.F, P,W, commander, He was a
very direct man and when I reported to him he said, "I believe you have an
Australien flag, Stahl,® "Yes, sir" I said, "I want it" said B,J.

"Sorry, sir" said I, "it's my personal property, you can't have it,"
Fortunately being a direct man himself, he appreciated a direct reply.

"I don't want to keep it, you bloody fool," he said, "I want you to reise it
on the A.I.F, Headquarters flagpole to mark the surrender, You can have it
back as soon as our own forces bring one in," "That's different, sir" I
said, "I'll go and get it," And so my flag was not only the first Allied
flag to fly on Singapore Island after the Jap surrender - at Bukit Penjang
on 20 August - but it also flew for some days at A.I.F. H.Q, at Changi when
the Japanese surrender became official, It's now in the Austraelian War
Memorial at Canberra,

A day or two later all Japanese and Koreans who had acted as guards
or officials at P.0,W, camps on the Burma railway or on Singapore Island were
assembled and those of us who had had active contact with them were reguired
to identify those whom we considered should be charged with inflicting
atrocities upon the P.O,W, We were also permitted to point out those who had
been reasonable and faeir in their treatment of P.O.W. There were quite a
few in the first category, in which I nominated the infamous Toyama, and soms,
though not a great number, in the latter classification, Despite his threat
to behead me I was happy to nominate Danny Ohori as a reasoneble and responsible
soldier, for I felt that on most occasions he had done his best to meet my
many requests,

It was during this parade of our ex-captors that the Lieut, Colonel
who had ordered the issue of double rations for himself at Shimo Sonkrai
railway camp further distinguished himself, Subsequent to our departure
for Tanbaya this particular Lieut, Colonel had been ordered by Toyama in one
of his megalomaniacal moments, to kneel to him, To the disgust of everyone
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in the camp the Lieut. Colonel had done so, After the event he made it clear
that he would “get" Toyama if ever he had the opportunity, Fe saw the parede
of the Japanese as this opportunity and, guarded by two hefty British military
police to ensure no retaliation, he tock Toyama away and beat him up mercilessly,

I obtained my satisfaction for the maltreatment and insults which had
come my way, in a somewhat different fashion, It may be remembered that the
Japanese were guartered in houses running along either side of Half-maocn
Street, on the northern boundary of the geol. I had by now received a new
shirt and shorts, socks and boots, and the three stars indicating my rank
were back on each shoulder, With my hat on the correct angle and carrying
my precious walking stick, I set off by myself from the western end of Helf-
raon Street and walked down the centre of the roed, which was about a querter
of a mile long, There were Nips sverywhere, and as I made my slow progress
each and everyone of them saluted me, and I meticulously returned each .
ealutation, In view of the displeasure and annoyances I had suffered when
I had been forced to salute every lousy little Nip during the previous three
and a half years, it will be appreciated that I really felt at the end of
that walk that my P.D.W. days were finally benind me,




Dear Peter,
Here it is, with compliments.

The hard-cover book is for you to use as you see fit. Ifit is
necessary to unbind it, that is perfectly acceptable.

We do not expect any of the contents herein returned,
however, given my failure to get good copies of the
wartime material, I’d appreciate the scanned versions when
you have time. I can then print copies for my motherto
retain.

Best regards
S
Fred Stahl
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